AGREEMENT

between the

CHELMSFORD SCHOOL COMMITTEE

and the

CHELMSFORD FEDERATION OF TEACHERS

LOCAL 3569, AMERICAN FEDERATION OF TEACHERS MASSACHUSETTS, AFL-CIO

TEACHERS/NURSES UNIT

JULY 1, 2013- JUNE 30, 2016

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREAMBLE.	4
ARTICLE I	RECOGNITION
ARTICLE 2	DURATION11
ARTICLE 3	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE
ARTICLE 4	SALARIES154-02 Longevity154-12 Early Retirement Incentive194-13 50% Waiver of Tuition for Children20
ARTICLE 5	WORKDAY, YEAR, LOAD21
ARTICLE 6	SCHOOL CALENDAR
ARTICLE 7	SPECIALISTS AND SPECIAL PROGRAMS
ARTICLE 8	NON-TEACHING DUTIES
ARTICLE 9	EMPLOYMENT
ARTICLE 10	TRANSFERS
ARTICLE 11	ASSIGNMENTS
ARTICLE 12	UNIVERSAL PRECAUTIONS/HEALTH ISSUES40
ARTICLE 13	EMPLOYEE OBSERVATION, EVALUATION AND
ARTICLE 14	EMPLOYEE FACILITIES
ARTICLE 15	USE OF SCHOOL FACILITIES
ARTICLE 16	SICK LEAVE
ARTICLE 17	PERSONAL LEAVE47
ARTICLE 18	BEREAVEMENT LEAVE
ARTICLE 19	EXTENDED LEAVE OF ABSENCE
ARTICLE 20	SABBATICAL LEAVE
ARTICLE 21	LEAVE FOR LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
ARTICLE 22	LEAVE FOR RESERVE DUTY
ARTICLE 23	SUBSTITUTES
ARTICLE 24	PROTECTION
ARTICLE 25	WORKERS COMPENSATION
ARTICLE 26	INSURANCE AND ANNUITY

ARTICLE 27	NO STRIKE	2	
ARTICLE 28	PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT	52	
ARTICLE 29	DUES DEDUCTION	7	
ARTICLE 30	DETENTION DUTY	8	
ARTICLE 31	DOUBLE SESSIONS	8	
ARTICLE 32	PUPIL MATERIALS	;9	
ARTICLE 33	EFFECTS OF AGREEMENT	9	
ARTICLE 34	GENERAL	0	
ARTICLE 35	JOB SHARING	3	
SIGNATURES			
GRIEVANCE FORM			
APPENDIX A	- SALARY SCHEDULE	8	
APPENDIX B	- DEPARTMENT HEAD AND MISCELLANEOUS RATES	9	
APPENDIX C	- ATHLETIC SALARY SCHEDULE	0	
APPENDIX D	- INTRAMURAL SPORT SALARY SCHEDULE	3	
APPENDIX E	- STIPENDS	4	
APPENDIX F	- PROGRAMS RECOGNIZED BY THE CHELMSFORD PUB. SCHS8	8	
APPENDIX G	- TEACHER & CASELOAD EDUCATOR EVALUATION SYSTEM		

THIS AGREEMENT is effective July 1, 2013, by and between the CHELMSFORD SCHOOL COMMITTEE (hereinafter referred to as the Committee) and the CHELMSFORD FEDERATION OF TEACHERS, Local No. 3569, an affiliate of the American Federation of Teachers, Massachusetts, AFL-CIO (hereinafter referred to as the Union).

PREAMBLE

The School Committee of Chelmsford and the Chelmsford Federation of Teachers recognize that their prime purpose is the development and operation of educational programs of the highest quality for the benefit of the students and the community of Chelmsford. In order to fulfill this prime purpose, relationships must be established on the basis of the parties' responsibilities to each other and on the concept of education as a public trust and as a professional calling.

Therefore, the parties agree as follows:

ARTICLE 1 RECOGNITION

- 1-01. The Committee recognizes the Union as the sole collective bargaining representative for the following employees of the Chelmsford School Committee for the purpose of bargaining with respect to wages, hours, and other conditions of employment:
 - a. All employees including art, music, reading, physical education, health, English Language Learners (ELL), learning disabilities, library aides, guidance counselors, school librarians, speech therapists, team and unit leaders, department heads, school psychologists, physical therapists, occupational therapists, assistant occupational therapists, tech assistants, supervisors of students, and ELL assistants;
 - b. All employees, including registered employees, and licensed and practical employees;
 - c. All employees within federally funded programs;
 - d. All coaches for salaries only.

Excluded specifically, however, are substitute employees, and all other employees of the Chelmsford School System.

1-02. The term "Union" as used in this Agreement means the Chelmsford Federation of Teachers, Local 3569, AFT MA, AFL-CIO.

The term "Committee" as used in this Agreement means the Chelmsford School Committee and the school administrative organization.

The term "employee" as used in this Agreement means a person employed by the Committee in this bargaining unit as described in Article 1-01.

- 1-03. It is recognized that the Committee, the Superintendent, and the building principals have, and will continue to retain, whether exercised or not, the sole rights and responsibility to direct the operation of the public schools of Chelmsford in all its aspects, consistent with the provisions of the Education Reform Act of 1993. The rights of the Principal include the right to hire employees in his or her building, subject to the approval of the Superintendent. These rights and responsibilities shall not be exercised in a manner inconsistent with, or in violation of, any of the specific terms and provisions of this agreement. No action taken by the Committee with respect to such rights and responsibilities, other than as there are specific provisions herein elsewhere contained, shall be subject to the grievance and arbitration provisions of the Agreement.
- 1-04. No employee with professional teacher status ("PTS") will be discharged, disciplined, reprimanded, or reduced in rank or compensation without just cause; just cause including, but not limited to, inefficiency, incapacity, conduct unbecoming an employee, or insubordination. A non-PTS employee, after ninety (90) calendar days of continuous employment and during his contract year, shall not be discharged except in accordance with MGL Ch. 71, Section 42, and shall not be disciplined, reprimanded, or reduced in rank or compensation without just cause.

-5-

1-05. (a) The provisions of paragraph 1-04 are not intended to restrict the Superintendent's sole right to determine, to appoint or not to appoint to a term, a non-PTS employee; and such appointment, renewal or reappointment, or appointment to PTS, of a non - PTS employee, will not be subject to the grievance and arbitration provision of this Agreement.

(b) In recognition of the fact that occupational and physical therapists, as well as licensed practical nurses, library aides, tech assistants, assistant occupational therapists, supervisors of students and ELL assistants, are not eligible to obtain professional teachers status under Mass. Gen. L. ch. 71, the parties hereby agree as follows with respect to the bargaining *unit* members who are employed as licensed practical nurses, library aides, tech assistants, assistant occupational therapists, supervisors of students and ELL assistants:

- 1. During their first three (3) consecutive years of service, licensed practical nurses, library aides, tech assistants, assistant occupational therapists, supervisors of students and ELL assistants will be subject to annual renewal or non-renewal of their contracts on the same basis as teachers. Once a licensed practical nurse, library aide, tech assistant, assistant occupational therapist, supervisor of students or ELL assistant has served for three (3) consecutive school years and has been rehired for a fourth (4th) school year, he/she will be regarded as a permanent employee who is no longer subject to annual appointment provided that he/she was properly licensed and, if applicable, certified for that entire three (3) year period, and shall enjoy the same contractual rights as teachers with PTS.
- 2. Licensed practical nurses, library aides, tech assistants, assistant occupational therapists, supervisors of students and ELL assistants with up to three (3) years of service in the Chelmsford Public Schools shall be evaluated on at least an annual basis and those licensed practical nurses, library aides, tech assistants, assistant

-6-

occupational therapists, supervisors of students and ELL assistants with more than three (3) years of experience in the Chelmsford Public Schools shall be evaluated once every two (2) years. Said evaluations shall be conducted on the same schedule as all other members of the bargaining unit with the same level of experience in the Chelmsford Public Schools.

- 1-06. <u>Reduction in Force</u>: Decline in student enrollments, and/or economic cause, may necessitate a reduction in the number of positions occupied by employees in the bargaining unit. After the School Committee has decided to reduce a number of such positions for the reasons set forth in this paragraph, it shall, consistent with applicable laws, determine the order in which employee(s) shall be released in the following manner:
 - a. A PTS employee shall not be released before a non-PTS employee if there is a position available which the PTS employee is qualified to fill. Termination of non-PTS employees is solely at the discretion of the Superintendent and not otherwise subject to the provisions of this paragraph, and is not subject to grievance and arbitration.

b. For a PTS employee to be released for the reasons set forth in this paragraph, the school system must have reduced a position(s) within the following categories.

- 1. elementary
- 2. within a department at the secondary level
- 3. within an area of specialization

and the employee(s) must occupy a position in such category in which the reductions are to occur. The Superintendent will retain the employee(s) in a category with a greater length of service as defined in paragraph 1-06(c) below, unless an employee(s), within such category, with a shorter length of service has demonstrably unique skills.

c. The Superintendent shall provide the Union with seniority lists, which shall be kept current. Seniority is defined as length of service in the bargaining unit from date of initial appointment. For employees within federally funded programs, seniority begins July I, 1986 or thereafter, on date of hire. Employees hired new on the same day shall appear on the seniority list, alphabetically by last name, then first name. An employee's seniority shall not include periods of unpaid leave pursuant to Section 19-10b or time when not within the bargaining unit.

d. When the Superintendent has determined to retain a less senior employee as described above, and has not transferred or reassigned the more senior employee to another position or vacancy for which the employee is certified, and not demonstrably unqualified, the Superintendent shall notify the affected employee and the Union in writing.

In the event of budget cuts requiring the elimination of a Department Coordinator position (represented in the Chelmsford Administrators Association contract) a Department Coordinator will only have the right to be considered for transfer to a bargaining unit position if the vacancy is the result of a retirement, resignation, or the creation of a new position. For the transfer process, a Department Coordinator's seniority shall include only the length of service in this bargaining unit, if any.

e. In the event an employee is released pursuant to this section, the school system, shall at the request of the employee(s) provide positive recommendations clearly indicating that the release in accordance with this section did not reflect unfavorably on the employee's performance in the school system.

f. Nothing herein, however, shall be construed to affect the power of the SchoolCommittee pursuant to this contract or applicable law to act towards employees for

-8-

or otherwise especially concerning matters described in paragraph 1-04 and 1-05.

g. Any employee(s) released as the result of action taken under this section shall be eligible for recall under the following conditions:

1. The School Department shall maintain a complete list of all such employees.

2. The employee's name shall be maintained on the recall list until September 1, two (2) years next following the date the employee was voted to be released by the school system.

3. Provided that the employee is still on the recall list in accordance with the procedures set forth in the paragraph below, the most senior employee on the recall list who is certified to teach the subject where a vacancy occurs shall be appointed to that vacancy, unless the employer believes that such employee, notwithstanding certification, is demonstrably unqualified to be appointed to such vacancy. In that event the Superintendent shall not appoint such employee and shall be required to notify such employee and the Union in writing of this decision. In such event, the Union may file with the American Arbitration Association for expedited arbitration, with consent of employee, without recourse to the grievance procedure within 30 calendar days following the receipt by the Union of the copy of the notice. The burden of showing by a fair preponderance of the evidence the reasons for the Superintendent's failure to appoint the senior certified employee(s) from the recall list, shall be upon the Superintendent. The arbitration on the merits shall be conducted in accordance with this contract except as modified procedurally by the rules of the American Arbitration Association for expedited arbitration when elected.

-9-

4. The notified person must respond in writing within fourteen (14) calendar days to the Superintendent, the said fourteen day period being calculated from the date of postmark on the letter of notification.

5. Any employee recalled shall, upon return to the school system, be entitled to all rights and benefits including but not limited to PTS, seniority, and sick leave accumulation that he/she held at the time of the layoff, and shall be placed on the salary schedule at the step to which the employee would otherwise be entitled.

h. An employee may be removed from the recall list for the following reasons:

- 1. Exhaustion of the two (2) year time period set forth above;
- 2. Failure to respond to two written notices of vacancy within the fourteen (14) day time period set forth above;
- 3. Two refusals of offered positions; or
- 4. at the employee's request.
- 1-07. Parties to this Agreement will not discriminate against any employee because of race, creed, color, religion, nationality, domicile, sex, marital status, age, physical handicap, or membership or non-membership in the Union.
- 1-08. The Committee shall not limit by any action of the Committee or administrative staff, the rights of the employee to self-organization and concerted activity as set forth in Section 2 of General Laws Chapter 1 50E. The parties further agree that an employee shall have the right to refrain from any and all such activities without discrimination by either party. The religious or political activity of any employee, or the lack thereof, will not be grounds for any discipline or discrimination against such employee with respect to the professional employment of such employee.

ARTICLE 2 DURATION

2-01. This Agreement shall be effective July 1, 2013 and shall expire June 30, 2016.Negotiations for a successor agreement shall commence at the request of either party on or after October 1, 2015.

ARTICLE 3 GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

- 3-01. A "grievance" is a complaint by an employee or a group of employees or the Union (CFT) which alleges a violation, misinterpretation, misunderstanding or misapplication of the terms of this Agreement by the School Committee or its agents.
- 3-02. Procedure
 - a. Level One Informal
 - An employee with a grievance will discuss it first with his/her Principal or immediate supervisor with the objective of settling the matter informally, within five (5) school days, Any matter which cannot be settled informally shall then be filed with the immediate supervisor or Principal on a form which is Exhibit A of this Contract, signed by the individual employee, group of employees or Union affected.
 - 2. Within five (5) schools days after receipt of the grievance form, the Principal or immediate supervisor will meet with the employee to further discuss the grievance. The employee may have a representative from the Union or the American Federation of Teachers Massachusetts present if so desired. The Principal or immediate supervisor may request that a member of the administrative staff be in attendance.

b. Level Two - Formal

1. If the aggrieved person is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Level One, or if no decision has been received by the grievant within ten (10) school days after presentation of the grievance form to Principal or his immediate supervisor, the grievant or the Union Grievance Committee may file the grievance form with the Superintendent of Schools within ten (10) school days following the receipt of the adverse decision or the elapse of ten (10) school days from the date the grievance form was presented to the Principal and/or immediate supervisor whichever is later. The Superintendent and/or his/her designee will meet with the grievance within five (5) school days of the receipt of the grievance form by the Superintendent. If the grievance is not resolved by the meeting, the Superintendent shall give his/her written answer to the grievant (copy to the Union Grievance Committee) within five (5) school days following the end of the meeting.

2. If the grievant is not satisfied with the resolution of the grievance by the Superintendent and/or his/her designee, or if no decision has been received by the grievant and/or the chairman of the Grievance Committee, the grievant and Union Grievance Committee may file a grievance form with the School Committee by serving it upon the Superintendent as its agent within ten (10) school days following the adverse decision by the Superintendent to the grievant or the presentation of the grievance at Level Two, to the Superintendent, whichever is later.

3. All Level Two grievances must be filed separately on a form which is Exhibit A of this Contract signed by the individual employee or group of employees affected, or if a group grievance, by at least two (2) members of the class affected.

-12-

c. Level Three

1. Within ten (10) school days after the receipt of the grievance form, the School Committee (or a part thereof) will discuss the grievance with the Union Grievance Committee (or a part thereof) and the grievant in an attempt to resolve the grievance. If the grievance is not resolved by the meeting, the Committee shall give its written answer to the grievant copy to the (Union Grievance Committee) within five (5) school days following the end of the meeting.

d. Level Four

1. If the grievant is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Level Three and the Union Grievance Committee determines that the grievance should be submitted to arbitration, then within twenty (20) school days following the notice of adverse decision to the grievant and/or within twenty (20) school days following the meeting with the School Committee, whichever is later, arbitration shall be commenced by receipt of a written demand for arbitration by the American Arbitration Association in Boston, MA and by the School Committee.

2. The parties shall be bound by the rules of the American Arbitration Association for Labor Arbitration in the selection of an arbitrator.

3. The arbitrator so selected will hold hearings promptly and will issue his/her decision not later than thirty (30) calendar days from the date of the close of the hearings or, if oral hearings have been waived, then from the date the final statements and proofs are submitted to him/her. The arbitrator's decision will be in writing and will set forth his/her findings of fact, reasoning and conclusions in the issues submitted. The arbitrator will be without power or authority to add to or subtract from the terms of the Contract. The arbitrator will be without power or authority to make any decision or award violative of the case law or statutory laws of the Commonwealth, or which requires the commission of an

-13-

act prohibited by law, or which violates any of the terms of this Agreement, or which matter has been excluded from the grievance and arbitration procedures of this Agreement. The decision of the arbitrator will be submitted to the Committee and to the Union and will be final and binding, subject to review pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 150C of the General Laws.

4. The costs for services of the arbitrator, including per diem expenses, if any, and actual and necessary travel and subsistence expenses will be borne equally by the Committee and the Union.

3-03. Miscellaneous

a. If an employee has not filed a grievance under this Agreement on the grievance form with his/her Principal and/or his/her immediate supervisor, or if a group grievance or a grievance form has not been filed with the Superintendent within thirty (30) calendar days after the employee or the group of employees knew or should have known of the act or conditions upon which the grievance is based, or if an institutional grievance has not been filed within thirty (30) calendar days after the officers, agents or employees of the Union knew or should have known of the act or conditions upon which the grievance is based, or if an institutional grievance is based, or if the grievance is not filed with the Superintendent, the School Committee or the American Arbitration Association within the time limits set forth herein, except as is mutually agreed to in writing, then the grievance will be considered waived. A dispute as to whether or not the grievance is waived will be a subject of the arbitration pursuant to Level Four.

b. Grievances filed during the summer months of July and August may be extended by mutual agreement to September at which time the time limits specified herein will then apply to any such grievances. This would not include grievances filed in June whose final resolution may extend into July and/or August.

c. All documents, communications, and records dealing with the processing of a grievance will be filed separately from the personnel file of the participants.

-14-

d. Whenever a condition adversely affects employees in more than one building, a group grievance policy shall be in effect and the grievance procedure will commence at Level Two.

e. No lawyers shall be present at Level One and Level Two.

ARTICLE 4 SALARIES

4-01. The salaries of all employees are set forth in Appendices which are attached hereto and made a part hereof.

Appendices B-E:

Increase the athletic and extracurricular appendices (B through E) as set forth:

Year 1	Year2	Year3
0%	2.0%	2.0%

4-02. Longevity-A longevity stipend will be paid as follows:

	Teachers	Nurses
20-24 years	\$1,736	\$1,200
25+ years	2,605	1,500

The longevity stipend shall be discontinued for all new employees hired after June 30, 1994.

4-03. Employees will be paid in the following manner:

a. Any annual salary or annual stipend or portion thereof described in Appendix A and B shall be paid to employees who are eligible in bi-weekly payments throughout the academic school year on a ten (10) month equal payment schedule or in bi-weekly payments throughout the calendar year beginning September 1, except as provided in paragraph "b" below.

b. If an employee requests of the Superintendent in writing on or before the first day of the teacher work year, he/she may receive such monies as would normally be paid to him/her in the months of July and August, in accordance with paragraph "a" above, in one
(1) payment to be received by the employee on or before June 30.

c. Employees working for compensation during the summer months, as defined in Section 4-04 below, will be paid on the regular employee pay day.

4-04. The salaries or annual stipends paid to employees as set forth in Sections 4-01 and 4-02 and Appendix A and B are fully earned on June 30 for each school year commencing the previous September 1, and proportionally earned as the school year progresses; except that in the event of a death or total and permanent disability of an employee between the close of school and the end of the year on June 30, for which the employee has not yet received payment as set forth in paragraph 4-02 "a" or "b," such portion of the employee's salary will have been deemed fully earned and payable on June 30.

4-05. Any program offered to employees by the Committee for compensation, except for extracurricular activities, from the day following the designated last day of school until the first day of the following school year will be on a voluntary basis. Programs the Superintendent determines primarily beneficial to the school system, for example, teaching or developing materials, shall be compensated for at the daily rate of thirty dollars (\$30.00) per hour. Programs the Superintendent determines primarily beneficial to the professional development of the employee, for example, receiving instruction or information, shall be compensated at a rate to be determined by the Committee.

Opportunities to participate and the rate of pay shall be posted. Participants will be selected from the applicants.

-16-

4-06. Any program offered by the Committee to employees for compensation, except for extracurricular activities, from the first day of the new school year to the last designated day of that same school year on other than school days, will be on a voluntary basis. Programs the Superintendent determines primarily beneficial to the school system, for example, teaching or developing materials, shall be compensated on a per diem basis, or any proportion thereof, based on the actual hours the employee participates.

Programs the Superintendent determines primarily beneficial to the professional development of the employee, for example, receiving instruction or information, shall be compensated for at a rate to be determined by the Committee. Opportunities to participate and the rate of pay shall be posted. Participants will be selected from the applicants.

4-07. The maximum work day for employees working under provisions of paragraph 4-05 or 4-06 shall be seven (7) hours.

4-08. For any scheduled work day in which an employee does not work during the school year from September 1 through June 30, and which failure to work is not covered by a paid leave provision of this Agreement, a per diem amount of the employee's annual basic salary as set forth in Appendix A will be deducted from his/her annual salary. For any scheduled work day or part thereof which an employee does not work pursuant to paragraph 4-05 and/or 4-06, one (1) day's pay as defined therein shall be deducted from the employee's pay.

4-09. Increments are granted in the following manner:

a. Increments are granted in September and are based on satisfactory service.

b. In order to advance to the maximum step, in addition to satisfactory service, an employee shall have within the three (3) year period prior to advancing to maximum:

1. made a continuing effort to broaden his/her knowledge in his/her subject area;

2. made a continuing effort to keep abreast of developments in

-17-

educational methods;

3. followed any reasonable suggestions for professional improvement made by his/her Principal.

4-10. Creditable Hours/Courses

"Master+30" as referenced in the salary schedule means thirty (30) credits earned after the completion of the Master's Degree requirements, provided that the credits are approved by the Superintendent. Such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. Any credits prior to 9/1/1969 need not be approved by the Superintendent. Credits for course in a post-master's program leading to a certificate or a degree need not be approved by the Superintendent. 4-11. Special Education Evaluations - The Committee agrees to compensate an employee at the rate set forth in Appendix B to a maximum of two (2) hours K-8 and three (3) hours 9-12, in addition to their annual compensation, together with mileage at the rate set forth in paragraph 10-05, for each home visitation performed after school hours by the employee as part of a special education evaluation.

Except under unusual circumstances, a notice of one (1) week will be given to each employee prior to any meeting the employee is required to attend as part of the implementation of a special education program. Such meetings will normally be held during the school day. If such a meeting is held after the school day, the time spent by the employee at such a meeting will be considered to be part of the mandatory sixteen (16) hours required of the employees without additional compensation pursuant to paragraphs 5-11. If any employee is required to spend time at such meetings after the school day in excess of the sixteen (16) mandatory hours, such employee shall be compensated for such time at the rate set forth in Appendix B. When employees are required to attend such meetings during the normal school day, the classes/duties of such employee will be covered by a substitute if needed.

-18-

4-12 <u>Early Retirement Incentive</u>-Any individual newly employed by the Chelmsford Public Schools after June 30, 2008 shall be ineligible for the early retirement incentive benefit set forth in this section. An eligible employee covered by the collective bargaining agreement between the parties may apply for and receive certain benefits for early retirement under the following terms, conditions, and limitations:

> a. <u>Eligible Employees</u>: A person eligible for non-disability voluntary retirement under the Massachusetts laws governing school employees' retirement who in addition:

1. has worked for at least ten (10) continuous years prior to his/her application as an employee in any capacity in the Chelmsford School System; and

2. will be at least fifty-five (55) years of age on the date of his/her retirement.

b. <u>Benefit</u>: Twenty-five percent (25%) of the salary of the applicant as it appears in Appendix A of the collective bargaining agreement between the parties on the date of application.

c. <u>Option</u>: The employee who elects to receive the benefits hereunder shall not be eligible for benefits under Paragraph 16-03 of the collective bargaining agreement and an employee who elects to receive benefits under said Paragraph 16-03 shall not be eligible to receive benefits hereunder.

d. Application, revocation of application and extension of retirement date

1. To be granted benefits hereunder, an eligible employee must apply in writing for such benefits not later than November 1st of the school year in which the employee desires to retire.

-19-

2. An application for early retirement incentive may be revoked in writing prior to January 15th following application. Thereafter, a revocation request may be granted by the Superintendent only for extreme hardship.

3. An employee who wishes to extend his retirement date beyond the end of the school year into the following school year shall not be eligible for special assignment but shall be eligible to be placed on unpaid leave of absence until such mutually extended date.

e. <u>Payment</u>: Payment of benefits shall be made if the applicant in fact retires and the money shall be paid on or before the last date the Committee may lawfully make such payment. The date of payment, within legal limitations, is at the option of the employee.

f. <u>Waiver</u>: The Committee may, at its sole discretion waive any limitations set forth herein for any applicant, but in such event, such waiver shall not be a precedent for any other applicant or for the Union, and the exercise of such discretion shall not be subject to grievance or arbitration by any person or the Union.

g. Arbitration: The provisions of this Agreement are subject to grievance and arbitration under the same terms and limitations as the collective bargaining agreement now in effect between the parties except as set forth herein.

4-13 Waiver of Tuition

a. Each employee who has completed two (2) years of service in the Chelmsford School System is allowed a fifty (50%) waiver of tuition for his or her children attending the Chelmsford Schools and/or any extended day child/infant care programs maintained by the Chelmsford Public Schools.

b. Any user fees related to extra-curricular activity, intramurals, clubs, etc., will be paid by the employee, if any of his or her children elect to participate.

-20-

ARTICLE 5 WORK DAY, YEAR, LOAD

5-01. The work year of employees will begin no earlier than September 1 and will terminate no later than June 30, except for employees who did not work the previous year in Chelmsford and who may be required to attend no more than three (3) additional days of orientation which may occur in the week prior to September 1.

5-02 The employees' work year shall be 182.5 days between September 1 and June 30, including one day immediately preceding and one half day immediately following the 180-day pupil year, plus one day which will be calendared during September, October or November for the purpose of professional development.

The last day of school for students shall be a half day. The rest of this day and the half day (up to a maximum of 3.5 hours) scheduled at the end of the pupil year, shall be used by employees on a self-directed basis to complete their end-of-year tasks. When the School Department contemplates extraordinary circumstances which may require such day or half-day to be scheduled at the beginning of the school year (as, for example, the opening of a new school), the School Department may initiate discussions with the Union no later than the preceding Spring to arrange a mutually cooperative rescheduling of such day or half-day.

On the day which is calendared for professional development, pupils will not be in attendance and employee attendance shall be mandatory.

Newly hired employees may be required to attend no more than three (3) additional unpaid orientation days which may be during the week prior to September 1. Any employee who is required to attend additional school days, with or without the presence of students, will be compensated at the per diem rate of that annual salary and annual stipend (if applicable) for each such additional day. Additional days will not be scheduled during vacation periods or on holidays. The calendar as established and used during a school year will contain no more than 180 scheduled days for student attendance plus six (6) days which

-21-

may be scheduled and used for student attendance if school is closed because of emergencies, except that additional days may be scheduled at the end of the school year and used if needed to meet the Commonwealth's minimum requirements for days/hours of students' attendance at school.

5-03 The Union will be involved in the planning and preparation of those days employees are required to work in excess of 180 days.

5-04 No school shall be scheduled on the following holidays: Labor Day, Columbus Day, Veteran's Day, 1/2 day the Wednesday before Thanksgiving, Thanksgiving Day, Friday after Thanksgiving, Christmas Day, Martin Luther King Day, Washington's Birthday, Good Friday, Patriot's Day, Memorial Day, one (1) day on December 24 if December 24th is a school day.

5-05 Winter Break Vacation will be at a minimum not shorter than the day before Christmas through New Year's Day.

5-06 The four (4) days following Washington's Birthday will be a vacation.

5-07 The four (4) days following Patriot's Day will be a vacation.

5-08 The starting and dismissal time of pupils will be established by the Committee.

The normal work day of employees including times set forth in paragraphs 5-09, 5-10 and 5-15 but excluding times set forth in paragraphs 5-11, 5-13, and 5-14 shall be a maximum of seven (7) hours; however, any change in an employee's present schedule resulting from the implementation of this paragraph in excess of five (5) minutes, shall require prior notice and consultation with the Union.

5-09 Employees may not be required to report more than fifteen (15) minutes prior to the starting time for pupils in a particular school to which the employee is assigned.

5-10 Except as provided in this paragraph and paragraph 5-11, 5-13, and 5-14, high school employees may not be required to remain more than thirteen (13) minutes after their normally scheduled dismissal time established pursuant to paragraph 5-08, and other employees may not be required to remain more than fifteen (15) minutes after their normally scheduled

-22-

dismissal time established pursuant to paragraph 5-08, Employees will not be required to remain more often or for longer periods of make-up or extra help sessions than is the current practice.

5-11 It is recognized that it is essential to the educational system that employees participate in staff meetings and conferences. It is agreed that such meetings and conferences should be on a voluntary basis where possible. Any such meeting or conference held before the school day commences for employee shall be on a voluntary basis.

After the first five (5) days of school, employees may not be required to attend more than one (1) meeting as described in the above paragraph per week. In one year, employees will not be required to attend more than sixteen (16) hours of such meetings.

5-12 Whenever possible, employees will be notified forty-eight (48) hours in advance of the meetings and will be given an agenda for the meeting. Attendance may be required at such meetings only when requested by administrative personnel.

5-13 Individual conferences between administrators and employees shall not be included in the sixteen (16) hour limitation as described in 5-11 or the meetings described in 4-11.

5-14 The following provisions will govern parent conferences and report cards at the elementary level.

Generally, employees will conduct parent conferences with each pupil's parents who desire such a conference either before the normal pupil arrival time or after the normal pupil departure time. Any evening conference will be held at the employee's discretion.

Kindergarten

Kindergarten teachers will conduct one parent conference and provide two progress reports, one for each of two marking periods. Parent conferences may occur any time between November 15 and February 16. The first marking period does not end for kindergarten until the last day of school in December. Since kindergarten teachers prefer to conference with parents at the time that

-23-

they give out the first report card, kindergarten teachers will be conducting parent conferences for most of their students between the last two weeks of January and the first week of February. One full day of substitute coverage to conduct parent conferences is given to full-time kindergarten teachers in recognition that they have twice as many students as all other elementary employees. In addition, Kindergarten teachers will conduct parent-teacher conferences on two (2) early release days designated by the administration, who shall provide teachers with reasonable advance notice of the days.

Grades 1-4

Teachers of Grades 1-4 will conduct one parent conference and provide three progress reports, one for each of three marking periods. Parent conferences may occur any time between November 15 and January 15. Teachers in Grades 1-4 will conduct parent-teacher conferences on two (2) early release days designated by the administration, who shall provide teachers with reasonable advance notice of the days.

5-15 Every employee will receive a duty-free lunch period equivalent to the student lunch period. At the elementary level and middle school grade five and six levels, this will include lunch recess. All grade five and six employees will receive a duty-free lunch period of 40 minutes. All other middle school bargaining unit teachers will receive a duty-free lunch period of 30 minutes. Employees will not be required to perform supervisory duties during these periods.

5-16 The school day for elementary pupils shall be six hours and eighteen minutes with a twenty-two minute lunch and two recess periods totaling thirty-five minutes per day. The school day for middle school pupils shall be six hours and twenty minutes. This will include a forty-minute lunch for students in grades five and six, inclusive of a recess period of fifteen minutes. The school day for high school students shall be six hours and thirty-two minutes with a twenty-two minute lunch period.

5-17. Elementary and middle school grade five and grade six teachers shall have release

-24-

time for preparation when a specialist or other professional employee is in the classroom or specialist's areas conducting the educational program, except when the classroom teacher deems it educationally appropriate to remain with the students.

Effective with the 1996-97 school year, the Committee will provide one additional elementary preparation period per week. Every effort shall be made to avoid scheduling more than one such period per day.

5-18. The Committee recognizes the importance of class size and shall make reasonable efforts towards limiting size so that the maximum development of the student and the maximum effectiveness of the employee will result.

5-19. All High School and Middle School bargaining unit employees shall have at least one preparation period per day. Nurses shall receive a daily uninterrupted period of one-half (1/2) hour for necessary planning and paperwork. Nurses will be called to work during this time in emergency cases only.

5-20. High School teachers and Middle School teachers of core subjects (English/Language Arts, Math, Science, Social Studies and Foreign Language) will not be required to teach more than two (2) subjects nor more than a total of three (3) teaching preparations within said subjects at any one time. A preparation shall be understood to mean year-long course, or in the case of the high school, a semester course, or a different level of the same course in instances where course levels are designated. This language shall not limit the right of the school district to create time periods within the school week for student enrichment or tutoring and to assign faculty to such assignments that are relevant to their primary subject area so long as these assignments fall within the employees' required amount of teaching time.

Exceptions to this provision may be made by mutual agreement and only when necessary to do so in the best interests of the education system.

5-21. Employees will not be required to use lunch time, prep time, or teaching time

-25-

in order to travel between buildings.

5-22. The Union will appoint one (1) designee per year who will be relieved from classroom duties up to three (3) hours per week to attend to Union business. Designee's name shall be forwarded to the Superintendent's Office on or before May 15. Departure from designee's assigned building shall require prior approval of designee's principal; such permission not to be unreasonably withheld. Designee must obtain permission from the principal of the building entered for the purpose of conducting Union business; such permission not to be unreasonably withheld. Such business shall be conducted without interruption of the teaching-learning process.

5-23. Department heads will not be required to teach more than three (3) classes a day. If a department head supervises employees in more than two buildings, the department head will not be required to teach more than two (2) classes per day. The Activities Director will not be required to teach more than four (4) classes a day.

5-24. Department Heads, Program Facilitators, and the Activities Director will be paid on a per diem basis when their presence is required beyond time covered by the Contract (June 30- September 1) for duties such as interviewing prospective employees, reconsideration of bids, opening and closing school. Department Heads, Program Facilitators, and the Activities Director may be required to work up to five (5) days before the first day of school and up to five (5) days after the last day required of the classroom teachers.

5-25. Guidance counselors at the high school level will work four (4) days in addition to the regular work year for employees either before the first day of school or after the last day of school for classroom employees. The high school principal shall have the discretion to approve in advance which additional days the guidance counselors will work in a particular year based on the needs of the department and the building. They will be paid on a per diem basis for the days worked.

-26-

5-26. Improved communications concerning budgetary matters will be affected.

a. Department Heads, Program Facilitators, the Administrative Employee,
 and the Activities Director will be notified of the dates that budgets are due in the
 Superintendent's Office.

b. Five (5) weeks lead time will be provided to prepare these budgets, such time will not conflict with the opening and closing of school.

c. After the school budget has been approved by the voters of the Town and within five weeks' time, Department Heads, Program Facilitators, the Administrative Employee, and the Activities Director will be given in writing, by their principal, the total breakdown of their budgets for the coming year.

d. Department Heads, Program Facilitators, the Administrative Nurse, and the Activities Director will be informed monthly by their principals about money encumbered for their department.

5-27. Department Heads, Program Facilitators, the Administrative Nurse, and the Activities Director will be directly involved in planning class and employees' schedules, however, changes may be required later than the last employees' workday. In such cases involvement would be desirable but not mandatory.

5-28. The School Psychologist(s) shall not be required to work more than seven (7) hours per day including lunch period in accordance with a schedule determined by his/her immediate supervisor, after consultation with the School Psychologist(s). Any additional work days will be paid on a per diem basis.

5-29. All nurses will be allowed a work break of at least fifteen (15) minutes per day away from the work area exclusive of lunch/recess and planning periods.

5-30. A nurse will be granted paid leave days to attend the Nurses' Convention. This nurse shall be chosen by the Union.

-27-

5-31. Once an IPSP-Regular Ed, has been assigned to a team of teachers, the team shall determine the utilization of the IPSP-Regular Ed, consistent with the programmatic guidelines set by the building principal. The IPSP-Regular Ed. may serve as a substitute for an absent teacher who is a member of such team or may be reassigned outside of such team to serve as a substitute teacher <u>but</u> only if the employer is otherwise unable to hire a substitute teacher after having made every reasonable effort to do so.

5-32. All teachers shall enter all available data (assignment name, grade/points, date and category) into report cards electronically. Training will be provided when needed. All secondary teachers (grades 5-12) shall enter available student academic data into the District's student management software electronically for dissemination to parents and students on at least a bi-weekly basis. Progress reports shall no longer be required for teachers in grades 5-12.

ARTICLE 6 SCHOOL CALENDAR

6-01 The opening day for staff will be the following listed dates:

2013 - 2014	September 3, 2013
2014-2015	September 2, 2014
2015-2016	TBD

The Union will be consulted in all other aspects of the annual school calendar. The final decision will be made by the Committee and will not be subject to the grievance and arbitration provisions of this agreement.

ARTICLE 7 SPECIALISTS AND SPECIAL PROGRAMS

7-01 The School Committee and the Union recognize that classroom teachers may require the assistance of certain specialists in order to discharge their assigned duties effectively. Accordingly, the following conditions will prevail:

> a. Classroom teachers, who are in need of assistance from specialists, because of psychological or emotional factors, or hearing or vision defects which render pupils unable to learn or behave normally in the regular classroom situation, will receive such assistance from properly qualified personnel.

b. Classroom teachers who are in need of assistance from specialists in remedial reading in order to bring pupils up to the classroom level or from specialists in speech therapy will receive such assistance from properly qualified personnel.

7-02 Nothing contained in paragraph 7-01 should be construed in such a manner as to be contrary to the regulations promulgated by the Massachusetts Department of Education and the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts in regard to special education legislation and regulations.

ARTICLE 8 NON-TEACHING DUTIES

8-01 The School Committee and the Union agree that supervision by teachers in a nonclassroom setting is an educationally desirable goal. However, the parties agree that the School Committee shall direct the administration to make reasonable efforts to minimize that role for employees in the following settings:

- a. lunchroom
- b. playground
- c. corridor
- d. lavatory

8-02. The parties agree that it is educationally desirable to maximize the time spent in the classroom by employees for instructional purposes, and therefore, the parties agree that the School Committee shall direct the administration to make reasonable efforts to minimize the following non-instructional clerical activities to be performed by teachers:

- a. recordkeeping (i.e. class picture, milk money, insurance, book clubs, phone slips, federal aid slips, and lunch money);
- b. census cards;
- c. delivery of textbooks, supplies and art materials except for distribution of the same within the employee's classroom.

8-03. The parties recognize the need for employee deployment on a casual, irregular, or emergency basis for functions enumerated earlier in this Article in which employee involvement is ordinarily to be minimized. Should a grievance be filed based upon an allegation of the School Committee's lack of reasonable effort or diligence to minimize the role of employees in the foregoing categories, the arbitrator is empowered to consider, by way of example and not by way of limitation, such items as the prior practice of the parties, the frequency with which the employee(s) has been required to perform the duties which should have been minimized for her/him/them, the availability of non-teaching personnel to perform the duties for which employee involvement should have been minimized, and the goodwill of the parties to comply with the terms of the contract language.

8-04. Employees will not be required to:

- a. prepare registers, except they will be required to prepare daily attendance cards from which registers are prepared;
- b. maintain lockers;
- c. prepare bus lists;
- d. except for audio-visual personnel, to physically deliver heavy audio-visual equipment to the classroom.

ARTICLE 9 EMPLOYMENT

9-01 a. Employees who begin employment upon the date of ratification of this contract shall be placed on the salary schedule at the discretion of the superintendent.

b. LPN's

Newly hired LPNs will be placed at Step 1 of the new LPN salary grid listed in Appendix A. The LPN salary grid is calculated at 80% of the corresponding step of the teacher/nurse salary grid.

9-02 Employees with previous experience in the Chelmsford School System will, upon returning to the system, receive credit for outside experience as evaluated by the Superintendent and Peace Corps experience not to exceed two (2) years. Employees who have been engaged in teaching or nursing on a full-time basis will, upon returning to the system, be restored to the next position on the salary schedule above that at which they left.

9-03 Nothing contained herein shall be construed to prevent the placement of any employee on a higher salary level if, in the judgment of the Superintendent, it is in the best interests of the Chelmsford Public Schools. 9-04 If a new employee is hired at a salary above the salary prescribed by the Salary Schedule for employees in the same grade or department within each building in the school district, that salary difference of the employee new to Chelmsford shall be added to the annual salary of all other employees having equal education and experience, and who qualify for the same position. A written review of all hiring and placement decisions will be provided to the President of the Chelmsford Federation of Teachers at the completion of each hiring period.

9-05 Any employee who qualifies for a position as described in Article 9-04, but prefers to stay in his/her present position is not entitled to compensation under 9-04 if he/she rejects the offer of this new position.

9-06 Ninety (90) or more days worked within a school year shall constitute one (1) year of service for the purpose of granting an increment for all employees.

9-07 On October 1st each returning employee will be given written notification of his/her salary and the employee's placement on the appropriate track and step.

9-08 Overpayment and Underpayment

a. If the school department discovers an overpayment in an employee's salary, the employee will be notified in writing by the Business Manager at the employee's home address by registered mail as soon as practical after the overpayment is discovered. The Business Manager and employee will mutually agree to a repayment schedule.

If the school department discovers an underpayment in the employee's salary, the employee will be notified in writing by the Business Manager at the employee's home address by registered mail as soon as practical after the underpayment is discovered. The Business Manager will facilitate payment for the next scheduled payment period.

-32-

ARTICLE 10 TRANSFERS

- 10-01 The Union and the School Committee agree to support the mission of the Chelmsford Public Schools through the establishment of an efficient and effective employee transfer process to be used when a vacancy exists, upon the development of a new position, or during a reorganization.
- 10-02 In order to clarify the status of employees, the following definitions will apply:
 - a. Assignment An assignment is defined as the position held by an employee in a particular grade, subject area and school building.
 - b. Designated Employees are "designated" when there is a decrease in the number of classes of a particular grade and/or subject area. In each school and in each grade and/or subject area where the number of classes is to be reduced, the least senior employee currently in that grade or subject area in that school is designated for reassignment.
 - c. Reassignment A reassignment is defined for the purpose of this section as a change in building, grade or subject area. Notwithstanding Section (b), a more senior employee in the grade and/or subject area when the number of classes is to be reduced may self designate in lieu of the least senior employee who otherwise would have been designated.
 - d. Leave Designation/Voluntary Transfer An employee returning from an approved career, maternity or education leave who has notified the superintendent by March 1st of his/her intent to work shall be deemed a designated employee and an applicant for voluntary transfer.
 - e. Involuntary transfer An involuntary transfer is defined as a transfer to another building grade or subject area which has not been requested by an employee and which is made by the Superintendent after August 15. The Superintendent will make every effort to avoid the involuntary transfer of a person who was selected to fill a vacancy resulting from the just-completed transfer process. The Superintendent will provide an involuntarily transferred employee with written notice of the reasons for the involuntary transfer within ten (10) days after receipt of a request for such notice from such employee. Any employee who is involuntarily transferred may self-designate during the next transfer

-33-

period only. If the position from which such employee was involuntarily transferred is restored during the first year of service as an involuntary transferee, such employee shall have the right to return to his/her original position as of the beginning of the next school year.

f. Transferee – A transferee is the individual selected for transfer to a specific position.

10-03 The following procedures will govern the filling of vacancies by designated employees and voluntary transfer applicants.

a. Superintendent General Meeting - During the first week in March the superintendent of schools will meet with all bargaining unit members to report on reorganization plans, grade realignments, staff development issues and any other potential changes anticipated in the coming school year.

b. Postings - During the second and third weeks of March there will be postings of all system wide positions that are affected by reorganization, grade realignment, and newly created positions approved in the budget. Postings will include a job description and specific requirements applicable to any position beyond the generic job description, including curriculum requirements, specific tasks and teaming where appropriate and other details as may be recommended to the Labor Management Committee. It will also include duties of the position, minimum qualifications and salary range. Employees to be designated will be notified immediately prior to the superintendent's general meeting (a). Postings prior to June 1st will be for ten (10) school days. Following June 1st postings will be expedited and posted for five (5) business days.

c. Building Meetings -During the posting period all building principals will meet with bargaining unit members to review building philosophies, goals and the unique requirements of positions identified for posting.

d. Applications-Employees will apply for the posted positions on the transfer form provided by the Superintendent's Office. The transfer request form will contain the building, grade and/or subject to which the employee requests the transfer. In addition, the criteria for employee selection shall be enumerated on the transfer form so that the

-34-

applicant may address each of said criteria in his/her request. All application forms will be sent to the Personnel Office. The Personnel Office will distribute copies of applications to appropriate principals and to the CFT President or his/her designee.

e. Individual Meetings with Principals-Prior to the deadline for applications, each building principal will meet with each employee in his/her building who has applied for a transfer to another position. The principal and the employee will discuss the reason for the transfer request and the employee's professional goals.

- f. Criteria for Selection- The criteria for the selection of a final transferee include:
 1. an employee's area of certification and his/her experience and training in the area of certification;
 - 2. the skills and talents required by the position;
 - 3. an applicant's professional growth plan;
 - 4. an employee's motivation for a new assignment;
 - 5. academic and professional preparation beyond certification;
 - 6. length of service in the Chelmsford Public Schools.

g. Selection - Upon completion of all required meetings, building principals, subject to the approval of the superintendent of schools, shall finalize the selection of all transferees and notify all applicants involved in the process.

h. Designated Status - Designated employees (including involuntary transfer applicants) shall receive first priority during the selection process and shall be guaranteed employment. If a position from which an employee has been designated is recreated prior to the beginning of the next school year, such designated employee shall have the right to return to the original position.

i. Notification/Unsuccessful Applicants - All applicants will be notified in writing by the Personnel Office of the selection of transferees for all positions. Unsuccessful applicants are invited to schedule a meeting with the superintendent of schools, if desired, to receive feedback regarding the selection process. The purpose of the meeting is to receive personalized feedback regarding the extent to which they met or did not meet transfer

-35-

criteria.

j. Notification/Successful Applicants-All employees selected for a transfer
(transferees) are required to meet with the building principal associated with their new
position. The purpose of such meeting is to discuss transfer activities, e.g. the timeline
for an actual transfer, orientation to the new position, and expectations for performance.
k. Outside Applicants-Following the selection of applicants for vacancies, as set
forth in subsection (g) the school department may hire outside applicants.

1. Subsequent Vacancies - Internal candidates will be considered for all vacancies that arise following the transfer process described above. Applications should include a letter of interest and a resume. Applications should be filed with the Personnel Office.

ARTICLE 11 ASSIGNMENTS

11-01 The Union and the School Committee agree to support the mission of the Chelmsford Public Schools through the establishment of an efficient and effective employee transfer process to be used when a vacancy exists, a new position is developed or during a reorganization. 11-02 The following rules will govern the special circumstances due to a reorganization, now or in the future. When a grade is to be moved from one building to another (as, for example, the fifth, seventh or eighth grade) teachers in such grades may volunteer to be transferred in teams to such other building or may volunteer to be transferred as individuals to such other building. If further teachers are needed to be transferred out of the building pursuant to such reorganization, they shall be selected under the designation rules. Any such employee who does not volunteer to move with such grade may apply for posted positions as a designated employee.

11-03 Employees will be notified in writing of their programs for the coming year, including any special or unusual classes and/or Regular Education Initiative Programs in which they will be participating. This will be done as soon as practicable and under normal circumstances not later than August 15. The Superintendent shall furnish regular classroom teachers with all previously finalized individual education plans for special education students normally before the end of the teacher work year and in no event later than August 15. Building principals and the Special Education Director will encourage consultation between the Special Education staff and the regular classroom teacher in order to foster a cooperative spirit in the assignment of special education students to regular classrooms.

11-04 In arranging schedules for employees who are assigned to more than one school, an effort will be made to limit the amount of interschool travel. However, such employees shall receive the current rate accepted by the Internal Revenue Service for mileage reimbursement for such travel. Employees shall be paid travel money due on a monthly basis upon approval of the

-37-

required vouchers by the school administration.

11-05 All employees, who have voluntarily assumed part-time positions, may not return to fulltime status unless a full-time vacancy is available. If an additional part-time vacancy becomes available, the part-time employee may apply to increase his/her teaching or nursing time by the amount posted until reaching full-time status.

11-06 An employee who is serving in a part-time status during the first two years after having been laid off as a full-time employee may opt to apply for a full-time vacancy.

11-07 The employee assigned to the position of Team Leader may be an employee recommended by the team concerned, but in no case is the recommended employee to be one who has not applied for the posted position.

11-08 Other Professional Vacancies:

- a. All professional positions in the Chelmsford Public Schools that the employer decides to fill will be posted for ten (10) calendar days. For the purpose of this section and for the purpose of defining a calendar day for posting positions, "calendar days" do not include school holidays and vacations during the school year.
- b. Notice of openings will contain a job description and specific requirements applicable to any position beyond the generic job description, including curriculum requirements, specific tasks and teaming where appropriate. It will also include duties of the position, minimum qualifications and salary range.
- c. Vacancies arising during the summer when school is not in session will be publicized via electronic medium (CPA website) and by written notice mailed to the Chelmsford Federation of Teachers' President. Written notice will also be mailed to all bargaining unit members so requesting who have supplied self-addressed, stamped envelopes and a summer address for that purpose to the Superintendent of Schools.

- 11-09 Nothing in this Agreement shall prevent the Superintendent from making acting appointments until positions can be filled with permanent appointments as provided in this Agreement. Time spent in acting appointments shall not be used as indication of superior qualifications for the positions.
- 11-10 All openings for summer school, summer workshops, evening school participants, time and score keepers, and for positions under federal programs will be adequately publicized by the Superintendent by means of a notice placed on appropriate bulletin board in every school as far in advance of the date for appointment as possible.
- 11-11 In the event a bargaining unit member who applies for a promotion to a bargaining unit position (e.g. department head) is not selected and such position is filled by a new hire, the denial of the application of the Chelmsford employee will be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure to the extent that the actions of the Superintendent can be shown to be arbitrary and capricious.
- 11-12 In the event a newly hired employee resigns prior to assuming his/her duties, an alternate applicant may be recommended for hire without reposting the position as vacant.
- 11-13 In any given year Department Coordinators (represented by the Chelmsford Administrators Association contract) may teach zero (0), one (I) or two (2) sections. In the event of budget cuts requiring a reduction of administrative salaries for Department Coordinators, a Department Coordinator may be eligible to teach additional sections from the previous year only under the circumstances where the section is a result of a retirement, a resignation, or an addition of a teaching section to the budget for enrollment purposes. Inno case shall a Department Coordinator teach more than one additional section than he/she taught the previous year, not to exceed two (2) sections at any time. A section is defined as 0.2 FTE.

-39-

ARTICLE 12 UNIVERSAL PRECAUTIONS/HEALTH ISSUES

12-01 All employees who are, or will be employed, in the Chelmsford School system will be properly instructed in the use of Universal Precautions. Staff will be provided with the equipment necessary to maintain such precautions. Training will be updated yearly.

12-02 The School Department will provide Hepatitis B vaccine (3-shot series) to nurses and trainers, at its expense. It is the intention of the Committee to provide such vaccine to other school department personnel who are recommended for such vaccine under public health standards for selecting public employees to be vaccinated, as set by the Commonwealth through its Department of Public Health or by the Town of Chelmsford through its Health Department.

ARTICLE 13 EMPLOYEE OBSERVATION, EVALUATION AND PERSONNEL FILES

13-01 Teacher and Nurse Evaluation

See Appendix G: Teacher and Caseload Educator Evaluation System.

13-02 Coaches Evaluation

Coaches will be evaluated by the high school principal or his designee. The Athletic Director shall facilitate such evaluation. Only an employee who has received a written composite evaluation which is designated as negative, (not a negative written observation or negative comment in a positive evaluation) may grieve the negative determination. The Union, within the same time periods provided for arbitration, may elect expedited arbitration instead of the arbitration provided for in the contract. Such expedited arbitration shall be conducted in accordance with this contract, except that the procedural rules for such expedited arbitration shall be those of the American Arbitration Association. The contents of the composite evaluation report designated as negative will be subject to arbitral review on its merits; and, if overturned, such contents shall be stricken from the employee's personnel file, and any adverse personnel action arising out of such evaluation shall be fully remedied.

13-03 Personnel Files

a. Employees have the right, upon request, to review the contents of their personnel file. An employee may if he wishes have a representative of Union accompany him during such review. If, during the course of reviewing his/her personnel file, an employee wishes to have copies of any of the contents thereof, he/she shall be permitted to make those copies on facilities in the Superintendent's Office and shall reimburse the Superintendent's Office at a rate not to exceed ten cents (\$.10) per page.

b. For purposes of this Article and interpretation under this contract, "personnel file" shall be deemed to mean the official personnel file of the employee retained in the Superintendent's Office. No material derogatory to an employee's conduct, service, character, or personality will be placed in his personnel file unless the employee has had an opportunity to review the material. The employee will acknowledge that he has had the opportunity to review such material by affixing his signature to the copy to be filed with the express understanding that such signature indicates merely that he has seen it and in no way indicates agreement with the content thereof, The employee will also have the right to submit a written answer to such material and, if so submitted, his/her answer shall be reviewed by the Superintendent and attached to the file copy which is inserted in the employee's personnel file. No personnel action or decision with respect to any employee will be made based on other than the contents of the employee's official personnel file as is found in the Superintendent's Office. While informal personnel files or incident files may be maintained by supervisors at various levels, the information gathered and/or contained in such informal personnel or incident files

-41-

will not be a basis for any personnel action, decision, recommendation or otherwise unless such material shall first have been included in the employee's permanent personnel file as is found at the Superintendent's Office and unless inclusion therein has been in conformance with the provisions of this Article.

c. Any complaint which is submitted in the employee's permanent personnel file at the Superintendent's Office whether made by any parent, student, or other person, and whether it requires administrative action or not, will be reported to the employee involved prior to inclusion in the aforesaid personnel file and prior to the commencement of any administrative action.

d. Nothing in this Article is intended to infringe upon or limit the right of a principal or supervisor to discuss on an informal basis, with the employee his/her general or professional conduct or limit the ability of the principal or supervisor to communicate, on an informal basis, with his/her staff on a one-to-one basis. If an employee is to be disciplined or reprimanded by a member of the administration, he/she may, if he/she wishes, have a representative of the Union present. Unless there are catastrophic or emergency circumstances, the disciplining or reprimanding will be done in private. For the purposes of this Article, "disciplining or reprimanding" are situations in which written documentation concerning adverse actions of an employee are placed in the employee's personnel file at the Superintendent's office.

13-04 Nothing in this Article shall diminish the provisions of Article 1-04 of this Agreement.

-42-

ARTICLE 14 EMPLOYEE FACILITIES

14-01 The Committee agrees to maintain the present employee facilities in the schools in a clean and serviceable manner. Inaddition, there will be an area in the schools which permits the employees' use of a telephone in a separate area to speak in privacy with parents or others on school matters. To insure this, all buildings having 700-1,000 pupils in a single session will have two (2) outside lines per building.

All buildings having 1,000 pupils on a single session will have three (3) outside lines per building.

14-02 The Committee will consult with the Union during planning stages of a new building for recommendations which the Committee will forward to the School Building Committee.

14-03 The Chelmsford School Committee for the life of this Agreement will make every reasonable effort to provide separate employee dining areas and work areas for employees in existing schools, and will be cognizant of these needs in establishing specifications for new schools.

14-04 Cellular Phones

Employees who use their own cellular phones on such field trips will be reimbursed for job-related, billed calls made and received.

ARTICLE 15 USE OF SCHOOL FACILITIES

15-01 The Union will have the right to use school buildings at reasonable times for meetings in accordance with the school policy for the use of school buildings.

15-02 The Superintendent's Office and the principal of the building in question will be given reasonable advance notification of the time and place of all such meetings.

15-03 If the meeting is held during those hours when a custodian is present or has regularly scheduled hours, there will be no charge for the use of the building.

15-04 If the meeting is held outside of those hours when a custodian is present or has regularly scheduled hours, the Union will pay the cost of the special custodian on the same basis as other organizations.

15-05 A bulletin board or space on an existing bulletin board will be made available to the Union for the purpose of displaying appropriate notices, circulars, and other material. Copies of all such material will be given to the building principal but his/her advance approval will not be required.

ARTICLE 16 SICK LEAVE

16-01 Employees who contract to work for the school year shall receive thirteen (13) days for use as sick leave as of the first day they are required to work whether or not they report for duty on that day except that employees who did not work in the Chelmsford School System in the previous year, shall receive such credit from the day they actually report to work. Employees who are hired to work after the normal commencement day for the opening of the school, shall receive a pro-rated number of sick leave days depending on the date of hire.

16-02 Sick leave maybe accumulated from year to year to a maximum of two hundred and ten (210) days. Those employees who have accumulated sick leave benefits from the Board of Health shall be given full credit for any days accumulated.

16-03 The Committee will pay at the date of an employee's retirement thirty percent (30%) of an employee's accumulated sick leave on such date to a maximum of Three Thousand Dollars (\$3,000) to be computed at the rate of Fifty Dollars (\$50) per day, provided, however, that the employee has notified the Superintendent of Schools by November 1st of the school year in which the employee intends to retire.

16-04 Sick leave may not be used for any other purpose except illness, injury, or disability related to a physical condition requiring doctor or hospital care. A doctor's certificate may be required from an employee who is absent in excess of three (3) consecutive days at any time. Such certificate may be required from an employee who requests the use of sick leave for an extended time. In such cases, the doctor's certificate shall be required to contain, if requested by the Administration, the medical diagnosis, the specific illness, injury, or condition for which sick leave is used or requested, prognosis, and to the extent possible, the expected date the employee will return to work. In order for an employee to be eligible to use sick leave, such employee must notify the Superintendent or designee, on or before the first day of an absence for which he/she intends to use sick leave, of the

-45-

nature of the illness, injury or disability and medical diagnosis, if possible at that time, together with an estimate as to when the employee expects to return to work. Such absent employee claiming sick leave is expected to keep the Superintendent informed of the progress of the sickness, injury, or disability and may be required to provide additional doctor's certificates in the form set forth above from time to time at the discretion of the Superintendent if such absence is prolonged. If deemed in the best interests of the Chelmsford Public School System, the Superintendent may require an employee on sick leave to be examined by a physician chosen by the System. Such examination to be administered without charge to the employee.

16-05 Sick Leave for Family Illness

Up to ten paid sick leave days per year may be used for the purposes specified in the first sentence of Section 16-04 or for the purpose of arranging for care of a sick member of the employee's immediate family as defined in Articles 17-05 (a) and 18-01.

16-06 Employees who leave the school system and return within two (2) years shall, if rehired, have all unused sick leave days restored to a maximum of two hundred and ten (210) days.

16-07 The School Committee and the Union agree to the establishment of a voluntary sick leave bank to be operated under the following terms and conditions:

a. Management of the sick leave bank shall be directed by a "sick leave bank committee" whose membership shall be composed of three (3) members from the Chelmsford Federation of Employees and two (2) designees of the Superintendent.

b. The record-keeping of the sick leave bank shall be conducted by the designees of the Superintendent.

c. No person shall be eligible to use more than one hundred and eighty (180) days or the equivalent of the number of working days in a school year from the sick leave bank for any single incident or occurrence for which an employee shall be entitled to request sick days

-46-

from the sick leave bank committee.

d. Participation in the sick leave bank shall be voluntary. Any new employees and any present members of the bargaining unit may apply for participation in the sick leave bank on or before the last school day in September. Employees who are not members of the bank after such date shall not be eligible to use the bank until the next open period in the next school year. Employees hired during the year shall be eligible to apply for the bank within thirty (30) days following their employment. e. The School Committee will contribute to the bank the number of days remaining in the sick leave bank under the previous contract or two hundred and fifty (250) sick leave days, whichever is the greater.

f. The Sick Leave Bank Committee shall establish a minimum four hundred (400) sick leave days which must remain in the bank. When the number of days in the bank falls below four hundred (400), the Sick Leave Bank Committee shall assess each participant one or more days to be subtracted from his/her respective individual balance of accumulated sick leave, as is necessary, to replenish the Sick Leave Bank over the four hundred (400) days minimum balance.

16-08 For the addition of unused personal days to sick leave accumulation, refer to Article 17-07.

ARTICLE 17 PERSONAL LEAVE

17-01 It is recognized that absence of employees interrupts the educational process and must, therefore, be held to a minimum. It is understood that employees will make every effort to attend to their personal business on "non-work days" and that requests for personal leave will be submitted only when every effort has been made to schedule personal business so as not to interfere with the employee's work day.

17-02 In each school year an employee will be eligible for three (3) days of personal leave -47-

with pay. Such leave will be for personal, legal, business, religious, household or family matters which require the absence of the employee during work hours and which cannot otherwise be scheduled.

17-03 Routine personal leave requests should be submitted to the building principal seventy-two hours prior to the date on which the employee wishes to be absent. Forms for personal leave requests will be made available at each school office and signed by the school principal and/or supervisor. Employees who fail to request approval in advance shall forfeit full pay for each day of unauthorized absence. If, because of lack of time in any emergency situation, permission is sought and granted orally, such permission must be confirmed in writing using the standard form.

17-04 Routine personal leave requests do not require a written or verbal explanation to the building principal; however, the form must be processed as described in 17-03 for administrative record keeping only. Ordinarily, employees shall not be eligible to use more than their three (3) allotted personal days or to take personal leave for days immediately prior to or immediately following a school vacation or holiday. In unusual circumstances, employees must request in writing that the superintendent approve their request for an additional personal day, provided that their request specifically details the reasons for seeking an additional personal day or allowing an employee to use a personal day immediately prior to or immediately following a school vacation or holiday. The Personal Leave Form must be submitted directly to the Superintendent followed by a personal contact to discuss the personal leave request. The superintendent's consideration of an unusual request shall not be subject to the Parties' grievance and arbitration procedure.

17-05 The following serves as a guideline for personal leave requests:

-48-

a. Emergency or illness in the immediate family. (Definition of immediate family: parent, parent-in-law, spouse, child, sibling, grandparent, grandchild, uncle, aunt, niece, nephew, and any person living in the immediate household.)

b. Religious Observance - (Where established religious discipline expects actual presence at services and/or for the employee to desist from his daily occupations). c. Personal Business - Court obligations, mortgage closing, adoption of child, summons by a government agency such as Draft Board or the Internal Revenue Service, or equivalent personal business affairs which either (a) could not reasonably be scheduled during non-work hours or (b) are beyond the immediate control or influence of the employee involved for the purpose of setting the schedule or meeting time.

d. Commencement exercises for the employee or a member of the family as defined in Item a, but including siblings, ordination or entrance into religious orders for the employee or member of immediate family.

In the event that the school department obtains objective information which tends to show that an employee is in violation of either the spirit and/or the letter of the above language, the school department reserves the right to revoke approval of the personal day.

17-06 Two (2) days of leave of absence with pay will be granted to any employee who celebrates the Jewish High Holy Days and one (1) day such leave of absence for any employee who celebrates Orthodox Good Friday.

17-07 Unused personal days shall be added to the employee's sick leave account. For those employees who have maximum accumulation of sick leave days, unused personal days shall be added over and above the contractual maximum accumulation. These additional days may not be used until the employee's sick leave account has been depleted. These additional days may

-49-

not be bought back upon retirement.

17-08 Paid leave or unpaid leave provided under the Family and Medical Leave Act shall be credited against FMLA leave entitlements to the extent permitted by FMLA.

ARTICLE 18 BEREAVEMENT LEAVE

18-01 Three (3) days bereavement leave without loss of pay will be granted to an employee upon the death of anyone in the immediate family as defined in article 17-05 a.

18-02 The employee will be granted up to two (2) additional work days without loss of pay if pay before the day of the funeral and up to two (2) additional work days without loss of pay if either or both of the aforesaid work days are required as travel time to enable the employee to attend the funeral. Attendance at the funeral shall be a prerequisite to being granted either or both of the two (2) aforesaid additional work days as funeral leave. It is understood that the provisions for granting leave under this Article shall be liberally construed and that the granting of leave without loss of pay under the provisions of this paragraph shall be liberally granted and not unreasonably or arbitrarily withheld. Should the funeral services be conducted on a day which is preceded by or followed by a non-work day, the granting of either or both of the additional two (2) work days of leave referred to earlier in this paragraph may be withheld if the employee involved could have traveled to and/or from the location of the funeral on a non-teaching work day.

18-03 In the event of the death of an employee in the bargaining unit, the president or his or her designee will be granted release time sufficient to attend the funeral services of such employee.

-50-

ARTICLE 19 EXTENDED LEAVE OF ABSENCE

Following the summary for each section is the complete contract language for that section. The employee is responsible for reading the full section before meeting with the Director of Personnel.

19-01. <u>Military Leave</u>

Job upon return:Same or equalAdvance step:YesHealth Insurance:Employee portion only or 100% of premiumMaximum leave:3 years

Military leave without pay will be granted to any employee who is inducted or enlists in any branch of the armed forces of the United States. Upon return from such leave, an employee will be placed on the salary schedule at the level which he would have achieved had he remained actively employed in the system during the period of this absence up to a maximum of three (3) years.

19-02. <u>Action Corps/Peace Corps Leave</u>

Job upon return:	Same or equal
Advance step:	Yes
Health insurance:	Employee portion only or 100% of premium
Maximum leave:	2 years

A leave of absence without pay of up to two (2) years will be granted to any employee who joins the ACTION CORPS or serves as an exchange employee, and is a full-time participant in either of such programs. Upon return from such leave, an employee will be considered as if he were actively employed by the Committee during the leave and will be placed on the salary schedule at the level he would have achieved if he had not been absent.

19-03. <u>Family Illness Leave</u>

Job upon return:	Same or equal
Advance step:	See Article 9, Section 9-06
Health insurance:	Employee portion only or 100% of premium
Maximum leave:	1 year (possibility of extension through School
	Committee)

A leave of absence without pay or increment of up to one (I) year will be granted for the purpose

of caring for a sick member of the employee's immediate family as defined in Articles 17-05 (a) and 18-01. Additional leave may be granted at the discretion of the Committee.

19-04. <u>Health Leave</u>

Job upon return:	Same or equal
Advance step:	See Article 9, Section 9-06
Health insurance:	Employee portion only or 100% of premium
Maximum leave:	1 year (must have medical support documentation)

Any employee with PTS or employee in continuous employment in the Chelmsford School

System may be granted a leave of absence without pay, or increment for up to one (1) year for health reasons. Requests for such leave will be supported by appropriate medical evidence.

19-05. <u>Personal Illness</u>

Job upon return:	Same or equal
Advance step:	See Article 9, Section 9-06
Health insurance:	Employee portion only or 100% of premium
Maximum leave:	end of school year in which sick leave is exhausted or
	when permanent disability is determined, whichever is
	sooner.

Any employee whose personal illness extends beyond the period for which he is compensated by sick leave or is granted additional sick leave by the sick leave bank, will be granted a leave of absence without pay or increment for such time as it is necessary for complete recovery from such illness, but in no event will such leave of absence extend beyond termination of the school year in which sick leave is exhausted, or a determination that the employee is permanently incapacitated and is unable to return to work, whichever is sooner.

19-06. <u>Childbirth Leave</u>

Job upon return:	Same or equal
Advance step:	See Article 9, Section 9-06
Reentry as designated:	No
Maximum leave:	12 weeks of FMLA (after which employee pays 100% of premium). Additional unpaid leave may be granted by Superintendent.

A leave of absence without pay for childbirth will be granted to each employee who requests

such leave for childbirth upon two (2) weeks' notice for a period of up to eight (8) weeks. -52An employee may use accumulated sick leave for child birth during said eight (8) week period under the conditions set forth in paragraph 16-04 during such period as the employee is

disabled.

The Superintendent may grant unpaid childbirth leave beyond the eight (8) weeks at his discretion and such decision is not arbitrable.

19-07. Adoption Leave

Job upon return:	Same or equal
Advance step:	See Article 9, Section 9-06
Health insurance:	Employee portion only or 100% of premium
Maximum leave:	12 weeks of FMLA. Additional unpaid leave may be
	granted by Superintendent.

A leave of absence for adoption will be granted to each employee who requests such leave for adoption, for a period of up to eight (8) weeks. The adopting employee shall give notice of the anticipated advent of the child as soon as practical.

If the Chelmsford School Department employs both adopting spouses or partners in this bargaining unit, one such person may use up to 20 days accumulated sick leave for 4 of the 8 weeks of adoption leave and the other such person shall be eligible to receive 8 weeks of unpaid adoption leave. The Superintendent may extend unpaid adoption leaves of absence at his discretion and such decision is not arbitrable.

19-08. Use of Sick Leave Bank

The sick leave bank shall be not be available for childbirth leave as is set forth above except if the employee is disabled at the end of the eight (8) week period. Inlieu of the use of sick leave, or the paid childbirth leave, or paid adoption leave set forth above, a leave of absence without pay or increment shall be granted to pregnant or adopting employees. Leave will be granted for the remainder of the school year in which the child is born/adopted and the school year immediately following. If the employee desires to return to the school system the following year, notification must be sent to the Superintendent's office no later than March 1 of the year in -53which the employee intends to begin in September.

If there is any question concerning the pregnant employee's ability to remain safely at work and perform assigned duties, the Superintendent may require written certification of health from her physician indicating that said employee may continue in her current employment status.

19-09. Education Leave

Job upon return:Same or equalAdvance step:YesRe-enter as designated:YesHealth Insurance:Employee portion only or 100% of premiumMaximum leave:1 year

An employee with PTS or an employee in continuous employment in the Chelmsford School System may be granted a leave of absence without pay for up to one (1) year for education purposes. Upon return from such a leave, an employee will be placed on the salary schedule at the level which he/she would have achieved had he/she remained actively employed in the system during the period of his/her absence.

All such leaves are subject to the approval of the Committee and may be denied if the Committee deems they are not of significant value to the system.

19-10. All benefits to which an employee was entitled at the time his/her leave of absence commenced, including unused accumulated sick leave, will be restored to him/her upon his/her return, and he/she will be assigned the same position which he/she held at the time said leave commenced, if still in existence, or if not, to a substantially equivalent position. Employees on leave shall be treated in the same fashion as employees not on leave for purposes of applying the provisions of Article I-06, <u>Reduction In Force</u>, and subject to Article 10, Assignments and Transfers (10-02 c).

Any employee who is not receiving a salary from the Town of Chelmsford while on leave, will not accumulate seniority unless such accumulation is required by state or federal statute.

19-11. All requests for extension or renewals of leave will be applied for in writing. Action taken and disposition of such request will be confirmed in writing. Employee's entitlement to his/her -54-

prior position upon return from such extension or renewal will be arranged in accordance with Article 1-06, and subject to Article 10, (10-02 c.)

19-12. <u>Personal Extended Absence.</u>

Job upon return:No guarantee, but "preferential treatment in rehiringAdvance step:NoRe-enter as designated:N/AHealth Insurance:Employee portion only or 100% of premiumMaximum leave:1 year

A leave of absence without pay or increment may be granted for a period of one (1) year for personal reasons to any employee applying for such leave who has completed at least seven (7) consecutive years in the Chelmsford Public Schools. If an employee intends to return to the school system in September, notification must be sent to the Superintendent's Office no later than March 1. Personal leave does not guarantee an employee a position, but preferential treatment in rehiring will be given for a period of one (1) year to a returning employee, all qualifications of other candidates being deemed equal.

19-13. <u>Career Exploration Leave</u>

Job upon return:	Same or equal	
Advance step:	No	
Re-enter as designated: Yes		
Health Insurance:	Employee portion only or 100% of premium	
Maximum leave:	1 year, with possible extension of one year only	

A leave of absence for career exploration may be granted by the School Committee for the succeeding school year to any PTS employee covered by this agreement upon recommendation by the Superintendent and if requested to the Superintendent or his/her designee by the employee, in writing, on or before March I preceding the school year in which the employee wishes the career leave. During the leave, the employee will be ineligible for any pay or any other benefits provided by law or by this contract to school system employees.

If granted, the leave shall extend for the school year for which it was granted and may, at the election of the employee, extend for the next full school year only, provided that the employee shall so

request on or before March 1, in writing to the Superintendent or his/her designee, in the school year during which the employee is on leave. Failure to request an extension or to indicate an intention to return at the commencement of the next school year, in writing on or before March I to the Superintendent or his/her designee shall mean that the employee has resigned. All leaves shall be for a full school year, unless extended for another full school year, and may not be shorter unless requested by the employee and waived by the School Committee at its sole discretion, which waiver

shall not be grieved or arbitrated.

19-14. <u>Child-rearing Leave</u>

Job upon return:Same or equalAdvance step:NoRe-enter as designated:YesHealth insurance:Employee portion only or 100% of premiumMaximum leave:Unspecified

The Committee in its discretion may grant an unpaid child rearing leave to an employee for the purpose of parenting a minor child.

ARTICLE 20 SABBATICAL LEAVE

20-01 The Committee upon recommendation of the Superintendent may grant a Sabbatical Leave for approved study, research or travel to members of the teaching staff who have completed at least seven (7) consecutive years of experience in the Chelmsford Public Schools.

(Under certain circumstances the Committee may approve Sabbatical Leave for those with less than seven (7) consecutive years' experience in the system if the Committee deems this leave of significant value to the system).

20-02 Prior to the granting of such a Sabbatical Leave, the applicant shall enter into a written agreement with the Committee that upon the termination of such leave he/she will return to service in the Chelmsford Public Schools for a period equal to twice the length of such leave and that, in default of completing such service, he/she will refund to the Town of Chelmsford an

amount equal to such proportion of salary received by him/her while on leave as the amount of service not actually rendered as agreed bears to the whole amount of service which was agreed to be rendered. If his/her failure to serve in the Chelmsford Public Schools for a period equal to twice the length of his Sabbatical Leave following the official termination of such leave is due to his/her illness, disability, or death, or if he/she be discharged from his/her position by the Committee, recipient shall be released from the terms of the aforesaid agreement.

20-03 Applications for Sabbatical Leave shall be submitted to the Superintendent in writing, and in such form as may be required by the Superintendent no later than January 31. The applicant will be notified if his/her application has been approved by the following April!, of the school year previous to the school year for which the leave is being requested.

20-04 No more than five (5) Sabbatical Leaves of Absence shall be granted for any school year. In case the number of applications shall exceed the number of Sabbatical Leaves of Absence that the Committee plans to grant for a particular school year, the recommendation of the Superintendent shall be made on the basis of the value of the proposed leave to the educational system of Chelmsford.

20-05 During the course of a Sabbatical Leave, summary monthly reports of progress should be made to the Superintendent. Upon completion of a Sabbatical Leave, the recipient of the leave shall submit a comprehensive report to the Superintendent containing transcripts of all college or university work done while on leave or any other pertinent data or interpretive material considered essential to an evaluation of his/her program.

20-06 The period of time associated with the Sabbatical Leave shall be considered an equivalent period of regular professional service in the Chelmsford Public Schools for purposes of salary determination, and the scheduled annual increments will be given on this basis.

20-07 Recipients of Sabbatical Leave shall retain PTS status and all other prescribed rights or benefits which would otherwise be theirs if they were actively teaching in the -57-

Chelmsford Public Schools during the period of leave.

20-08 Sabbatical Leave of Absence may be continued with programs of study, research, writing, or travel which are financed by outside non-commercial agencies or organizations such as colleges, universities, or foundations.

20-09 A recipient of Sabbatical Leave must serve for an additional seven (7) consecutive years (under certain circumstances the requirement may be waived) of service in the Chelmsford Public Schools before being eligible for a second Sabbatical Leave.

20-10 Sabbatical Leave of Absence shall not be granted for less than one (1) full semester nor more than one (1) full school year.

20-11 Recipients shall be entitled to receive as compensation the amount of one-half (1/2) the salary which they would have earned in the service of the Chelmsford Public Schools if they had not been on Sabbatical Leave. "Salary" will be interpreted to mean the total annual salary, excluding any supplemental payments for special assignments such as extracurricular duties that they would have been paid for the particular year during which they were on Sabbatical Leave.

20-12 Recipients shall not engage in remunerative work while on leave except as hereinafter provided. Scholarships and fellowships in approved colleges and universities which do not interfere with the prescribed program of professional improvement are excepted. If other remunerative work is desired by the member of the teaching staff while on a Sabbatical Leave of Absence, arrangements satisfactory to the Superintendent shall be made.

20-13 Nothing in the Sabbatical Leave is to be interpreted as guaranteeing a Sabbatical Leave of Absence to any employee or group of employees, and the Committee reserves the right to limit the number of such leaves to be granted in any given school year.

-58-

ARTICLE 21 LEAVE FOR LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

21-01 The Committee agrees to provide without loss of pay the time necessary for appearance in any legal proceeding connected with the employee's service with the school system if the employee is required by State or Federal law to attend.

21-02 An employee in the bargaining unit called for jury duty shall be able to fulfill this duty without loss of benefits and will be paid by the Committee the difference between his/her regular pay during such period of time, and the compensation received for such duty from the appropriate governmental body upon presentation to the school system of evidence of such pay.

ARTICLE 22 LEAVE FOR RESERVE DUTY

22-01 A maximum of twenty (20) days per school year will be provided for persons called into temporary active duty of any unit of the U.S. Reserves or the State National Guard, provided such obligations cannot be fulfilled on days when school is not in session. Employees will be paid the difference between their regular pay and the pay which they receive from the State or Federal government.

ARTICLE 23 SUBSTITUTES

23-01 The Committee will make every reasonable effort to provide substitutes for all employees. In situations where substitutes are necessary, but not available, the Principal may assign an employee to use his/her preparation period for substituting. Such assignments shall be distributed equitably among all the employees in each school during the school year.

23-02 Employees will have a designated person to notify when substitute coverage is needed.

23-03 In the event an employee who has been appointed Principal's designee is required to fill in during a principal's absence for a full day, a substitute employee will be provided for that employee's classroom. Principals who plan to be absent for not more than a half day without a substitute will make every effort to return promptly at the previously scheduled time of return.

ARTICLE 24 PROTECTION

24-01 Employees will immediately report all cases of assault suffered by them in connection with their employment to their immediate supervisor and the Superintendent in writing.

24-02 This report will be forwarded to the Committee which will comply with any reasonable request from the employee for information in its possession relating to the incident or the persons involved, and will act in appropriate ways as liaison between the employee, the police and the courts.

ARTICLE 25 WORKER'S COMPENSATION

25-01 Employees will continue to be covered by the Workers Compensation Act as amended from time to time, on account of employment-related illness or injury.

25-02 An employee receiving workers' compensation may supplement sick payments with paid sick leave, drawn from his or her individual sick leave account, which, when added to worker's compensation, would equal the regular salary payment of the injured or ill employee. However, any employee who is absent because of injury or illness resulting from an assault and battery suffered by such employee in connection with employment in the Chelmsford School System, such salary supplement to workers' compensation shall be provided by the Committee with no chargeback against the individual employee's sick leave.

25-03 Medical expenses will be reimbursed to the full extent provided by Workers' Compensation.

ARTICLE 26 INSURANCE AND ANNUITY

26-01 The Committee agrees to continue to provide the employee with the same Health and Insurance Plan as provided Town employees. The premiums and benefits under these plans are administered by the Board of Selectmen, the Authorizing Agent.

The Committee will reimburse nurses for the full premium of their occupational liability insurance for each school year, at current coverage levels, understood to be \$1,000,000.

26-02 If the Town, by a change in the Town By-Laws, provides additional insurance programs for Town employees, or agrees to pay a larger share of the premiums, then such improvements will be granted to employees represented by the Union at the same time.

26-03 During the summer months of July and August, health coverage will be provided for all employees who complete the school year on the same basis as it is provided during the school year.

26-04 Employees will be eligible to participate in a Tax Sheltered Annuity Plan established pursuant to United States Public Law No, 87-370. The Committee agrees to deduct from employees' salaries the premium payment for tax sheltered annuities in specified amounts when requested in writing by the employee.

26-05 Payroll deductions shall be made available to those employees who wish to participate in the following programs:

a. Tax Sheltered Annuity Plan established pursuant to U.S. Public Law 87-370.

b. Payroll deduction plans sponsored by the Union for the purpose of savings, loan repayments, and mortgage payments, Committee on Political Education and Massachusetts Federal Credit Union.

ARTICLE 27 NO STRIKE

27-01 For the period of this Agreement, no employee nor the Union nor any officers thereof shall engage in, induce, or encourage any strike, work stoppage, slow down or withholding of services by any such employee or employees or by any other employees.

ARTICLE 28 PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

28-01 The Committee and the Union agree that if employees are to maintain their competence as educators and continue to contribute effectively to the Chelmsford School System, employees should undertake professional development on a continuing basis. Workshops, seminars, conferences, and in-service training activities will be scheduled for the achieving of this goal.

-62-

There shall be at least five (5) early release days scheduled for professional development for teachers in grades K-4. There shall be at least six (6) early release days scheduled for professional development for teachers in Grades 5-12. Effective September 1, 2011, attendance at the full professional development day and each early release day designated for professional development shall be required.

A district-wide collaborative Professional Development Committee (PDC) will be established for the purpose of planning workshops, seminars, conferences, and in-service training activities. The PDC shall be comprised of employees selected by the Federation president and administrators selected by the superintendent. The PDC shall identify offerings that satisfy both ongoing school department and employee needs.

a. These in-service training programs and institutes shall be one way in which employees satisfy the requirement in Article 4-09(b)

b. The Committee agrees to compensate any employee for all reasonable expenses in connection with any workshop, seminar, or conference which the Committee may require the employee to attend or for which the employee may request and be granted permission by the Superintendent to attend; however, an employee may waive any such expense items upon agreement in advance between the employee and the responsible administrator.

28-02 Another way for employees to maintain their competence as educators and to contribute effectively to the Chelmsford School System is by taking college courses.

a. The administration may request at its expense that a staff member enroll in specific credit courses so that s/he might:

1. Fill certain academic or professional needs;

 Achieve preparation standards which are mandated by curriculum revisions. None of the money shall be deducted from money available under 28-03.

-63-

b. Employees taking course work which they request to improve their performance and thus improve the educational system of Chelmsford and which courses are approved in advance by the Superintendent, shall be reimbursed at 75% of the cost of tuition and fees, up to the maximum level of 75% of the UMass Lowell rate for tuition and fees for a 3-credit course, provided the following terms and conditions are met:

1. That an employee has completed one year of teaching school in Chelmsford Schools.

2. That evidence of successful completion of the approved courses and payment of college tuition must be submitted to the Office of the Superintendent of Schools with the request for the allowed tuition reimbursement.

3. That for reimbursement purposes, each employee may apply for up to three (3) college courses (9 credits on a 3-credit system and 12 credits on a 4-credit system) per academic year, but not more than two (2) such courses during any one time period as set forth in Section 28-03. Employees requesting two (2) such courses during one time period shall be approved for reimbursement for the second course if funds remain for that term after all employees requesting reimbursement for funding their first course that term have been approved.

4. In order to distribute reimbursement money equitably among applicants, the following rules will apply:

i.) Step 1. Within each term, first priority will be given to employees who were not funded in the previous contract year or in a preceding term of the present year (Pool A).

 ii) Step 2. Within Pool A, first priority will be given to people who are taking courses to attain preliminary, initial or professional licensure, in order of date of application receipt. (Pool A-1).

iii) Step 3. After licensure needs have been met, the remaining people in

-64-

Pool A will be approved for reimbursement in order of date of application receipt. (Pool A-2). Any teacher from Pool A-1 or A-2 who is not funded will be given priority consideration in his/her pool for one of the remaining terms of the contract year.

iv) Step 4. If there are remaining funds, they will next be available to Pool B
 applicants (those that had received reimbursement in the previous year or in a previous term of the
 present year.) Within Pool B, priority will be given to people who are working to attain
 preliminary, initial or professional licensure, in the order of date of application receipt. (Pool B-1).
 After licensure needs have been met, the remaining people in Pool B will be approved for
 reimbursement, in the order of date of receipt. (Pool B-2).

v) Step 5. If money is left over, it will roll over to the next term within the same contract year.

vi) For purposes of determining the date of receipt, applications for course reimbursement will be date-stamped in the Central Administration Curriculum Office located in the Superintendent's office. In the event that funds are insufficient to cover all applicants having applied on the same date, reimbursement will be awarded by lottery.

5. That military veterans and others who are taking courses of study at institutions of higher learning in which they are privileged by exemption from tuition charges shall not be further reimbursed under this policy.

6. That teachers have applied for course approval not sooner than the dates listed below, nor later than 30 days after the date listed.

Summer Term II:	May 15
Fall Term:	July 15
Spring Term:	November 15
Summer Term I:	March 15

28-03 The Committee's obligation for tuition reimbursement to teachers eligible under 28-02(b) is limited to sixty thousand dollars (\$60,000.00) per contract year. Forty percent (40%) of the total allocation shall be reserved for Summer Term II commencing in July, and twenty-five percent (25%) of the total allocation shall be reserved for both the fall term (September through December) and the spring term (January through June). The remaining ten percent (10%) shall be reserved for Summer Term I (May-June.)

28-04 Any portion of the maximum amount of the fund for tuition reimbursement not spent previously or encumbered for use in the summer session by June 1, shall be used by the Committee for funding in-service training programs created by the Chelmsford Public Schools during the summer, or for courses, institutes, workshops or programs offered under other auspices but considered by the School Committee to be of particular value to the Chelmsford School System.

28-05 In order to receive reimbursement for approved course work taken, an employee must request reimbursement for summer courses by October 1 of the year in which the work was completed; March 15 for the previous fall's course work and July 1 for spring course work, or within thirty (30) days of receipt of grades.

28-06 Those who have been laid off and while they remain on the recall list shall be entitled to seventy-five percent (75%) reimbursement of courses necessary to be recertified or rehired under the terms and limitations of Article 28-02.

-66-

ARTICLE 29 DUES DEDUCTION

29-01. Effective September 1, 2011, any employee who does not become a member of the Union shall be required to pay, as a condition of employment, an agency fee which shall be determined annually and shall be in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 150E, Section 12.

29-02. The Union shall give employees who have failed to pay such fee to the Union, or to authorize deductions, written notice of at least thirty (30) days before seeking disciplinary action against the employee for failure to pay the agency fee.

29-03. In the event that any bargaining unit member fails to either maintain his/her membership in the Union or fails to pay the required agency fee, the Committee shall, upon written notice from the Union, take all appropriate steps to enforce Section 29.01, consistent with the requirements of state law and regulations.

29-04 The Committee agrees to deduct from each employee's salary a single deduction for dues or agency fee for the union as said employee individually and voluntarily authorizes the Committee to make such deduction. The Committee will transmit said monies deducted to the Treasurer of the Chelmsford Federation of Teachers, Local3569. The Chelmsford Federation of Teachers will be responsible for the allocation of monies deducted to the appropriate Union or Unions. Employees' authorization will be in writing on the authorization card provided by the Union.

29-05 Deductions referred to in 29-01 above will be made in equal installments. The employee's authorization card will be received by the Committee no later than two (2) weeks prior to the distribution of the payroll from which the deduction is made.

29-06 These deductions may be terminated by notifying the Committee in writing not later than sixty (60) calendar days in advance of its effective date of such discontinuance or upon termination of employment.

-67-

ARTICLE 30 DETENTION DUTY

30-01 Detention duty at the High School and Middle Schools will be taken by employees selected by the Principal from a list of volunteer employees.

30-02 Employees assuming this responsibility will be compensated at a rate set forth in Appendix B.

30-03 Should sufficient qualified employees fail to volunteer, the Principal shall assign employees to detention duty on a rotating schedule and such employees shall be compensated as stated in 30-02.

ARTICLE 31 DOUBLE SESSIONS

31-01 Employees in a particular school will not, if that school goes on double sessions, be required to work longer than other employees on double sessions at the same academic level.

In the event of emergency requiring double sessions, the Chelmsford Federation of Employees shall be consulted as soon as practicable after the occurrence of the emergency. During such consultation, such scheduling as is determined by the School Committee to meet the emergency shall continue. If the emergency shall continue beyond a period of two (2) weeks or if double sessions shall be permanent as a result of the nature of the emergency, negotiations for permanent changes of scheduling necessary to effect double sessions shall commence immediately. Until such negotiations result in agreement, the School Committee's determination of scheduling practices shall govern.

ARTICLE 32 PUPIL MATERIALS

32-01 Where the curriculum advocates classroom use of prescribed textbooks, workbooks, and other prescribed educational materials, the Committee guarantees it will make all reasonable efforts to provide said materials at least one (1) per child.

32-02 Purchase of incidental materials not supplied by the school system but required and specifically authorized by the appropriate coordinator or principal shall be reimbursable. Reimbursement shall be made through the normal warrant process.

ARTICLE 33 EFFECTS OF AGREEMENT

33-01 This instrument constitutes the entire Agreement of the Committee and the Union arrived at as a result of collective bargaining negotiations, except such amendments hereto as shall have been reduced to writing and signed by the parties.

33-02 The parties acknowledge that during the negotiations which resulted in this Agreement each had the unlimited right and opportunity to make demands with respect to any subject matter not removed by law from the area of collective bargaining, and that the understanding and agreements arrived at by the parties after the exercise of that right and opportunity are set forth in this Agreement. Therefore, the Committee and the Union for the life of this Agreement each voluntarily and unqualifiedly waives the right, and each agrees that the other shall not be obligated, to bargain collectively with respect to any subject matter referred to or covered by this Agreement or with respect to any subject matter not specifically referred to or covered in this Agreement even though such subjects or matters may not have been within the knowledge or contemplations of either or both parties at the time that they negotiated or signed this Agreement, except as specified in paragraph 31-01. This Agreement may be amended in writing at any time by mutual consent.

-69-

33-03 Any waiver or breach of a condition of this Agreement by either party shall not constitute a precedent with respect to future enforcement of all the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

33-04 No provision of this Agreement shall be retroactive to the effective date unless otherwise specifically stated herein.

33-05 The terms of the Agreement are not applicable to any employee included within the bargaining unit while engaged in after-school teaching, tutorial or summer program, except as set forth in paragraphs: 4-03(c), 4-05, 4-06, 4-08, 4-11, 11-10, or while such employee is engaged in coaching, intramural or extra-curricular activities except for the salaries for such activities as set forth on coaching, extra-curricular and intramural salary schedules, or while engaged in a federal program except as set forth in paragraph 11-10 and except as specified in paragraph 34-09a regarding work performed in programs listed in Appendix F.

ARTICLE 34 GENERAL

34-01 If any provision of this Agreement or any part thereof, shall finally be held illegal as a matter of law, in proceeding where such determination is permitted, in such event, such provision or any part thereof will be deemed invalid, but all other provisions shall continue in full force and effect. Provided that such provision or part thereof, declared illegal as a matter of law, is otherwise a permissive or mandatory subject of bargaining, the parties shall meet promptly to negotiate replacement language, notwithstanding the provisions of section 33-02. A failure to agree on replacement language shall not be subject to the grievance and arbitration provisions of this contract.

34-02 The Union will be provided with access to approved minutes of School Committee meetings and given or mailed a copy of the official agenda of the meeting as soon as available. The Union agrees to reciprocate with agenda and minutes of its meetings.

-70-

34-03 The Committee will comply with reasonable requests to provide the Union, within ten (10) school days from the receipt of such request, with available documents which may be required by the Union to develop proposals for negotiations or to process existing grievances under this Agreement. Such documents shall not be of a personal or confidential nature.

34-04 This Agreement will be made available to Federation members electronically. One (1) hard copy of this Agreement will be made available in each school building. The Agreement will also be made available through the CPS Intranet.

34-05 Members of the Chelmsford Federation of Teachers' Representative Council will be released at pupil departure time once a month to attend monthly Council meetings.

34-06 Administrators shall not perform bargaining unit work except:

a. in an emergency on a temporary basis, or

b. in a situation where employing a certified new employee is impracticable or such employee is unavailable provided:

1. no bargaining unit employee loses a position;

2. there is no bargaining unit employee, then working in the school system (including a less than full-time employee) who is certified and available to perform such work;

3. the school system shall continue to advertise and post for a new employee to commence work as soon as is practicable.

In no event, shall an administrator, doing such work, be credited with seniority for such bargaining unit work in any future employment as a bargaining unit employee.

34-07 <u>Labor Management Committee</u>: There shall be a Labor Management Committee (hereinafter referred to as LMC) consisting of the Superintendent of Schools or his/her designee, one member appointed by the School Committee and two (2) members appointed by the Chelmsford Federation of Teachers. The LMC shall meet periodically to discuss matters of mutual concern. In the event the LMC shall agree on a recommendation concerning such matter(s), the LMC shall transmit that recommendation to the parties for negotiations. If both parties agree to negotiate, the collective bargaining representatives shall meet within thirty (30) days after receiving said recommendation. If the parties do not agree to negotiate, the issue shall be remanded to the LMC for continued discussion.

If any agreement shall be reached by the collective bargaining representatives, it shall be reduced to writing and, after ratification by both parties, shall be executed and amended to the Collective Bargaining Agreement between the parties.

34-08 Two blank slots on pay stubs for bargaining unit personnel will be made available to the Union for not more than one vendor per slot.

34-09 Appendix and Issues

a. The Committee shall provide payroll deductions of employee retirement contributions from wages paid to employees for work performed pursuant to APPENDIX F and shall remit such contributions to the applicable retirement system to the extent permitted by law.

b. The Union acknowledges that it does not represent employees for the purpose of negotiating wages, hours and conditions of employment or any other bargaining subject at any of the child care, summer school or adult educational programs for listed in APPENDIX F. The Union agrees to indemnify the Committee against any financial liability relating to such payroll deductions or retirement contributions in the event of subsequent rulings by the TRB that such contributions are not permitted by law.

34-10 Effective July 1, 2013, all new hires shall be required to use direct deposit to receive their paycheck.

-72-

ARTICLE 35 <u>JOB SHARING</u>

Job sharing shall be defined as the allocation of the duties, salary, and benefits of one full-time teaching position between two employees.

Job sharing will be considered as a pilot program for the Chelmsford Public Schools under the following circumstances:

Employees interested in job sharing shall submit a written proposal to the Principal which, if approved, will be forwarded to the Superintendent no later than March I of the school year preceding the school year during which the job is to be shared. The proposal shall identify the following:

The position to be shared;

The manner in which the job is to be shared; for example, the percentage of the job each is to work. A daily and/or weekly work schedule;

Any other relevant information. For example, how employees will communicate with each other; how preparation periods will be divided;

A plan for the effective implementation of curriculum, instruction and assessment, focused on producing excellent learning results for students.

The proposal shall be reviewed by the Superintendent and/or his designee. The employees shall be notified in writing of the decision no later than March 15th. The decision whether or not to allow the job sharing shall not be grievable or arbitrable.

To be considered, a job sharing plan must meet the following criteria:

1. Both employees must have PTS in order to apply. Employees not eligible for PTS by statute may apply after three years of successful service.

2. The job-share shall be limited to two employees. Classroom teachers in grades 1-4 must teach every school day. Classroom teachers in grades 5-12 will teach the same students continuously for the duration of the course.

3. Job-share partners must demonstrate how they will divide responsibilities by subjects, as well as by time.

4. Job shares may not be a 50-50 split.

In the first year of a job-share, a review shall be done by the Principal by February 1st to determine the success of the job-share. If it is deemed unsuccessful, it shall be terminated at the end of that academic year, with both parties returning to full-time teaching/work;

however, normal Reduction in Force rules will apply (See Article 11-05).

If either party wishes to return to full-time work, the job share will be dissolved as of the end of that academic year. The Principal must be notified of intent to dissolve by February 15th.

If the proposal is approved, the following conditions shall apply:

1. Both employees shall work the first day of the employees' work year. Both employees shall work the first, second, and last day of the student year.

2. Both employees shall attend the Open House evening.

3. Both employees shall attend all contractual parent conferences.

4. Both employees shall mark report cards together and attend conferences together.

5. Both employees shall attend in-service days meetings.

6. Both employees shall attend 504/IEP Team meetings and/or share pertinent information.

7. Both employees shall attend contractual monthly meetings.

8. In the event that one of the employees is absent, the other employee shall make every reasonable effort to cover the class. On such days, the partner shall be paid at the substitute rate of pay for the time covered.

The partner employees shall be entitled to all contractual rights and privileges.
 Where applicable, salaries and benefits shall be pro-rated.

-74-

- 10. The job sharing arrangement shall last not less than one school year.
- 11. Any changes to the job-share plan must be approved by the building Principal and the Superintendent.

SIGNATURES

8

This Agreement has been duly executed by the authorized representative of the Committee and the

September ,2014. Union on this date _ of ,

Chelmsford School Committee

an Lora

Chelmsford Federation Of Teachers

EXHIBI	TA	Received by:
		Date:
GRIEVANCE FORM		
Grievant		
Work Site	Job Class	sification
Grievance filed with	_ Job Class	sification
Identify the date(s) alleged incident(s) occurred, spe witness(es), if any:	cific facts that l	ed to the grievances, and
Article(s), policy(ies) and/or practice(s) violated:		- -
Remedy sought:		
Signed: Grievant	Signed:	For the Union
Copy to: 1. Employee/Grievant 2. Grievance Committee		

.

APPENDIX A SALARY SCHEDULE

Year 20	Year 2013-2014					
Step	B.A.	<u>M.A</u>	M.A.+30	CAGS	PhD	LPN*
1	41,647	46,192	48,469	50,218	51,384	33,318
2	41,647	46,192	48,469	50,218	51,384	33,318
3	44,349	49,051	51,347	53,096	53,736	35,479
4	46,871	51,597	54,224	55,702	56,585	37,497
5	49,685	54,236	57,104	58,291	59,436	39,748
6	52,497	57,065	59,981	61,131	62,286	41,998
7	55,311	59,894	62,756	63,982	65,137	44,249
8	58,127	62,724	65,344	66,833	67,987	
9	60,938	65,553	67,951	69,682	70,837	
10	63,755	68,382	70,802	72,535	73,689	
11	65,371	69,997	73,108	74,151	75,306	
12	66,814	71,672	74,586	76,335	76,749	
13	68,315	73,657	76,103	77,851	78,250	

Year 20	Year 2014-2015						
Step	B.A.	M.A	M.A.+30	CAGS	PhD	LPN*	
1	42,805	47,509	49,923	51,534	52,925	34,244	
2	45,236	50,069	52,887	54,158	55,348	36,189	
3	47,809	52,629	55,851	56,816	58,283	38,247	
4	50,679	55,321	58,731	59,456	61,219	40,543	
5	53,547	58,207	61,371	62,354	64,155	42,838	
6	56,418	61,092	64,011	65,262	67,091	45,134	
7	59,289	63,979	66,651	68,169	70,027		
8	62,157	66,864	69,310	71,076	72,962		
9	65,030	69,749	72,218	73,985	75,900		
10	66,679	71,397	74,570	75,634	77,565		
11	68,151	73,106	76,824	77,862	79,051		
1.2	69,681	75,665	78,386	80,186	80,597		

Year 20	015-2016					
Step	B.A.	M.A	M.A.+30	CAGS	PhD	LPN*
1	43,661	48,460	51,828	52,565	55,466	34,929
2	46,141	51,070	54,521	55,258	58,262	36,912
3	48,620	53,681	57,213	57,952	61,057	38,896
4	51,099	56,292	59,906	60,646	63,852	40,879
5	53,578	58,903	62,599	63,339	66,647	42,863
6	56,418	61,514	65,291	66,033	69,443	45,134
7	59,289	64,124	67,984	68,727	72,238	47,431
8	62,157	66,864	70,677	71,420	75,033	
9	65,030	69,749	73,369	74,114	77,828	
10	66,679	71,957	76,062	76,808	80,623	
11	68,454	74,568	78,755	79,501	83,419	
12	70,933	77,178	81,447	82,195	86,214	

LPN* Includes the following:

Tech Assistants, Library Aides, ELL Assistants, Assistant Occupational Therapists, Supervisor of Students HS/MS.

APPENDIX B

DEPARTMENT HEADS	Effective 7/1/13	Effective 7/1/14	Effective 7/1/15
DEFARIMENT MEADS	//1/15	//1/14	11115
TEACHERS SUPERVISED 0-9	\$4,118	\$4,200	\$4,284
TEACHERS SUPERVISED10-14	\$4,700	\$4,794	\$4,890
TEACHERS SUPERVISED 15-19	\$5,286	\$5,392	\$5,500
TEACHERS SUPERVISED 20+	\$5,868	\$5,985	\$6,105
MATH CURRICULUM SPEC. K-12	\$5,868	\$5,985	\$6,105
ATHLETIC DEPT. SUPERVISOR	\$11,456	\$11,685	\$11,919
ACTIVITIES DIRECTOR	\$1,455	\$1,484	\$1,514
MISCELLANEOUS ANNUAL STIPEND			
AND SALARY SCHEDULE			
HOURLY RATES			
SCHOOL NURSE RATES	\$25.24	\$25.75	\$26.26
HOME TUTORING	\$36.94	\$37.68	\$38.43
DETENTION SUPERVISORS	\$36.94	\$37.68	\$38.43
YEARLY RATES			
TEAM LEADERS - ELEMENTARY	\$1,111	\$1,133	\$1,156
TEAM LEADERS - Elem. Specialists	\$1,111	\$1,133	\$1,156
MIDDLE SCHOOL FACILITATOR	\$1,111	\$1,133	\$1,156
SUBJECT CHAIRPERSONS	\$1,111	\$1,133	\$1,156
PRINCIPALS DESIGNEE	\$1,111	\$1,133	\$1,156
MENTOR - ONE TEACHER	\$1,200	\$1,224	\$1,249
MENTOR - TWO TEACHERS	\$1,472	\$1,502	\$1,532
MENTOR - THREE TEACHERS	\$1,766	\$1,801	\$1,837
MENTOR FACILITATOR	\$1,178	\$1,201	\$1,225
ENGLISH BOOK CLOSET	\$1,206	\$1,231	\$1,255
SCIENCE SAFETY SUPERVISOR	\$4,224	\$4,309	\$4,395
(CHS) plus 2 per diem days		\$0	\$0
PEER MENTORING ADVISOR	\$1,198	\$1,222	\$1,247

APPENDIX C - ATHLETIC S	ALARY SCHEDULE	Effective 7/1/13	Effective 7/1/14	Effective 7/1/15
FALL SPORT	POSITION			
FOOTBALL	HEAD COACH	\$9,385	\$9,573	\$9,764
FOOTBALL	ASSISTANT	\$4,725	\$4,819	\$4,916
FOOTBALL	ASSISTANT	\$4,725	\$4,819	\$4,916
FOOTBALL	ASSISTANT	\$4,725	\$4,819	\$4,916
FOOTBALL	ASSISTANT	\$4,725	\$4,819	\$4,916
FOOTBALL	ASSISTANT	\$4,725	\$4,819	\$4,916
FOOTBALL	ASSISTANT	\$4,725 \$4,725	\$4,819	\$4,916
FOOTBALL		Ψ-1912-2-2-2-	ψ4,012	ψ-1,210
FOOTBALL	Freshman Head Coach	\$3,256	\$3,321	\$3,387
FOOTBALL	Freshman Assistant	\$1,746	\$1,781	\$1,817
FOOTBALL	Freshman Assistant	\$1,432	\$1,461	\$1,490
SOCCER (B)	HEAD COACH	\$4,783	\$4,878	\$4,976
SOCCER (B)	JUNIOR VARSITY A	\$3,419	\$3,487	\$3,557
SOCCER (B)	JUNIOR VARSITY B	\$2,963	\$3,022	\$3,083
SOCCER (D)	JUNIOR VARSITT B	لان روسرب	φοιγομμ	φ5,005
CROSS COUNTRY (B)	HEAD COACH	\$3,052	\$3,113	\$3,175
CROSS COUNTRY	ASSISTANT	\$3,046	\$3,106	\$3,169
FIELD HOCKEY	HEAD COACH	\$4,783	\$4,878	\$4,976
FIELD HOCKEY	JUNIOR VARSITY A	\$3,419	\$3,487	\$3,557
FIELD HOCKEY	JUNIOR VARSITY B	\$2,963	\$3,022	\$3,083
VOLLEYBALL (G)	HEAD COACH	\$4,783	\$4,878	\$4,976
VOLLEYBALL (G)	JUNIOR VARSITY A	\$3,419	\$3,487	\$3,557
VOLLEYBALL (G)	JUNIOR VARSITY B	\$2,963	\$3,022	\$3,083
SOCCER (G)	HEAD COACH	\$4,783	\$4,878	\$4,976
SOCCER (G)	JUNIOR VARSITY A	\$3,419	\$3,487	\$3,557
SOCCER (G)	JUNIOR VARSITY B	\$2,963	\$3,022	\$3,083
CROSS COUNTRY (G)	HEAD COACH	\$3,052	\$3,113	\$3,175
CROSS COUNTRY (G)	ASSISTANT	\$3,046	\$3,106	\$3,169
		, -	,.,	, . <u>,</u>
SWIMMING (G)	HEAD COACH	\$3,362	\$3,429	\$3,498
SWIMMING (G)	ASSISTANT	\$2,735	\$2,790	\$2,846
SWIMMING (G)	JUNIOR VARSITY	\$1,420	\$1,448	\$1,477
DIVING (G)	ASSISTANT	\$1,394	\$1,422	\$1,450
GOLF	HEAD COACH	\$3,052	\$3,113	\$3,175
CHEERLEADERS	HEAD	\$3,362	\$3,429	\$3,498
CHEERLEADERS	ASSISTANT	\$2,893	\$2,951	\$3,010
CARACTERSKI, SA SIRSI	AND A CALVE	Ψ = ,020	~~~~~~	40,010
WT.RM.SUPERVISOR(fall)		\$1,019	\$1,039	\$1,060

		Effective	Effective	Effective
WINTER SPORT	POSITION	7/1/13	7/1/14	7/1/15
WINIER SPORT	rosition			
BASKETBALL(B)	HEAD COACH	\$6,780	\$6,916	\$7,054
BASKETBALL(B)	JUNIOR VARSITY	\$4,828	\$4,925	\$5,023
BASKETBALL(B)	FRESHMEN	\$4,166	\$4,249	\$4,334
WRESTLING	HEAD COACH	\$6,780	\$6,916	\$7,054
WRESTLING	ASSISTANT	\$4,113	\$4,195	\$4,279 # 4,279
WRESTLING	ASSISTANT	\$4,113	\$4,195 #758	\$4,279 \$772
WRESTLING	PRACTICE ASST.	\$743	\$758	\$773
ICE HOCKEY (B)	HEAD COACH	\$6,780	\$6,916	\$7,054
ICE HOCKEY (B)	ASSISTANT	\$4,828	\$4,925	\$5,023
	JUNIOR VARSITY		•	
ICE HOCKEY (B)	A	\$2,151	\$2,194	\$2,238
YOU HOOVEN (B)	JUNIOR VARSITY	<u> ሰዓ 1</u> 51	63 10 4	40.000
ICE HOCKEY (B)	B	\$2,151	\$2,194	\$2,238
SWIMMING (B)	HEAD COACH	\$3,362	\$3,429	\$3,498
SWIMMING (B)	ASSISTANT	\$2,735	\$2,790	\$2,846
DIVING (B)	ASSISTANT	\$1,394	\$1,422	\$1,450
INDOOR TRACK (B)	HEAD COACH	\$5,536	\$5,647	\$5,759
INDOOR TRACK (B)	ASSISTANT	\$3,419	\$3,487	\$3,557
INDOOR TRACK (B)	ASSISTANT	\$3,419	\$3,487	\$3,557
		<u>ቀረ </u>	\$6.016	<u> ሰም ሰም 4</u>
BASKETBALL (G)	HEAD COACH	\$6,780 \$4,828	\$6,916 \$4,925	\$7,054 \$5,022
BASKETBALL (G)	JUNIOR VARSITY FRESHMEN	\$4,828 \$4,166	\$4,925 \$4,249	\$5,023 \$4,334
BASKETBALL (G)	PRESIMIEN	φ 4 ,100	94,447	Φ 4 ,334
GYMNASTICS	HEAD COACH	\$4,918	\$5,016	\$5,116
GYMNASTICS	ASSISTANT	\$2,735	\$2,790	\$2,846
INDOOR TRACK (G)	HEAD COACH	\$5,536	\$5,647	\$5,759
INDOOR TRACK (G)	ASSISTNAT	\$2,929	\$2,988	\$3,047
		ቀረ ማ በሳ	\$ C 01C	ф п . 6. г. 4
ICE HOCKEY (G)	HEAD COACH ASSISTANT	\$6,780 \$4,829	\$6,916 \$4,925	\$7,054 \$5,022
ICE HOCKEY (G)		\$4,828 \$2,151	\$4,925 \$2,104	\$5,023 \$2,228
ICE HOCKEY (G)	JUNIOR VARSITY	\$2,151	\$2,194	\$2,238
SKI RACING (B/G)	HEAD COACH	\$3,052	\$3,113	\$3,175
		42,002	4-9224	40 ja i m
CHEERLEADERS	HEAD COACH	\$3,362	\$3,429	\$3,498
CHEERLEADERS	ASSISTANT	\$1,177	\$1,200	\$1,224
WT.RM.SUPERVISOR(winter	•)	\$1,019	\$1,039	\$1,060

		Effective 7/1/13	Effective 7/1/14	Effective 7/1/15
SPRING SPORT	POSITION	//1/15	// 1/ 14	11115
BASEBALL	HEAD COACH	\$5,851	\$5,968	\$6,087
BASEBALL	JUNIOR VARSITY	\$4,167	\$4,250	\$4,335
BASEBALL	FRESHMEN	\$3,608	\$3,680	\$3,754
TENNIS (B)	HEAD COACH	\$3,362	\$3,429	\$3,498
TENNIS (G)	HEAD COACH	\$3,362	\$3,429	\$3,498
BOYS TRACK AND FIELD	HEAD COACH	\$4,918	\$5,016	\$5,116
BOYS TRACK AND FIELD	ASSISTANT	\$3,352	\$3,419	\$3,487
BOYS TRACK AND FIELD	ASSISTANT	\$3,352	\$3,419	\$3,487
BOYS TRACK AND FIELD	ASSISTANT .5	\$1,675	\$1,709	\$1,743
GIRLS TRACK AND FIELD	HEAD COACH	\$4,918	\$5,016	\$5,116
GIRLS TRACK AND FIELD	ASSISTANT	\$3,352	\$3,419	\$3,487
GIRLS TRACK AND FIELD	ASSISTANT .5	\$1,675	\$1,709	\$1,743
GIRLS TRACK AND FIELD	PRACTICE ASST.	\$656	\$669	\$683
VOLLEYBALL (B)	HEAD COACH	\$4,783	\$4,878	\$4,976
VOLLEYBALL (B)	JUNIOR VARSITY	\$3,419	\$3,487	\$3,557
SOFTBALL	HEAD COACH	\$5,851	\$5,968	\$6,087
SOFTBALL	JUNIOR VARSITY	\$4,167	\$4,250	\$4,335
SOFTBALL	FRESHMEN	\$3,608	\$3,680	\$3,754
LACROSSE (B)	HEAD COACH	\$5,851	\$5,968	\$6,087
LACROSSE (B)	ASSISTANT	\$3,608	\$3,680	\$3,754
LACROSSE (B)	JVA	\$2,083	\$2,125	\$2,167
LACROSSE (B)	JVB	\$2,083	\$2,125	\$2,167
LACROSSE (G)	HEAD COACH	\$5,851	\$5,968	\$6,087
LACROSSE (G)	JVA	\$4,167	\$4,250	\$4,335
LACROSSE (G)	JVB	\$3,608	\$3,680	\$3,754
WT.RM.SUPERVISOR(spring)	\$1,019	\$1,039	\$1,060
ATHLETIC				
TRAINER(annual)	HEAD	\$14,125	\$14,408	\$14,696
	ASSISTANT	\$6,799	\$6,935	\$7,074
EQUIPMENT MANAGER (an	nual)	\$4,918	\$5,016	\$5,116
WT.RM.SUPERVISOR (summ	er)	\$1,640	\$1,673	\$1,707

First year coaches will receive 90% of the above salaries Second year coaches will receive 95% of the above salaries

Third year and over will receive 100% of the above salaries.

\$3,091 is set aside for extended play.

No coach can receive more than 10% of basic stipend of the extended season.

APPENDIX D	Effective	Effective	Effective
	7/1/13	7/1/14	7/1/15
INTRAMURAL SPORT SALARY - HOURLY STIPEND	\$25.64	\$26.16	\$26.68

,

APPENDIX E - STIPENDS

LEVELS:

- 1A WEEKLY ACTIVITY
- 1B WEEKLY ACTIVITIES PLUS ADDITIONAL RESPONSIBILITIES
- 1C WEEKLY ACTIVITIES + ADDITIONAL COMMITMENTS & EXTENDED RESPONSIBILITIES 2A PERFORMANCE COMPETITIVE ACTIVITIES
- PERFORMANCE ACTIVITIES PLUS EXTENDED
- 2B RESPONSIBILITIES

2C PERFORMANCE ACTIVITIES PLUS EXTENDED RESPONSIBILITIES & HIGH VISIBILITY

CHELMSF	ORD HIGH SCHOOL	2013-2014 Stipend	2014-2015 Stipend	2015-2016 Stipend
LEVEL		-	·	-
1 A	WEEKLY ACTIVITIES			
HIGH SCH	IOOL			
	Art Club	1,198	1,222	1,246
	Best Buddies	1,198	1,222	1,246
	Best Buddies	1,198	1,222	1,246
	French Honor Society	1,198	1,222	1,246
	Latin Honor Society	1,198	1,222	1,246
	LIME	1,198	1,222	1,246
	LIME	1,198	1,222	1,246
	National Honor Society	1,198	1,222	1,246
	National Honor Society	1,198	1,222	1,246
	Role Playing Club	1,198	1,222	1,246
	Ski Club	1,198	1,222	1,246
	Spanish Honor Society	1,198	1,222	1,246
	Thomas Jefferson Forum	1,198	1,222	1,246
	Tri-M Honor Society	1,198	1,222	1,246
	Future Teachers/Amer.	1,198	1,222	1,246
	Key Club	1,198	1,222	1,246
	Speech & Debate Team	1,198	1,222	1,246
	Students with Disabilities Coor.	1,198	1,222	1,246
	SUB-TOTAL	21,564	21,995	22,435
				*
	Gay/Straight Alliance(grant)	1,312	1,338	1,365
	Gay/Straight Alliance(grant)	1,312	1,325	1,312

LEVEL

1B: WEEKLY ACTIVITIES PLUS ADDITIONAL RESPONSIBILITIES

HIGH SCHOOL

Freshman Class Advisor	1,598	1,630	1,663
Freshman Class Advisor	1,598	1,630	1,663
International Relations	1,598	1,630	1,663
Junior Class Advisor	1,598	1,630	1,663
Junior Class Advisor	1,598	1,630	1,663
Rufus Porter Society	1,598	1,630	1,663
Peer Tutoring	1,598	1,630	1,663
Live Smart	1,598	1,630	1,663
Mock Trial	1,598	1,630	1,663
Sophomore Class Advisor	1,598	1,630	1, 6 63
Dance Team	1,598	1,630	1,663
SUB-TOTAL	17,578	17,930	18,289

LEVEL

WEEKLY ACTIVITIES PLUS ADDITIONAL COMMITMENTS & EXTENDED RESPONSIBILITIES 1C: **HIGH SCHOOL**

0.065	2 210	2,356
,	•	
2,265	2,310	2,356
2,265	2,310	2,356
2,265	2,310	2,356
2,265	2,310	2,356
2,265	2,310	2,356
2,265	2,310	2,356
2,265	2,310	2,356
2,265	2,310	2,356
2,265	2,310	2,356
22,648	23,101	23,563
	2,265 2,265 2,265 2,265 2,265 2,265 2,265 2,265	2,2652,3102,2652,3102,2652,3102,2652,3102,2652,3102,2652,3102,2652,3102,2652,3102,2652,3102,2652,3102,2652,3102,2652,3102,2652,310

CHELMSFORD HIGH SCHOOL

LEVEL

2A	PERFORMANCE COMPETITIVE ACTIVITIES
HIGH SC	CHOOL

SUB-TOTAL	8,651	8,824	9,001
Robotics	1,730	1,765	1,800
Robotics	1,730	1,765	1,800
Drama Club Asst.	1,730	1,765	1,800
Musical Assistant	1,730	1,765	1,800
Math Team	1,730	1,765	1,800

LEVEL PERFORMANCE ACTIVITIES PLUS EXTENDED

2B RESPONSIBILITIES **HIGH SCH**

6,794	6.930	7,069
2.265	2.310	2,356
2,265	2,310	2,356
2,265	2,310	2,356
	2,265 2,265	2,265 2,310 2,265 2,310

LEVEL

PERFORMANCE ACTIVITIES PLUS EXTENDED RESPONSIBILITIES & HIGH VISIBILITY 2C **HIGH SCHOOL**

Band - Concert	2,862	2,919	2,977
Orchestra	2,862	2,919	2,977
Drama Club Director	2,862	2,919	2,977
TV Club	2,862	2,919	2,977
SUB-TOTAL	11,446	11,675	11,909
UNLEVELED	······································		
HIGH SCHOOL			
Band - March.Director	2,629	2,681	2,735
Band - March Asst.Dir	2,107	2,150	2,193
Band - March Staff A	1,387	1,415	1,443
Band - March Staff B	777	793	809
Band - March Staff C	555	566	578
Band - March Staff D	555	566	578
Band - March Staff E	555	566	578
Auxiliary (CG/Maj.)	1,804	1,840	1,876
Student Activity Director	4,827	4,923	5,022
SUB-TOTAL	15,197	15,501	15,811

	TOTAL HIGH SCHOOL	105,190	107,281	109,387
MCCART	HY MIDDLE SCHOOL			
LEVEL				
1A	WEEKLY ACTIVITIES			
MCCART	HY MIDDLE SCHOOL			
	Games Club	1,198	1,222	1,246
	Community Service Org.	1,198	1,222	1,246
	Paws & Claws Club	1,198	1,222	1,246
	Girls Softball 1/2 yr	1,198	1,222	1,246
	Live Smart	1,198	1,222	1,246
	Kids Helping Kids	1,198	1,222	1,246
	McASAP	1,198	1,222	1,246
	McASAP	1,198	1,222	1,246
	McASAP	1,198	1,222	1,246
	SUB-TOTAL	10,782	10,997	11,217
	Backstage crew(funded from			
	proceeds)	1,198	1,222	1,246
MCCART	HY MIDDLE SCHOOL Art Club Math Counts	1,598 1,598	1,630 1,630	1,663 1,663
	SUB-TOTAL	3,196	3,260	3,325
LEVEL 1C: MCCART	WEEKLY ACTIVITIES PLUS ADD HY MIDDLE SCHOOL Student Council Yearbook	DITIONAL COMMITM 2,265 2,265	1ENTS & EX 2,310 2,310	TENDED RES 2,356 2,356
	SUB-TOTAL	4,530	4,620	4,713
LEVEL 2B MCCART	PERFORMANCE ACTIVITIES PL RESPONSIBILITIES HY MIDDLE SCHOOL	US EXTENDED		
	Band	2,265	2,310	2,356
	Chorus	2,265	2,310	2,356
	Musical	2,265	2,310	2,356
	Jazz Band	2,265	2,310	2,356
	Orchestra	2,265	2,310	2,356
	SUB-TOTAL	11,324	11,550	<u>0 11,781</u>
	TOTAL MCCARTHY	31,029	31,650	32,283
	Musical (gate funded)	1,000	1,020	1,040

LEVEL

1A WEEKLY ACTIVITIES

PARKER MIDDLE SCHOOL			
Art Club 7/8	1,198	1,222	1,246
Game room	1,198	1,222	1,246
Club Uno/Japan.Lang./Culture	1,198	1,222	1,246
Live Smart (1/2)	1,198	1,222	1,246
Homework Club	1,198	1,222	1,246
Homework Club	1,198	1,222	1,246
Homework Club	1,198	1,222	1,246
Knitting	1,198	1,222	1,246
Video Game Design	1,198	1,222	1,246
Plant/Science/GreenTeam	1,198	1,222	1,246
SUB-TOTAL	11,980	12,219	12,464

LEVEL

1B: WEEKLY ACTIVITIES PLUS ADDITIONAL RESPONSIBILITIES

PARKER MIDDLE SCHOOL

Math Counts	1,598	1,630	1,663
SUB-TOTAL	1,598	1,630	1,663

LEVEL

1C: WEEKLY ACTIVITIES PLUS ADDITIONAL COMMITMENTS & EXTENDED RESPONSIBILITIES PARKER MIDDLE SCHOOL

Student Council	2,265	2,310	2,356
Yearbook	2,265	2,310	2,356
SUB-TOTAL	4,530	4,620	4,713

LEVEL PERFORMANCE ACTIVITIES PLUS EXTENDED

2B RESPONSIBILITIES

74,135	177,578
2,873	2,931
2,873	2,931
32,330	32,977
13,861	14,138
2,310	2,356
2,310	2,356
2,310	2,356
2,310	2,356
2,310	2,356
2,310	2,356

Appendix F

Programs Recognized By the Chelmsford Public Schools

Kindergarten Child Care Lion's Den Preschool Extended Day Summer Camp Adult Education

TABLE OF CONTENTS

	Page
(1) Purpose of Educator Evaluation	
(2) Definitions	2
(3) Evidence Used in Evaluation	7
(4) Rubric, Forms and Documents	7
(5) Establishment of Joint Committee on Educator Evaluation	8
(6) Evaluation Cycle: Initial and Ongoing Training	8
(7) Evaluation Cycle: Self-Assessment and Proposal of Goals	9
(8) Evaluation Cycle: SMART Goal Finalization and Development of the Educator Plan	9
(9) Evaluation Cycle: Observation of Practice and Examination of Artifacts – Educators without PTS	S10
(10) Evaluation Cycle: Observation of Practice and Examination of Artifacts Educators with PTS	11
(11) Observations	11
(12) Evaluation Cycle: Evidence Collection/Observation	12
(13) General Rules for Establishing and Changing Overall Ratings	13
(14) Evaluation Cycle : Formative Assessment (Rewritten/NEW)	13
(15) Evaluation Cycle: Formative Evaluation for Two Year Self-Directed Plans Only	15
(16) Evaluation Cycle: Summative Evaluation	15
(17) Educator Plans : General	16
(18) Educator Plans: Developing Educator Plan	17
(19) Educator Plans: Self-Directed Growth Plan	17
(20) Educator Plans: Directed Growth Plan	17
(21) Educator Plans: Improvement Plan	18
(22) Career Advancement	20
(23) Rating Impact on Student Learning Growth	20
(24) Using Student Feedback in Educator Evaluation	20
(25) Using Staff Feedback in Educator Evaluation	20
(26) Transition from Existing Evaluation System	20
(27) General Provisions	21
Appendix G-1: Evaluation Template Forms	22
Appendix G-2: Evaluation Timeline	23
Appendix G-3: Rubric	

1) Purpose of Educator Evaluation

- A) This contract language is locally negotiated and based on M.G.L., c.71, § 38; M.G.L.
 c.150E; the Educator Evaluation regulations, 603 CMR 35.00 et seq.; and the Model
 System for Educator Evaluation developed and which may be updated from time to time
 by the Department of Elementary and Secondary Education. See 603 CMR 35.02
 (definition of model system). In the event of a conflict between this collective bargaining
 agreement and the governing laws and regulations, the laws and regulations will prevail.
- B) The regulatory purposes of evaluation are:
 - i) To promote student learning, growth, and achievement by providing Educators with feedback for improvement, enhanced opportunities for professional growth, and clear structures for accountability, 603 CMR 35.01(2)(a);
 - ii) To provide a record of facts and assessments for personnel decisions, 35.01(2)(b);
 - iii) To ensure that every school committee has a system to enhance the professionalism and accountability of teachers and administrators that will enable them to assist all students to perform at high levels, 35.01(3); and
 - iv) To assure effective teaching and administrative leadership, 35.01(3).
- C) At any point in the evaluation process, an Educator may request union representation.

2) Definitions (* indicates definition is generally based on 603 CMR 35.02)

- A) ***Artifacts of Professional Practice:** Products of an Educator's work which may include student work at Educator's discretion that demonstrate the Educator's knowledge and skills with respect to specific performance standards. A list of sample products will be created and bargained once ESE provides further guidance.
- B) **Caseload Educator:** Educators who teach or counsel individual or small groups of students through consultation with the regular classroom teacher, for example, school nurses, guidance counselors, speech and language pathologists, and some reading specialists and special education teachers.
- C) Classroom teacher: Educators who teach pre-K-12 whole classes, and teachers of special subjects as such as art, music, library, and physical education. May also include special education teachers and reading specialists who teach whole classes.
- D) **Categories of Evidence:** Multiple measures of student learning, growth, and achievement, judgments based on observations and artifacts of professional practice, including unannounced observations of practice; and additional evidence relevant to one or more Standards of Effective Teaching Practice (603 CMR 35.03).
- E) *District-determined Measures: Measures of student learning, growth and achievement related to the Massachusetts Curriculum Frameworks, Massachusetts Vocational Technical Education Frameworks, or other relevant frameworks, that are comparable across grade or subject level district-wide. These measures may include, but shall not be

limited to: portfolios, approved commercial assessments and district-developed pre- and post-unit and course assessments, and capstone projects.

- F) ***Educator(s):** Inclusive term that applies to all classroom teachers and caseload educators, unless otherwise noted.
- G) ***Educator Plan:** The growth or improvement actions identified as part of each Educator's evaluation. The type of plan is determined by the Educator's career stage, overall performance rating, and the rating of impact on student learning, growth and achievement. There shall be four types of Educator Plans:
 - i) **Developing Educator Plan** shall mean a plan developed by the Educator and the Evaluator for one school year or less for an Educator without Professional Teacher Status (PTS); or, at the discretion of an Evaluator, for an Educator with PTS in a substantially new assignment.
 - ii) Self-Directed Growth Plan shall mean a plan developed by the Educator for one or two school years for Educators with PTS who are rated proficient or exemplary.
 - iii) **Directed Growth Plan** shall mean a plan developed by the Educator and the Evaluator of one school year or less for Educators with PTS who are rated needs improvement.
 - iv) Improvement Plan shall mean a plan developed by the Evaluator of at least 30 calendar days and no more than one school year for Educators with PTS who are rated unsatisfactory with goals specific to improving the Educator's unsatisfactory performance. In those cases where an Educator is rated unsatisfactory near the close of a school year, the plan may suggest, but cannot require, activities during the summer preceding the next school year.
- H) ***ESE:** The Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education.
- *Evaluation: The ongoing process of defining goals and identifying, gathering, and using information as part of a process to improve professional performance (the "formative evaluation" and "formative assessment") and to assess total job effectiveness and make personnel decisions (the "summative evaluation").
- J) *Evaluator: Any licensed administrator designated by the Superintendent who has responsibility for evaluation. The Superintendent is responsible for ensuring that all Evaluators have training in the principles of supervision and evaluation. Each Educator will have one Primary Evaluator at any one time responsible for determining performance ratings.
 - i) **Primary Evaluator** shall be the person who is person responsible for developing the Educator Plan, supervising the Educator's progress through formative assessments, evaluating the Educator's progress toward attaining the Educator Plan goals, and determining the Educator's performance ratings and evaluation.

- ii] Contributing Evaluator may be assigned at the request of the Primary Evaluator, or the Educator, and shall be a person who plays a support role in the evaluation process. A Contributing Evaluator will normally have expertise in the subject matter and/or area being evaluated. A Contributing Evaluator may conduct classroom observations; collect and analyze other evidence as allowed under state regulations; and provide feedback and support to the Educator. A Contributing Evaluator, however, may not draft or complete Formative or Summative Evaluation reports.
- iii) Teaching Staff Assigned to More Than One Building: Each Educator who is assigned to more than one building will be supervised and evaluated by the appropriate Evaluator where the individual is assigned most of the time. The principal of each building in which the Educator serves must review and sign the evaluation, and may add written comments. In cases where there is no predominant assignment, the superintendent will determine whom the Evaluator will be.
- iv) Notification and Changes: The Educator shall be notified in writing of his/her Primary Evaluator at the outset of each new evaluation cycle. If a Contributing Evaluator is assigned, the Educator shall be notified immediately. At any time during the evaluation cycle, the Educator may send a written request to his/her Principal or HR Director for a different Evaluator. A notation that the request was made shall be inserted in the Educator's personnel file. Evaluator(s) may be changed upon notification in writing to the Educator; the notification shall be accompanied with a reason for the change.
- K) Evaluation Cycle: A five-component process that all Educators follow consisting of 1) Self-Assessment; 2) Goal-setting and Educator Plan development; 3)
 Implementation of the Plan; 4) Formative Assessment/Evaluation; and 5)
 Summative Evaluation.
- L) ***Experienced Educator**: An educator with Professional Teacher Status (PTS).
- M) ***Family:** Includes students' parents, legal guardians, foster parents, or primary caregivers.
- N) ***Formative Assessment:** The process used to assess progress towards attaining goals set forth in Educator plans, performance on standards, or both. This process may take place at any time(s) during the cycle of evaluation, but typically takes place at mid-cycle.
- O) *Formative Evaluation: An evaluation conducted at the end of Year 1 for an Educator on a 2-year Self-Directed Growth plan which is used to arrive at a rating on progress towards attaining the goals set forth in the Educator Plan, performance on Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice, or both.
- P) *Goal or SMART GOAL: A specific, actionable, and measurable area of improvement as set forth in an Educator's plan. A goal may pertain to any or all of the following: Educator practice in relation to Performance Standards, Educator practice in relation to

indicators, or specified improvement in student learning, growth and achievement. SMART Goals may be developed by individual Educators, by the Evaluator, or by teams, departments, or groups of Educators who share the same role.

- Q) ***Measurable:** That which can be classified or estimated in relation to a scale, rubric, or standards.
- R) Multiple Measures of Student Learning: Measures must include a combination of classroom, school and district assessments, student growth percentiles on state assessments, if state assessments are available, and student MEPA (Massachusetts English Proficiency Assessment) gain scores. This section will be bargained once ESE provides further guidance.
- S) *Observation: A data gathering process that includes notes and judgments made during one or more classroom or worksite visits(s). Observations will consist of two types: Unannounced observations will be of at least 10 minutes duration by the Evaluator. Announced observations will be a full class period. Either type may include examination of artifacts of practice. Classroom or worksite observations must result in written feedback to the Educator pursuant to the protocols in Section 12 (Evidence Collection). Normal supervisory responsibilities of department, building and district administrators will also cause administrators to drop in on classes and other activities in the worksite at various times as deemed necessary by the administrator. Carrying out these supervisory responsibilities, when they do not result in targeted and constructive feedback to the Educator, are not observations as defined in this Article. Evaluators will use the district-provided tool to record details of the observation. They will make every effort to capture a variety of classes, sections, time of day and time of year to get a balanced picture of the Educator's work.
- T) **Parties**: The parties to this agreement are the Chelmsford School Committee and the Chelmsford Federation of Teachers, local # 3569.
- U) ***Performance Rating:** Describes the Educator's performance on each performance standard and overall. There shall be four performance ratings:
 - **Exemplary**: The Educator's performance consistently and significantly exceeds the requirements of a standard or overall.
 - **Proficient**: the Educator's performance fully and consistently meets the requirements of a standard or overall.
 - Needs Improvement: the Educator's performance on a standard or overall is below the requirements of a standard or overall, but is not considered to be unsatisfactory at this time. Improvement is necessary and expected.
 - Unsatisfactory: the Educator's performance on a standard or overall has not significantly improved following a rating of needs improvement, or the Educator's performance is consistently below the requirements of a standard or overall and is considered inadequate, or both.
- V) ***Performance Standards:** Locally developed standards and indicators pursuant to M.G.L. c. 71, § 38 and consistent with, and supplemental to 603 CMR 35.00.

The parties may agree to limit standards and indicators to those set forth in 603 CMR 35.03.

- W) ***Professional Teacher Status:** PTS is the status granted to an Educator pursuant to M.G.L. c. 71, § 41.
- X) Rating of Educator Impact on Student Learning: A rating of high, moderate or low based on trends and patterns on state assessments and district-determined measures. The parties will negotiate the process for using state and districtdetermined measures to arrive at an Educator's rating of impact on student learning, growth and achievement, following further guidance from ESE.
- Y) Rating of Overall Educator Performance: The Educator's overall performance rating is based on the Evaluator's professional judgment and examination of evidence of the Educator's performance against the four Performance Standards and the Educator's progress toward SMART goals set forth in the Educator Plan. To be rated Proficient or higher overall, the Educator shall, at a minimum, have been rated proficient or higher on the Curriculum, Planning, and Assessment and the Teaching All Students standards.
 - i) Standard 1: Curriculum, Planning and Assessment
 - ii) Standard 2: Teaching All Students
 - iii) Standard 3: Family and Community Engagement
 - iv) Standard 4: Professional Culture
 - v) Attainment of Professional Practice Goal(s)
 - vi) Attainment of Student Learning Goal(s)
- Z) Record of Evaluation: A documented collection of evidence pertaining to an Educator's performance during an evaluation cycle consisting of three parts: 1) standard forms, including all relevant forms in Appendix G-1; 2) Evaluatorsupplied evidence collected pursuant to the protocols in Section 12C; and 3) Educator-supplied evidence collected pursuant to the protocols in Section 12D.
- AA) *Rubric: A scoring tool that describes characteristics of practice or artifacts at different levels of performance. The rubrics for Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice are used to rate Educators on Performance Standards. These rubrics consists of:
 - i) Standards: Describes broad categories of professional practice, including those required in 603 CMR 35.03
 - ii) Indicators: Describes aspects of each standard, including those required
 - iii) Elements: Defines the individual components under each indicator
 - iv) Descriptors: Describes practice at four levels of performance for each element
- BB) *Summative Evaluation: An evaluation used to arrive at a rating on each standard, an overall rating, and as a basis to make personnel decisions. The summative evaluation includes the Evaluator's judgments of the Educator's performance against Performance Standards and the Educator's attainment of SMART goals set forth in the Educator's Plan.
- CC) *Superintendent: The person employed by the school committee pursuant to M.G.L. c. 71 §59 and §59A. The superintendent is responsible for the implementation of 603 CMR 35.00.

- DD) ***Teacher:** An Educator employed in a position requiring a certificate or license as described in 603 CMR 7.04(3)(a, b, and d) and in the area of vocational education as provided in 603 CMR 4.00. Teachers may include, for example, classroom teachers, librarians, guidance counselors, or school nurses.
- EE) ***Trends in student learning:** At least two years of data. Upon receipt of language from ESE, the parties agree to bargain this section.

3) Evidence Used In Evaluation

The following categories of evidence shall be used in evaluating each Educator:

- A) Multiple measures of student learning, growth, and achievement. Upon receipt of language from ESE, the parties agree to bargain this section.
- B) Judgments based on observations and artifacts of practice including:
 - i) Unannounced observations of practice of 10 minutes or more.
 - Announced observation(s) for non-PTS Educators in their first year of practice in a school, Educators on Improvement Plans, and as determined by the Evaluator. Such observations shall be a full period in duration.
 - iii) Examination of Educator work products.
 - iv) Examination of student work samples.
- C) Evidence relevant to one or more Performance Standards, including but not limited to:
 - i) Evidence compiled and presented by the Educator, including :
 - Evidence of fulfillment of professional responsibilities and growth such as self-assessments, peer collaboration, professional development linked to SMART goals in the Educator plans, contributions to the school, community and professional culture;
 - (b) Evidence of active outreach to and engagement with families;
 - ii) Evidence of progress towards professional practice goal(s);
 - iii) Evidence of progress toward student learning outcomes goal(s).
 - iv) Student and Staff Feedback Upon receipt of language from ESE, the parties agree to bargain this section.
 - v) Any other relevant evidence from any source that the Evaluator shares with the Educator. Other relevant evidence could include information provided by other administrators such as the superintendent.

4) Rubric, Forms, and Documents

The parties agree to use the performance rubrics, forms, and documents attached hereto in Appendix G-1 through G-3 and incorporated herein by reference.

5) Establishment of Joint Committee on Educator Evaluation (New Section)

- A) The parties agree to immediately create a Joint Committee on Educator Evaluation (JCEE) consisting of bargaining unit members chosen by the Union President and administrators chosen by the Superintendent. The committee shall:
 - Monitor overall system effectiveness and fairness, and suggest additions and/or changes as needed. Any recommendations for improvement will be presented to the Union President and the Superintendent, and the parties by mutual consent may engage in bargaining to incorporate the recommendations into the system, with all changes subject to ratification by the Union membership and the School Committee.
 - ii) Provide guidance and advice to the Superintendent on issues and disputes that arise from the new system.
 - iii) Develop and advise on training for Evaluators and Educators relating to the implementation of the system.

6) Evaluation Cycle: Initial and Ongoing Training

- A) Prior to the implementation of the new evaluation process contained in this article, the district shall arrange training for all Educators, principals, and other evaluators that outlines the components of the new evaluation process and provides an explanation of the evaluation cycle. The JCEE shall advise the Superintendent regarding training.
- B) At the start of each school year, the superintendent, principal or designee shall conduct a meeting for Educators and Evaluators focused substantially on educator evaluation. The superintendent, principal or designee shall:
 - i) Provide an overview of the evaluation process, including SMART goal setting and the educator plans.
 - ii) Provide all Educators with directions for obtaining a copy of the forms used by the district. These may be electronically provided.
 - iii) The training meeting may be digitally recorded to facilitate orientation of Educators hired after the beginning of the school year.
- C) By October 15th of the first year of this agreement, all Educators shall complete a training activity about self-assessment and goal-setting satisfactory to the superintendent, building principal and JCEE
- D) The Primary Evaluator is responsible for providing Evaluation and SMART goal training to any Educator hired after the start of the school year within four (4) weeks of their start date. A first observation will take place at least 10 school days after the newly-hired Educator's plan is approved.
- E) The JCEE shall also advise the Superintendent on Evaluator training on an ongoing basis. The parties agree that Evaluator training should be designed to make

evaluations as consistent, reliable, and equitable as possible across schools, grades, subjects, and assignments.

F) Representatives from the Union will be invited to all Educator trainings provided by the School District.

7) Evaluation Cycle: Self-Assessment and Proposal of Goals

- A) Completing the Self-Assessment
 - The Educator shall complete and submit to his/her Evaluator a selfassessment by October 1st or, for Educators who do not begin their Educator Plans at the start of the school year, within four weeks of the start of their employment or a new evaluation cycle, following training according to the protocol in 6D.
 - ii) The self-assessment shall be completed on the Self Assessment Form in Appendix G-1.

B) Proposing the goals

- SMART Goal proposals shall be completed on the Goal Proposal Form in Appendix G-1 by October 1 or within four weeks of the start of employment or a new evaluation cycle.
- Educators must consider SMART goals for grade-level, subject-area, and department teams, or other groups of Educators who share responsibility for student learning and results. Educators are encouraged to meet in teams to consider establishing team SMART goals. Evaluators may participate in such meetings as requested by the teams.
- iii) For non-PTS Educators, the Primary Evaluator will meet with each Educator by October 1st (or within four weeks of the Educator's first day of employment if the Educator begins employment after the initial training has taken place) to assist the Educator in completing the self-assessment and drafting the Professional Practice and Student Learning SMART goals which must include induction and mentoring activities. In addition, SMART the goals may address shared team SMART goals.
- iv) For Educators with PTS and ratings of needs improvement or unsatisfactory, the professional practice SMART goal(s) must address specific standards and indicators identified for improvement. In addition, the goals may address shared team goals.

8) Evaluation Cycle: SMART Goal Finalization and Development of the Educator Plan

- A) Educator Plan Development Conferences shall be conducted as follows:
 - The Primary Evaluator shall schedule and conduct a plan-development conference with each Educator under his/her supervision by October 15. Before the conference(s), the Primary Evaluator shall review the SMART goals proposed by the Educator(s).

- ii) For those Educators new to the school, the meeting with the Primary Evaluator to establish the Educator Plan must occur by October 15th or within four weeks of the start of their assignment in that school, following the protocol described in 6C.
- iii) SMART Goal-finalization and plan-development conferences may occur in groups to encourage the establishment of team goals and coordinated Educator Plans. However, the Primary Evaluator shall meet individually with Educators with PTS and ratings of needs improvement or unsatisfactory to develop professional practice goal(s) that must address specific standards and indicators identified for improvement. In addition, the goals may address shared team goals.
- B) Educator Plans shall be drafted and completed as follows:
 - During or as soon as possible after the conference, the Primary Evaluator and Educator shall draft an Educator Plan using the appropriate form in Appendix G-1: "Directed Growth Plan Form" for PTS Educators rated needs improvement; "Improvement Plan Form" for PTS Educators rated unsatisfactory; and "Educator Plan Form—General" for all other Educators.
 - All components of the Educator Plan are subject to the approval of the Primary Evaluator. For plans beginning in the fall of 2012 or the fall of any succeeding year, the final Educator Plan shall be signed by the Primary Evaluator and Principal and delivered to the Educator no later than November 1.
 - iii) The Educator shall sign the Educator Plan within 5 school days of its receipt and may include a written response. The Educator's signature indicates that the Educator received the plan in a timely fashion, not necessarily agreement with its contents. A copy of the signed plan shall remain with the Educator.
 - iv) If an Educator disagrees with any element of the approved Educator Plan, the Educator may submit comments of that nature using the Educator Response Form in Appendix G-1 to the Primary Evaluator and/or Superintendent, copying the Union President if desired. The notified parties may consult each other on the matter. Following any consultation, the Superintendent may discuss the matter with the Primary Evaluator, who may be asked to work with the Educator to revise the goals and contents of the Educator Plan.

9) Evaluation Cycle: Observation of Practice and Examination of Artifacts – Educators without PTS and Educators in the *first* year of a substantially new assignment.

- A) The Educator shall have at least one announced observation during the school year using the protocol described in section 11B, below.
- B) The Educator shall have at least seven unannounced observations during the school year.

10) Evaluation Cycle: Observation of Practice and Examination of Artifacts – Educators with PTS

- A) The Educator whose overall rating is proficient or exemplary must have at least seven unannounced observations during the evaluation cycle, of which three to five should be conducted during Year 1 of the evaluation cycle.
- B) The Educator whose overall rating is needs improvement must be observed according to the Directed Growth Plan during the period of Plan which must include at least seven unannounced observations and one announced observation.
- C) The Educator whose overall rating is unsatisfactory must be observed according to the Improvement Plan which must include both unannounced and announcedobservation. The number and frequency of the observations shall be determined by the Evaluator, but in no case, for improvement plans of one year, shall there be fewer than one announced and seven unannounced observations. For Improvement Plans of six months or fewer, there must be no fewer than one announced and four unannounced observations.
- 11) Observations: The Evaluator's first observation of the Educator should take place by November 15. Observations required by the Educator Plan should be completed by May 15th. The Evaluator may conduct additional observations after this date. The Evaluator is not required nor expected to review all the indicators in a rubric during an observation.

A) Unannounced Observations

- i) Unannounced observations may be in the form of partial or full-period classroom visitations.
- ii) The Educator will be provided with written feedback from the Evaluator within 5 school days. The written feedback shall be delivered to the Educator in person, by email, placed in the Educator's mailbox or mailed to the Educator's home.
- iii) Any observation or series of unannounced observations resulting in one or more standards judged to be unsatisfactory or needs improvement for the first time, as described in the comment box of the Unannounced Observation Form labeled "Unsatisfactory Performance Comments", must be followed by at least one observation focused on the standard/s judged to be Unsatisfactory or Needs Improvement within 5-15 school days after the Educator has received feedback.

B) Announced Observations

- i) All non-PTS Educators, PTS Educators on Improvement Plans, Educators in a substantially new position, and other educators, at the discretion of the Primary Evaluator, shall have at least one Announced Observation by the Primary Evaluator.
 - (a) The Primary Evaluator shall select the date and time of the lesson or activity to be observed and discuss with the Educator any specific goal(s) for the observation. The Educator will receive at least five (5) school days' notice before the announced observation occurs.

- (b) Within 5 school days of the scheduled observation, upon request of either the Evaluator or Educator, the two shall meet for a pre-observation conference. At the meeting, the Educator will provide a completed Pre-Announced Observation Conference Form.
- (c) Prior to the observation, the Educator shall provide the Evaluator a draft of the lesson, student conference, IEP plan or activity. If the actual plan is different, the Educator will provide the Evaluator with a copy prior to the observation.
- (d) The Educator will be notified as soon as possible if the Evaluator will not be able to attend the scheduled observation. The observation will be rescheduled with the Educator as soon as reasonably practical.
- (e) Within 5 school days of the observation, the Evaluator and Educator shall meet for a post-observation conference. This timeframe may be extended due to unavailability on the part of either the Evaluator or the Educator, but shall be rescheduled within 24 hours if possible.
- (f) The Evaluator shall provide the Educator with written feedback within 5 school days of the post- observation conference.

12) Evaluation Cycle: Evidence Collection/Feedback

- A Record of Evaluation shall be kept for each Educator. Each Educator's Record of Evaluation shall be maintained as part of the Educator's personnel file, pursuant to Article 13 in the CBA. All documents in the Record of Evaluation shall be treated as confidential personnel records.
- B) Each Educator's Record of Evaluation shall consist of three parts: 1) standard forms, including all relevant forms in Appendix G-1; 2) Evaluator-supplied evidence compiled and maintained pursuant to 12C; and 3) Educator-supplied evidence compiled and maintained pursuant to 12D.
- C) For each Educator under an Evaluator's supervision, Evaluator-supplied evidence shall be compiled and maintained in an Evidence Log, using the Evaluation Tracking Sheet attached hereto in Appendix G-1, and in accordance with the following protocols:
 - i) The Evaluation Tracking Sheet shall be used to document and preserve evidence that may be relied upon to determine ratings against standards and/or to assess progress toward goals.
- D) Educator-supplied evidence shall be compiled and maintained according to the following protocols:
 - Every Educator shall have the right to compile and present any evidence or information that relates to his/her performance against the standards and/or progress toward plan goals. The Educator may share saidevidence/information with his/her Evaluator(s) at any point in the evaluation cycle, in which case said

evidence/information will be entered into the Educator's Collection of Evidence Form. The Evaluator shall acknowledge receipt of said contents with a signature.

Following an Evaluation Tracking Sheet entry made by an Evaluator, the Educator may submit comments and/or additional information that is relevant to the Evaluator's understanding of the evidence. Any comments or information added by the Educator shall become part of the Educator's Record of Evaluation, and the Evaluator who collected and documented the evidence shall acknowledge receipt with his/her signature.

13) General Rules for Establishing and Changing Overall Ratings

- A) An overall rating may be upgraded through a Formative Assessment, Formative Evaluation, or Summative Evaluation at any time.
- B) Formative or Summative Assessment/Evaluation Reports shall rely solely on evidence and feedback previously entered into the Record of Evaluation and Personnel File. Personnel File references must show multiple related occurrences to be included.
- C) An overall rating may be downgraded only through a Formative Assessment, Formative Evaluation, or Summative Evaluation, providing the following:
 - Absent exceptional circumstances, the downgrade shall be to the next level down (e.g.: from Exemplary to Proficient or from Proficient to Needs Improvement).
 - The rationale for the downgrade must rely solely on evidence and feedback previously entered into the Record of Evaluation and Personnel File, with said evidence and feedback encompassing multiple sources of evidence collected at multiple points in time.
 - iii) There must be at least three collections of evidence (from observations or other sources) noted in the Evaluation Tracking Sheet during the evaluation cycle that were characterized as "raises concerns" and that were accompanied by the appropriate feedback pursuant to Section 12C.
 - All downgrades of Educators shall be reviewed by the Superintendent or his/her designee and the Building Principal. Following said review, the Superintendent may advise the Primary Evaluator to revise the rating and/or may assign a different Primary Evaluator to supervise the subsequent Educator Plan.
- 14) Evaluation Cycle: Formative Assessment
 - A) Formative Assessment may be ongoing throughout the evaluation cycle but typically takes places mid-cycle when a Formative Assessment report is completed. For an Educator on a two-year Self-Directed Growth Plan, the mid-cycle Formative Assessment report is replaced by the Formative Evaluation report at the end of year one. See section 15, below.

- B) For Educators on one-year or shorter plans, at least one Formative Assessment report shall be completed during the evaluation cycle. For one-year plans that begin on Nov. 1 or earlier, a report shall be completed and delivered to the Educator no later than Feb. 15.
- C) In all cases, the Primary Evaluator shall notify the Educator in writing of the intended delivery date of a Formative Assessment report at least 20 school days before said date.
- D) At least 10 school days before the due date set in 14C, the Educator shall provide to the Primary Evaluator evidence of family outreach and engagement, fulfillment of professional responsibility and growth, and progress on attaining professional practice and student learning goals. The Educator may also provide to the Evaluator additional evidence of the Educator's performance against the four Performance Standards. Evidence pursuant to this paragraph shall be provided in writing.
- E) The Formative Assessment report shall be completed using the Formative Assessment Report Form in Appendix G-1.
- F) The Formative Assessment report provides written feedback to the Educator about his/her progress towards attaining the goals set forth in the Educator Plan, performance on Performance Standards and overall, or both.
- G) The Primary Evaluator shall draft the Formative Assessment report and share the draft report with the Educator before it is finalized. Following receipt of the draft, the Educator shall have 5 school days to request a meeting to discuss the draft. The Formative Assessment shall not be finalized until the Primary Evaluator and the Educator have an opportunity to discuss the draft, if desired by the Educator.
- H) The final Formative Assessment report shall be signed and dated by the Primary Evaluator and the Building Principal and will be delivered to the Educator in a brief face-to-face meeting.
- I) The Educator may reply in writing to the Formative Assessment report within 5 school days of receiving the report.
- J) The Educator shall sign the Formative Assessment report within 5 school days of receiving the report, attaching any comments pursuant to 14J. The signature indicates that the Educator received the Formative Assessment report in a timely fashion, not necessarily agreement with its contents. A copy of the signed report shall remain with the Educator.
- K) As a result of the Formative Assessment Report, the Primary Evaluator may change the activities in the Educator Plan.
- L) Any Educator rated Unsatisfactory or Needs Improvement overall may request a conference with the Primary Evaluator and the Building Principal to discuss the Formative Assessment report, and the conference shall take place within 5 school days of the request. The Educator may request that a Union representative attend the conference.

15) Evaluation Cycle: Formative Evaluation for Two Year Self-Directed Plans Only

- A) For Educators on two year Self-Directed Growth Plans, a Formative Evaluation report shall be completed and delivered to the Educator between May 15 and June 1 of the first year of the plan.
- B) Before May 1, the Educator shall provide to the Primary Evaluator evidence of family outreach and engagement, fulfillment of professional responsibility and growth, and progress towards attaining professional practice and student learning goals. The Educator may also provide to the Evaluator additional evidence of the Educator's performance against the four Performance Standards. Evidence pursuant to this paragraph may be provided in writing, in person, or both. This may be done in a conference, if desired by either the Educator or Evaluator, or it may be delivered by the Educator to the Evaluator.
- C) Any recommended change in a rating from an Evaluator—either on a particular standard or overall—must be reviewed and approved by the Primary Evaluator and the Building Principal provided that any overall rating downgrade must comply with the provisions of Section 13.

16) Evaluation Cycle: Summative

- A) Educators on a one year Educator Plan that begins at the start of the school year, will receive the Summative Evaluation report by May 15. For those on a two-year Educator Plan, the Summative Evaluation report shall be completed and delivered by May 15 of year two.
- B) For Educators on a plan lasting less than one year, the Educator Plan shall state the intended delivery date of the Summative Evaluation report.
- C) By April 15 in the case of Educators covered by 16A, and at least 10 school days before the delivery date in the case of Educators covered by 16 B, the Educator will provide to the Evaluator evidence of family outreach and engagement, fulfillment of professional responsibility and growth, and progress on attaining professional practice and student learning goals. The Educator may also provide to the Evaluator additional evidence of the Educator's performance against the four Performance Standards. Evidence pursuant to this paragraph shall be provided in writing.
- D) The Summative Evaluation report shall be completed using the Summative Evaluation Report Form in Appendix G-1.
- E) The Primary Evaluator shall draft the report with input from the Contributing Evaluator, if any, including a rating on progress toward student learning goals, a rating on progress toward professional practice goals; a rating on each of the four standards; and an overall rating. The Evaluator shall provide a rationale and evidence for each rating.
- F) The Primary Evaluator shall draft the Summative Evaluation report and share the draft report with the Educator by May 15. Following receipt of the draft, the Educator shall have 5 school days to request a meeting to discuss the draft. The Summative Evaluation shall not be finalized until the Primary Evaluator and the Educator have an opportunity to discuss the draft, if desired by the Educator.

- G) The professional judgment of the Evaluator shall determine the overall summative rating that the Educator receives, provided that any overall rating downgrade must comply with the provisions of Section 13.
- H) The final Summative Evaluation report shall be signed and dated by the Primary Evaluator and the Building Principal and will be delivered to the Educator in a brief face-to-face meeting no later than May 15th.
- I) The Primary Evaluator and the Building Principal shall meet with the Educator rated needs improvement or unsatisfactory to discuss the Summative Evaluation. The meeting shall occur by June 1st. The Educator may request that a Union representative attend the conference.
- J) The Evaluator shall meet with the Educator rated proficient or exemplary to discuss the Summative Evaluation, if either the Educator or the Evaluator requests such a meeting. The meeting shall occur by June 10th.
- K) The Educator shall sign the final Summative Evaluation report and shall have the right to attach their response, if any, by June 15th. The signature indicates that the Educator received the Summative Evaluation report in a timely fashion, not necessarily agreement with its contents.
- L) A copy of the signed final Summative Evaluation report shall be filed in the Educator's Personnel File, and a copy shall remain with the Educator.

17) Educator Plans – General

- A) Educator Plans shall be designed to provide Educators with feedback for improvement, professional growth, and leadership; and to ensure Educator effectiveness and overall system accountability. The Plan must be aligned to the standards and indicators and be consistent with district and school goals.
- B) The Educator Plan shall include, but is not limited to:
 - i) At least one goal related to improvement of practice tied to one or more Performance Standards;
 - ii) At least one goal for the improvement the learning, growth and achievement of the students under the Educator's responsibility;
 - iii) An outline of actions the Educator will take to attain the goals and benchmarks to assess progress. Actions must include specified professional development and learning activities that the Educator will participate in as a means of obtaining the goals, as well as other support that may be suggested by the Evaluator or provided by the school or district. Examples may include but are not limited to coursework, self-study, action research, curriculum development, study groups with peers, and implementing new programs.
- C) It is the Educator's responsibility to pursue the goals in the Plan and to participate in any trainings and professional development provided through the state, district, or other providers in accordance with the Educator Plan.

18) Educator Plans: Developing Educator Plan

- A) The Developing Educator Plan is for all Educators without PTS, and, at the discretion of the Evaluator, Educators with PTS in substantially new assignments.
- B) The Educator shall be evaluated at least annually.

19) Educator Plans: Self-Directed Growth Plan

- A) A Two-year Self-Directed Growth Plan is for those Educators with PTS who have an overall rating of proficient or exemplary, and, following guidance from ESE and negotiations between the parties, whose impact on student learning is moderate or high. A formative evaluation report is completed at the end of year 1 and a summative evaluation report at the end of year 2.
- B) A One-year Self-Directed Growth Plan is for those Educators with PTS who have an overall rating of proficient or exemplary, and, following guidance from ESE and negotiations between the parties, whose impact on student learning is low. In this case, the Primary Evaluator and Educator shall analyze the discrepancy between the summative evaluation rating and the rating for impact on student learning to seek to determine the cause(s) of the discrepancy.

20) Educator Plans: Directed Growth Plan

- A) A Directed Growth Plan is for those Educators with PTS whose overall rating is needs improvement.
- B) The goals in the Plan must address areas identified as needing improvement as determined by the Primary Evaluator.
- C) The Primary Evaluator shall oversee the development and implementation of a Directed Growth Plan.
- D) Within 15 school days of an Educator receiving an overall rating of needs improvement, the Primary Evaluator and Building Principal shall meet with the Educator to discuss and assist in the development of a Directed Growth Plan. The Educator may request that a Union representative attend this meeting and any subsequent meetings relating to the development, implementation, or monitoring of a Directed Growth Plan.
- E) The Primary Evaluator shall determine the plan length, in consultation with the Contributing Evaluator, if any, the Building Principal, the Educator, and a union representative (if requested by the Educator).
- F) The Directed Growth Plan shall be completed using the Directed Growth Plan Form in Appendix G-1.
- G) The Directed Growth Plan must be approved and signed by the Primary Evaluator and the Building Principal and shall be delivered to the Educator at least 15 school days before the start date of the plan.

- H) The Educator shall sign his/her Directed Growth Plan within 5 school days of receipt and may include a written response. The Educator's signature shall denote receipt of the plan, not necessarily agreement with its contents. A copy of the signed plan shall remain with the Educator.
- If the Educator disagrees with any element of the approved Directed Growth Plan, the
 Educator may submit comments of that nature to the Superintendent, copying the Building
 Principal, the Union President if desired. The notified parties may consult each other on
 the matter. Following any consultation, the Superintendent may discuss the matter with the
 Primary Evaluator, who may be asked to revise elements of the Directed Growth Plan.
- J) The parties agree that, barring a pattern of performance of an egregious nature or other just cause, no Educator with PTS on a Directed Growth Plan shall be dismissed or have his/her overall rating lowered to unsatisfactory during the prescribed plan period.
- K) A rating on a particular standard and/or overall rating may be upgraded to proficient or higher through a Formative Assessment at any time during the plan period.
- L) The Primary Evaluator shall draft and approve a summative evaluation for the Educator at the end of the period determined by the Plan.
- M) For an Educator on a Directed Growth Plan whose overall performance rating is at least proficient, the Primary Evaluator will place the Educator on a Self-Directed Growth Plan for the next Evaluation Cycle, with the approval of the Principal.
- N) For an Educator on a Directed Growth Plan whose overall performance rating is not at least proficient, the Primary Evaluator will rate the Educator as unsatisfactory and will place the Educator on an Improvement Plan for the next Evaluation Cycle, with the approval of the Principal.

21) Educator Plans: Improvement Plan

- A) An Improvement Plan is for those Educators with PTS whose overall rating is unsatisfactory.
- B) The Primary Evaluator is to oversee the development and implementation of an Improvement Plan, with the approval of the Building Principal.
- C) Within 15 school days of an Educator receiving an overall rating of unsatisfactory, the Primary Evaluator shall meet with the Educator to discuss and assist in the development of an Improvement Plan. The Educator may request that a Union representative attend this meeting and any subsequent meetings relating to the development, implementation, or monitoring of an Improvement Plan.
- D) The Primary Evaluator shall determine the plan length, in consultation with the Consulting Evaluator, if any, the Educator, and a union representative (if requested by the Educator).
- E) The Improvement Plan shall be completed using the Improvement Plan Form in Appendix G-1.

- F) The plan must be approved and signed by the Evaluator and shall be delivered to the Educator at least 15 school days before the start date of the plan.
- G) The Educator shall sign his/her Improvement Plan within 5 school days of receipt and may include a written response. The Educator's signature shall denote receipt of the plan, not necessarily agreement with its contents. A copy of the signed plan shall remain with the Educator.
- H) If the Educator disagrees with any element of the approved Improvement Plan, the
 Educator may submit comments of that nature to the Superintendent, copying the Union
 President if desired. The notified parties may consult each other on the matter. Following
 any consultation, the Superintendent may discuss the matter with the Evaluator, who may
 be asked to revise elements of the Improvement Plan.
- I) The parties agree that, barring a pattern of performance of an egregious nature or other just cause, no Educator with PTS on an Improvement Plan shall be dismissed during the prescribed plan period.
- J) A rating on a particular standard and/or overall may be upgraded to needs improvement or higher through a Formative Assessment at any time during the plan period.
- K) The Evaluator shall draft and approve a summative evaluation for the Educator at the end of the period for the Plan.
- L] Decision on the Educator's status at the conclusion of the Improvement Plan. All determinations below must be made no later than June 1. One of four decisions must be made at the conclusion of the Improvement Plan:
 - i) If the Primary Evaluator determines that the Educator has improved his/her practice to the level of proficiency, the Educator will be placed on a Self-Directed Growth Plan.
 - ii) In those cases where the Educator was placed on an Improvement Plan
 as a result of his/her Summative rating at the end of his/her Directed Growth Plan,

if the Evaluator determines that the Educator is making significant progress toward proficiency, the Evaluator shall place the Educator on a Directed Growth Plan.

- iii) In those cases where the Educator was placed on an Improvement Plan as a result of his/her Summative rating at the end of his/her Directed Growth Plan, if the Evaluator determines that the Educator is not making significant progress toward proficiency, the Evaluator shall recommend to the Superintendent that the Educator be dismissed.
- iv) If the Primary Evaluator determines that the Educator's practice remains at the level of unsatisfactory, the Primary Evaluator shall recommend to the Superintendent that the Educator be dismissed.

22) Career Advancement

- A) In order to attain Professional Teacher Status, the Educator should achieve ratings of proficient or exemplary on each Performance Standard and overall. A Building Principal considering making an employment decision that would lead to PTS for any Educator who has not been rated proficient or exemplary on each performance standard and overall on the most recent evaluation shall confer with the superintendent by May 1. The Building Principal's decision is subject to review and approval by the superintendent.
- B) In order to qualify to apply for a Teacher Leader position, the Educator must have had a Summative Evaluation performance rating of proficient or exemplary for at least the previous two years.
- C) Educators with PTS whose summative performance rating is exemplary and, following guidance from ESE and negotiations between the parties, whose impact on student learning is rated moderate or high, shall be recognized and rewarded with leadership roles, promotions, additional compensation, or other acknowledgement as determined by the district through collective bargaining where applicable.

23) Rating Impact on Student Learning Growth

ESE will provide model contract language and guidance on rating educator impact on student learning growth based on state and district-determined measures of student learning. Upon receiving this model contract language and guidance, the parties agree to bargain with respect to this matter.

24) Using Student feedback in Educator Evaluation

ESE will provide model contract language, direction and guidance on using student feedback in Educator Evaluation by June 30, 2013. Upon receiving this model contract language, direction and guidance, the parties agree to bargain with respect to this matter.

25) Using Staff feedback in Administrator Evaluation

ESE will provide model contract language, direction and guidance on using staff feedback in Administrator Evaluation by June 30, 2013. Upon receiving this model contract language, direction and guidance, the parties agree to bargain with respect to this matter.

26) Transition from Existing Evaluation System

- A) The parties shall agree on a process for identifying the Educator Plan that each Educator will be placed on during the Educator's first year being evaluated under the new procedures, providing that Educators who have received ratings of unsatisfactory or its equivalent in the prior year will be placed on Directed Growth or Improvement Plans at the sole discretion of the Superintendent.
- B) The parties agree to address the workload issue of Evaluators.
- C) The existing evaluation system will remain in effect until the provisions set forth in this Article are implemented. The relevant timeframe for adopting and implementing new systems is set forth in 603 CMR 35.11(1).

Appendix G: Teacher and Caseload Educator Evaluation System

27) General Provisions

- A) Should there be a serious disagreement between the Educator and the Primary Evaluator regarding an overall Summative Performance Rating of unsatisfactory, the Educator may meet with the Primary Evaluator's supervisor to discuss the disagreement. Should the Educator request such a meeting, the Primary Evaluator's supervisor must meet with the Educator. The Educator may bring a union representative to this meeting. The Primary Evaluator may attend any such meeting at the discretion of the Superintendent.
- B) Violations of this article are subject to the grievance and arbitration procedures set forth in Article 3 of the parties' Collective Bargaining Agreement.

Appendix G: Teacher and Caseload Educator Evaluation System

Appendix G-1: Evaluation Template Forms

- 1. Notification of Evaluator Assignment
- **2.** Evaluation Tracking Sheet
- 3. Self-Assessment Form
- 4. Goal Setting Form
- 5. Educator Plan Form
- 6. Unannounced Observation Form (A screen shot of this form is included.)
- 7. Pre-Announced Observation Conference Form
- 8. Announced Observation Form
- 9. Evaluator Record of Evidence Form
- 10, Educator Collection of Evidence Form
- **11.** Formative Assessment Report Form
- **12.** Formative Evaluation Report Form
- **13.**Summative Evaluation Report Form
- 14. Educator response Form
- 15. Improvement Plan for Corrective Action Form

Notification of Evaluator Assignment

Current School Year(s):		
Name of Teacher:		
Teacher's Grade/ Subject:		
Teacher's Evaluation Cycle:		
Primary Evaluator:		
Contributing Evaluator(s):		
·		
	Today's Date:	

Evaluation Tracking Sheet

EducatorName/T	itle:			<u></u>	
Evaluator—Name/Tit	tle:				
School(s):		<u>. </u>			
Educator Plan:		l Growth Plan [Educator Plan [d Growth Plan ement Plan	
Plan Duration:	2-Year	One-Year		Less than a year	
	Evaluation		Date(s)	Educator Initials	Evaluator(s) Initials
Self-Assessment re	ceived by evaluator				
Educator Plan deve	lopment completed	t			
Unannounced Obs	servation #1				
Unannounced Obs	servation #2		e		
Unannounced Obs	servation #3				
Unannounced Obs					
Unannounced Observation #5					
Unannounced Observation #6					
Unannounced Observation #7					
Announced Obser	rvation, if any				
Educator Record of	of Evidence Form				
	ssment conference, Jation conference, if				
	ssment Report com lation Report compl				
Educator response,	if any, received by e	evaluator⁴			
Educator Record of	of Evidence Form				
Evaluator Record	of Evidence Form				
Summative Evaluat	ion conference, if a	ny			
Summative Evaluat	ion Report complet	ed			
Educator response,	if any, received by e	evaluator			

¹ As per the Massachusetts Model System for Educator Evaluation Contract Language, evaluation conferences are required for ratings of Needs Improvement and Unsatisfactory but conferences may be requested by either the educator or evaluator for any Educator Plan. The conference may occur before or after the Report is completed; the sequence in the above table does not denote required chronological order.

² Formative Evaluation only occurs at the end of the first year of a two-year Self-Directed Growth Plan.

³ The educator's formative evaluation rating at the end of the first year of the two-year cycle shall be the same as the previous summative rating unless evidence demonstrates a significant change in performance. In such a case, the rating on the formative evaluation may change. Assigning ratings is optional during Formative Assessment.

⁴ An educator may provide written comments to the evaluator at any time using the Educator Response Form but 603 CMR 35.06 ensures that educators have an opportunity to respond to the Formative Assessment, Formative Evaluation, and Summative Evaluation in writing.

Self-Assessment Form (Page 1 of 2)

Educator—Name/Title:

Evaluator—Name/Title:

School(s):

Performance Standards: <u>Standard I</u>: Curriculum, Planning, and Assessment; <u>Standard II</u>: Teaching All Students; <u>Standard III</u>: Family and Community Engagement; <u>Standard IV</u>: Professional Culture

Part 1: Analysis of Student Learning, Growth, and Achievement Briefly summarize areas of strength and high-priority concerns for students under your responsibility for the upcoming school year. Cite evidence such as results from available assessments. This form should be individually submitted by educator, but Part 1 can also be used by individuals and/or teams who jointly review and analyze student data. <u>803 CMR 35.06 (2)(a)1</u>

Team, if applicable:

List Team Members below:

Self-Assessment Form (Page 2 of 2)

Educator—Name/Title:

Part 2: Assessment of Practice Against Performance Standards Citing your district's performance rubric, briefly summarize areas of strength and high-priority areas for growth. Areas may target specific Standards, Indicators, or Elements, or span multiple indicators or Elements within or across Standards. The form should be individually submitted by educator, but Part 2 can also be used by teams in preparation for proposing team goals. 603 CMR 35.06 (2)(a)2

Team, if applicable: _____

List Team Members below:

Signature of Educator	Date
*Signature of Evaluator	Date

* The evaluator's signature indicates that he or she has received a copy of the self-assessment form and the goal setting form with proposed goals. It does not denote approval of the goals.

Goal Setting Form

Educator—Name/Title:			
EvaluatorName/Title:			
School(s):			
Check all that apply⁵:	Final Goals	Date:	

A minimum of one student learning goal and one professional practice goal are required. Team goals must be considered per <u>603CMR35.06(3)(b)</u>. Attach pages as needed for additional goals or revisions made to proposed goals during the development of the Educator Plan.

Student Learning SMART Goal Check whether goal is individual or team, write team name if applicable.	Professional Practice SMART Goal Check whether goal is individual or team, write team name if applicable.
Individual Team:	Individual Team:

SMART: S=Specific and Strategic; M=Measurable; A=Action Oriented; R=Rigorous, Realistic, and Results-Focused; T=Timed and Tracked

⁵ If proposed goals change during Plan Development, edits may be recorded directly on original sheet or revised goal may be recorded on a new sheet. If proposed goals are approved as written, a separate sheet is not required.

Educator Plan Form (Page 1 of 2)

EducatorName/Title:	
Evaluator-Name/Title:	
School(s):	
Educator Plan:	Self-Directed Growth Plan Developing Educator Plan
Plan Duration:	2-Year One-Year Less than a year
Start Date:	End Date:

Goal Setting Form with final goals is attached to the Educator Plan.

Some activities may apply to the pursuit of multiple goals or types of goals (student learning or professional practice). Attach additional pages as necessary.

Student Learning Goal(s): Planned Activities Describe actions the educator will take to attain the student learning goal(s). Activities may apply to individual and/or team. Attach additional pages as needed.				
Action	Supports/Resources from School/District ¹	Timeline or Frequency		

*Additional detail may be attached if needed

Educator Plan Form (Page 2 of 2)

Educator-Name/Title:

Professional Practice Goal(s): Planned Activities Describe actions the educator will take to attain the professional practice goal(s). Activities may apply to individual and/or team. Attach additional pages as needed.				
Action	Supports/Resources from School/District ⁶	Timeline or Frequency		

This Educator Plan is "designed to provide educators with feedback for improvement, professional growth, and leadership," is "aligned to statewide Standards and Indicators in 603 CMR 35.00 and local Performance Standards," and "is consistent with district and school goals." (see <u>603CMR35.06(3)(d)</u> and <u>603CMR35.06(3)(d)</u>.

Signature of Evaluator	Date
*Signature of Educator	Date

* As the evaluator retains final authority over goals to be included in an educator's plan (see <u>603CMR35.06(3)(c)</u>), the signature of the educator indicates that he or she has received the Goal Setting Form with the "Final Goal" box checked, indicating the evaluator's approval of the goals. The educator's signature does not necessarily denote agreement with the goals. Regardless of agreement with the final goals, signature indicates recognition that "It is the educator's responsibility to attain the goals in the plan and to participate in any trainings and professional development provided through the state, district, or other providers in accordance with the Educator Plan." (see <u>603CMR35.06(4)</u>)

⁶ Must identify means for educator to receive feedback for improvement per 603 CMR 35.06(3)(d)

(This is an electronic form on the Evaluator's electronic device)

·····

Chelmsford Unannounced	Observation Form	αστηρογιατί μου το στηρογραφική στο στο στο στηρογιατί του που του του του του του του του του του τ
Name:	Evaluator:	
School:	Date:	Time:
Subject:	Elapsed: 0:00 se	ec
Grade:	Share: off	
SMART Goal(s):		

Standard I: Curriculum, Planning, and Assessment

The teacher promotes the learning and growth of all students by providing high-quality and coherent instruction, designing and administering authentic and meaningful student assessments, analyzing student performance and growth data, using this data to improve instruction, providing students with constructive feedback on an ongoing basis, and continuously refining learning objectives.

I-A-1. Subject Matter Knowledge

Standard I: Curriculum, Planning, and Assessment

Exemplary	Proficient	Needs Improvement	Unsatisfactory
Demonstrates expertise in subject matter and the pedagogy it requires by engaging all students in learning experiences that enable them to synthesize complex knowledge and skills in the subject. Is able to model this element.	consistently engaging students in learning experiences that enable	knowledge of subject matter and the pedagogy it requires by sometimes engaging students in learning experiences around complex knowledge and skills in the subject.	Demonstrates limited knowledge of the subject matter and/or its pedagogy; relies heavily on textbooks or resources for development of the factual content. Rarely engages students in learning experiences focused on complex knowledge or skills in the subject.

I-A-2. Child and Adolescent Development

Standard I: Curriculum, Planning, and Assessment

Exemplary	Proficient	Needs Improvement	Unsatisfactory
Demonstrates expert knowledge of the developmental levels of the teacher's own students and students in this grade or subject more generally and uses this knowledge to differentiate and expand learning experiences that enable all students to make significant progress toward meeting stated outcomes.	of the developmental levels of students in the classroom and the different ways these students learn by providing differentiated learning experiences that	of developmental levels of students this age but does not identify developmental levels and ways of learning among the students in the class and/or develops learning experiences that enable some, but not all,	Demonstrates little or no knowledge of developmental levels of students this age or differences in how students learn. Typically develops one learning experience for all students that does not enable most students to meet the intended outcomes.

Is able to model this	 outcomes.	 l
element.		

I-A-3. Rigorous Standards-Based Unit Design

Standard I: Curriculum, Planning, and Assessment

Exemplary	Proficient	Needs Improvement	Unsatisfactory
Designs integrated units of instruction with measurable, accessible outcomes and challenging tasks requiring higher-order thinking skills that enable students to learn and apply the knowledge and skills defined in state standards/local curricula. Is able to model this element.	thinking skills that enable students to learn the knowledge and skills defined in state	that address some knowledge and skills defined in state standards/local curricula, but some student outcomes are poorly defined and/or tasks rarely require higher- order thinking skills	Plans individual lessons rather than units of instruction, or designs units of instruction that are not aligned with state standards/ local curricula, lack measurable outcomes, and/or include tasks that mostly rely on lower level thinking skills.

I-A-4. Well-Structured Lessons

Standard I: Curriculum, Planning, and Assessment

Exemplary	Proficient	Needs Improvement	Unsatisfactory
engagement strategies, pacing, sequence, activities, materials, resources, technologies, and grouping to attend to	Develops well-structured lessons with challenging, measurable objectives and appropriate student engagement strategies, pacing, sequence, activities, materials, resources, technologies, and grouping.	appropriate student engagement strategies, pacing, sequence, activities, materials,	Develops lessons with inappropriate student engagement strategies, pacing, sequence, activities, materials, resources, and/or grouping for the intended outcome o for the students in the class.

I-B-1. Variety of Assessment Methods

Standard I: Curriculum, Planning, and Assessment

Exemplary	Proficient	Needs Improvement	Unsatisfactory
informal and formal assessments, including common interim assessments, to measure student learning, growth, and progress toward	assessments, including common interim assessments, to measure	assessments to measure student learning but rarely measures student progress toward achieving state/local	measures only point-in-time

I-B-2. Adjustment to Practice

Standard I: Curriculum, Planning, and Assessment

 Exemplary	Proficient	Needs Improvement	Unsatisfactory	

Organizes and analyzes results from a comprehensive system of assessments to determine progress toward intended outcomes and frequently uses these findings to adjust practice and identify and/or implement appropriate differentiated interventions and enhancements for individuals and groups of students and appropriate modifications of lessons and units. Is able to modelOrganizes and analyzes results from a variety of assessments to determine progress toward intended outcomes and uses these findings to adjust practice and identify and/or implement appropriate differentiated interventions and enhancements for students.May organize and analyze some assessment results but only occasionally adjusts practice or modifies future instruction based on the findings.Makes few adjustmen practice based on for and informal assessm	nal
---	-----

I-C-1. Analysis and Conclusions

Standard I: Curriculum, Planning, and Assessment

Exemplary	Proficient	Needs Improvement	Unsatisfactory
that improve short- and	appropriate conclusions from a thorough analysis of a wide range of	limited analysis of student data to inform student grading and promotion	Does not draw conclusions from student data beyond completing minimal requirements such as grading for report cards.

I-C-2. Sharing Conclusions With Colleagues

Standard I: Curriculum, Planning, and Assessment

Exemplary	Proficient	Needs Improvement	Unsatisfactory
Establishes and implements a schedule and plan for regularly sharing with all appropriate colleagues conclusions and insights about student progress. Seeks and applies feedback from them about practices that will support improved student learning. Is able to model this element.	(e.g., general education, special education, and English learner staff) conclusions about student progress and seeks feedback from them about instructional or assessment	Only occasionally shares with colleagues conclusions about student progress and/or only occasionally seeks feedback from them about practices that will support improved student learning.	Rarely shares with colleagues conclusions about student progress and/or rarely seeks feedback.

I-C-3. Sharing Conclusions With Students

Standard I: Curriculum, Planning, and Assessment

1				
deline endere	Exemplary	Proficient	Needs Improvement	Unsatisfactory
- 3	Establishes early, constructive feedback loops	Based on assessment results, provides		Provides little or no feedback on student

with students and families	descriptive feedback and	about performance beyond	performance except
that create a dialogue	engages students and	grades but rarely shares	through grades or report of
about performance,	families in constructive	strategies for students to	task completion, or
progress, and	conversation that focuses	improve their performance	provides inappropriate
improvement. Is able to	on how students can	toward objectives.	feedback that does not
model this element.	improve their performance.		support students to
		3	improve their performance.

Standard I: Curriculum, Planning, and Assessment - Comments

Please indicate evidence supporting ratings for this section. Include evidence for all ratings of "Needs Improvement" and "Unsatisfactory".

Standard II: Teaching All Students

The teacher promotes the learning and growth of all students through instructional practices that establish high expectations, create a safe and effective classroom environment, and demonstrate cultural proficiency.

II-A-1. Quality of Effort and Work

Standard II: Teaching All Students

Exemplary	Proficient	Needs Improvement	Unsatisfactory
Consistently defines high expectations for quality work and effort and effectively supports students to set high expectations for each other to persevere and produce high-quality work. Is able to model this element.	Consistently defines high expectations for the quality of student work and the perseverance and effort required to produce it; often provides exemplars,	exemplars and rubrics, limited guided practice, and/or few other supports to help students know what is expected of them: may	Establishes no or low expectations around quality of work and effort and/or offers few supports for students to produce quality work or effort.

II-A-2. Student Engagement

Standard II: Teaching All Students

Exemplary	Proficient	Needs Improvement	Unsatisfactory
engage most students both during the lesson and	\$ •	some students but leave	Uses instructional practices that leave most students uninvolved and/or passive participants.

II-A-3. Meeting Diverse Needs

Standard II: Teaching All Students

	Exemplary	Proficient	Needs Improvement	Unsatisfactory
and a sub-	Uses a varied repertoire of	Uses appropriate practices,		

practices to createincluding tiered instructionstructured opportunities forand scaffolds, toeach student to meet oraccommodate differencesexceed statein learning styles, needs,standards/local curriculuminterests, and levels ofexpectations. Is able toof students with disabilitiesmodel this element.and English learners.	May use some appropriate practices to accommodate differences, but fails to address an adequate range of differences.
---	---

II-B-1. Safe Learning Environment

Standard II: Teaching All Students

Exemplary	Proficient	Needs Improvement	Unsatisfactory
Uses rituals, routines, and proactive responses that create and maintain a safe physical and intellectual environment where students take academic risks and play an active role individually and collectively in preventing behaviors that interfere with learning. Is able to model this element.	create and maintain a safe physical and intellectual environment where students take academic risks and most behaviors that interfere with learning are prevented.	May create and maintain a safe physical environment but inconsistently maintains rituals, routines, and responses needed to prevent and/or stop behaviors that interfere with all students' learning.	responses to reinforce

II-B-2. Collaborative Learning Environment

Standard II: Teaching All Students

Exemplary	Proficient	Needs Improvement	Unsatisfactory
Teaches and reinforces	Develops students'	Teaches some	Makes little effort to teach
			interpersonal, group, and
			communication skills or
that students seek out their			facilitate student work in
peers as resources. Is able			groups, or such attempts
to model this practice.	with diverse peers.	to work in groups.	are ineffective.

II-B-3. Student Motivation

Standard II: Teaching All Students

Exemplary	Proficient	Needs Improvement	Unsatisfactory
Consistently supports students to identify strengths, interests, and needs; ask for support; take risks; challenge themselves; set learning goals; and monitor their own progress. Models	guide students to identify their strengths, interests, and needs; ask for support when appropriate; take	Creates some learning experiences that guide students to identify needs, ask for support, and challenge themselves to	Directs all learning experiences, providing few, if any, opportunities for students to take academic risks or challenge themselves to learn.

II-C-1. Respects Differences

Standard II: Teaching All Students

	Exemplary	Proficient	Needs Improvement	Unsatisfactory
1	Establishes an environment	Consistently uses		
and the second	in which students respect	Consistently uses		

supported to share and explore differences and similarities related to background, identity, challenges. Is able tostudents to demonstrate respect for and affirm their own and others' differences identity, language, strengths, and challenges.in which students generally demonstrate respect for individual differencessupported to share and explore differences and similarities related to background, identity, challenges. Is able tostudents to demonstrate respect for and affirm their individual differencesin which students generally demonstrate respect for individual differences	supported to share and explore differences and similarities related to background, identity, language, strengths, and challenges. Is able to	students to demonstrate respect for and affirm their own and others' differences related to background, identity, language,	in which students generally demonstrate respect for	demonstrate limited respect
--	---	---	---	-----------------------------

II-C-2. Maintains Respectful Environment

Standard II: Teaching All Students

Exemplary	Proficient	Needs Improvement	Unsatisfactory
Anticipates and responds appropriately to conflicts or misunderstandings arising from differences in backgrounds, languages, and identities in ways that lead students to be able to do the same independently. Is able to model this practice.	appropriately to conflicts or misunderstandings arising from differences in backgrounds, languages,	Anticipates and responds appropriately to some conflicts or misunderstandings but ignores and/or minimizes others.	Minimizes or ignores conflicts and/or responds in inappropriate ways.

II-D-1. Clear Expectations

Standard II: Teaching All Students

Exemplary	Proficient	Needs Improvement	Unsatisfactory
Clearly communicates and consistently enforces specific standards for student work, effort, and behavior so that most students are able to describe them and take ownership of meeting them. Is able to model this element.	consistently enforces specific standards for student work, effort, and	behavior rules and consequences, but	Does not make specific academic and behavior expectations clear to students.

II-D-2. High Expectations

Standard II: Teaching All Students

Exemplary	Proficient	Needs Improvement	Unsatisfactory
students can consistently naster challenging material s hrough effective effort. Successfully challenges students' misconceptions	Effectively models and einforces ways that students can master challenging material hrough effective effort, rather than having to lepend on innate ability.	need to work hard but does	Gives up on some students or communicates that some cannot master challenging material.
about innate ability. Is able d	lepend on innate ability.		

ŧ.	· · ·		E KE F. Land	f fina a fila fan fan se
٤.	Exemplary	Proficient	Needs Improvement	Unsatisfactory
£.				
ξ.			3	, , ,

Individually and with colleagues, consistently adapts instruction, materials, and assessments to make challenging material accessible to all students, including English learners and students with disabilities. Is able to model this element.	challenging material accessible to all students, including English learners and students with	instruction, materials, and assessments to make challenging material	Rarely adapts instruction, materials, and assessments to make challenging material accessible to all students.
--	--	--	--

Standard II: Teaching All Students - Comments

Please indicate evidence supporting ratings for this section. Include evidence for all ratings of "Needs Improvement" and "Unsatisfactory".

Best Practices Observed

Checkmark indicates which elements the teacher demonstrates in an exemplary manner.

- Subject Matter Knowledge
- Child and Adolescent Development
- Rigorous Standards-Based Unit Design
- Well-Structured Lessons
- Variety of Assessment Methods
- Adjustments to Practice
- Analysis and Conclusions
- Sharing Conclusions With Colleagues
- Sharing Conclusions With Students
- Quality of Effort and Work
- Student Engagement
- Meeting Diverse Needs
- Safe Learning Environment
- Collaborative Learning Environment
- Student Motivation
- Respects Differences
- Maintains Respectful Environment
- Sets Clear Expectations
- Sets High Expectations
- Provides Access to Knowledge

Comment and Questions

Please enter your comments or questions here.

Comment and Questions (Teacher)

Please enter your comments or questions here.

Unsatisfactory Performance Comments

Evaluator enters comments on any unsatisfactory performance that MUST be addressed by the teacher.

.

Pre-Announced Observation Conference Form

Educator—Name/Title:
Evaluator—Name/Title:
School(s):
Educator is encouraged to consider his/her SMART goal(s) as he/she prepares this lesson.
Classroom demographics (For example: Number of IEP's; level of class, if any; number of ELE students; etc.)
Brief description of lesson being observed:
Massachusetts frameworks/ standards to be addressed:
Materials associated with class observed:
Learning objectives/ expected outcomes for class observed (Students will know and be able to)
Identify assessments to be used to measure student learning, growth and progress toward achieving identified state standard(s):
How does this lesson identify to your identified SMART goal?
Comments:

Announced Observation Form (Page 1 of 3)

EducatorName/Title:	
Evaluator—Name/Title:	
School(s):	
Lesson Attached	
SMART Goal(s):	994-9-4440 4-9-9-2

Best Practices: A checkmark indicates element(s)/ best practice(s) the teacher successfully demonstrated in the observed lesson.

Instruction Indicator	
Quality of Effort and Work	
🗖 Student Engagement	
Meeting Diverse Needs	
Learning Environment Indicator	
Safe Learning Environment	
Collaborative Learning Environment	
🔲 Student Motivation	
Cultural Proficiency Indicator	
Respects Differences	
Maintains Respectful Environment	

Related SMART Goal(s) Rubrics:

(Evaluator: Please paste relevant rubric here.)

.

Evaluator's Narrative:

Educator's Comments/ Questions:

Unsatisfactory Performance Comments (Evaluator enters comments on any unsatisfactory performance that MUST be addressed by the Educator.

Date Pre-Announced Observation Conference was held:

Comments/ Questions:

Date Post-Announced Observation Conference was held: _____

Comments/ Questions:		
Signature of Educator	unter	_Date
Signature of Evaluator		_Date

Attachment(s) Included

Evaluator Record of Evidence Form (Page 1 of 2)

Educator-Name/Title:			
Evaluator-Name/Title:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
School(s):			
Academic Year:	Educator Plan and Dura	ation:	
	and Indicators for Effectiv as per <u>6030</u> r should track collection to ensure	CMR35.03	
I. Curriculum, Planning, & Assessment	II. Teaching All Students	III. Family & Community Engagement	IV. Professional Culture
 I-A. Curriculum and Planning I-B. Assessment I-C. Analysis 	 II-A. Instruction II-B. Learning Environment II-C. Cultural Proficiency II-D. Expectations 	 III-A. Engagement III-B. Collaboration III-C. Communication 	 IV-A. Reflection IV-B. Professional Growth IV-C. Collaboration IV-D. Decision-making IV-E. Shared Responsibility IV-F. Professional Responsibilities

*The Rubric Outline is intended to be used for citing Standards and Indicators. Evaluators should review the full rubric for analysis of evidence and determination of ratings

Evaluator Record of Evidence Form (Page 2 of 2)

Date (Record date of collection, duration if applicable)	Source of Evidence* (e.g., parent conference, observation)	Standard(s)/ Indicator(s) Note Standard(s) and Indicator(s) to which evidence is tied	Analysis of Evidence Record notes "based on observations and artifacts of professional practice, including unannounced observations of practice of any duration" or other forms of evidence to support determining ratings on Standards as per 603 CMR 35.07	Feedback Provided Briefly record feedback given to educator (e.g., strengths recognized, suggestions for improvement)
EX: 11/8/11	EX: unit plans, benchmark data:	EX; -B	EX: unit plans were appropriately modified after analysis of benchmark data to better reflect student performance at mid-point of semester	EX; recognized strong adjustment to practice, suggested teacher collaborate with team on backward curriculum mapping

*note if classroom observations are announced or unannounced.

Educator Collection of Evidence Form

EducatorName/Title:	
Evaluator—Name/Title:	
School(s):	
Evidence pertains to (check all that apply) ⁷ : Fulfillment of professional responsibilities and growth Evidence of outreach to and ongoing engagement with families Progress toward attaining student learning goal(s) Progress toward attaining professional practice goal(s) Other:	
Summary of Evidence Summarize the evidence compiled to be presented to evalu Attach additional pages as neede	
Signature of Educator	Date
Signature of Evaluator	Date
Attachment(s) Included	

⁷ Per <u>603CMR35.07(1)(c)1</u>, "Evidence compiled and presented by the educator includ[es]: 1. Evidence of fulfillment of professional responsibilities and growth, such as: self-assessments; peer collaboration; professional development linked to goals and or educator plans; contributions to the school community and professional culture; 2. Evidence of active outreach to and ongoing engagement with families." However, educator collection of evidence is not limited to these areas.

Formative Assessment Report Form- (Page 1 of 2) For Teachers on a 1-Year Cycle or shorter Due: February 1st of either a 1-Year Cycle or as specified in an individual plan.

EducatorName/Title:
EvaluatorName/Title:
School(s):
Assessing ⁸ : Progress toward attaining goals Performance on Standards Both Progress Toward Student Learning Goal(s) Describe current level of progress and feedback for improvement. Attach additional pages as needed.
Progress Toward Professional Practice Goal(s)
Describe current level of progress. Attach additional pages as needed.

⁸ As per <u>603CMR35.02</u> and <u>603CMR35.06(5)</u>, formative assessment shall mean the process used to assess progress towards attaining goals set forth in educator plans, performance on performance standards, or both.

Formative Assessment Report Form- (Page 2 of 2) For Teachers on a 1-Year Cycle or shorter Due: February 1st of either a 1-Year Cycle or as specified in an individual plan.

Educator—Name/Title:	
the second se	n Each Standard
Describe performance and feedback for implied line in the second	rovement. Attach additional pages as needed.
II: Teaching All Students	
III: Family & Community Engagement	
IV: Professional Culture	
The educator shall have the opportunity to respond in $35.06(5)(c)$ on the Educator Response Form.	n writing to the formative assessment as per $\underline{603CMR}$
Signature of Evaluator	Date Completed:
Signature of Educator*	Date Received:

* Signature of the educator indicates acknowledgement of this report; it does not necessarily denote agreement with the contents of the report. Educators have the opportunity to respond to this report in writing and may use the Educator Response Form.

Formative Evaluation Report Form (Page 1 of 3)For Teachers on a 2-Year CycleDue: June 1st of Year 1.

For educators on two-year Self-	Directed Growth Plans at th	ne end of Ye	ear One of the cycle	
Educator-Name/Title:			······································	
Evaluator—Name/Title:				
School(s):				
Assessing ⁹ :	Performance on	Standards	🗌 Both	
The second se	ward Student Learning G additional pages as needed	and the second state of th		
Did not meet Some progress	Significant Progress	Met	Exceeded	
Rationale, evidence, and feedback:				
Contract of the second s	ard Professional Practice additional pages as needed	Contraction of the second		
Did not meet Some progress	Significant Progress	Met	Exceeded	
Rationale, evidence, and feedback:				

⁹ As per 603CMR35.02 and 603CMR35.06(5), formative evaluation shall mean the process used to assess progress towards attaining goals set forth in educator plans, performance on performance standards, or both.

Formative Evaluation Report Form (Page 2 of 3) Due: June 1st of Year 1.

EducatorName/Title:
Evaluator is assigning same ratings as prior Summative Evaluation; no comments needed
Evaluator is assigning ratings that differ from prior Summative Evaluation; comments are required
Rating on Each Standard
I: Curriculum, Planning, Unsatisfactory Needs Improvement Proficient Exemplary
Rationale, evidence, and feedback:
II: Teaching All
Students
Rationale, evidence, and feedback:
III: Family/Community Unsatisfactory Needs Improvement Proficient Exemplary
Rationale, evidence, and feedback;
IV: Professional
Rationale, evidence, and feedback:

Formative Evaluation Report Form (Page 3 of 3) For Teachers on a 2-Year Cycle Due: June 1st of Year 1.

Educator—Name/Title:				
Evaluator is assigning same ratings as prior Summative Evaluation; no comments needed				
Overall Performance Rating				
Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary	
Rationale, evidence, and fee	<u>dback:</u>			
	Plan Moving Fc	orward		
Self-Directed Growth Plan	Directed In Growth Plan Pla		Developing Educator Plan	

The educator shall have the opportunity to respond in writing to the formative evaluation as per 603CMR 35.06(5)(c) on the Educator Response Form.

Signature of Evaluator ______ Date Completed: ______ Signature of Educator* _____ Date Received: ______

*Signature of the educator indicates acknowledgement of this report; it does not necessarily denote agreement with the contents of the report. Educators have the opportunity to respond to this report in writing and may use the Educator Response Form.

Summative Evaluation Report Form (Page 1 of 3)

Educator—Name/Title:
Evaluator—Name/Title:
School(s):
Current Plan: Self-Directed Growth Plan Directed Growth Plan Developing Educator Plan Improvement Plan
Progress Toward Student Learning Goal(s) Attach additional pages as needed.
Did not meet Some progress Significant Progress Met Exceeded
Rationale, evidence, and feedback:
Progress Toward Professional Practice Goal(s)
Attach additional pages as needed.
Did not meet Some progress Significant Progress Met Exceeded
Rationale, evidence, and feedback:

Due: May 15th at the end of the evaluation cycle or as specified by an Educator Plan

Summative Evaluation Report Form (Page 2 of 3)

Educator—Name/Title:			
	Rating	on Each Standard	
l: Curriculum, Planning, & Assessment	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement Proficient	Exemplary
Rationale, evidence, and feedb	<u>back:</u>		
II: Teaching All Students	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement Proficient	Exemplary
Rationale, evidence, and feedb	<u>back:</u>		
	·····		
III: Family/Community Engagement		Needs Improvement Proficient	Exemplary
Rationale, evidence, and feedb	back:		
IV: Professional Culture	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement Proficient	Exemplary
Rationale, evidence, and fe	edback:		

Summative Evaluation Report Form (Page 3 of 3)

EducatorName/Title:				
	Overall Pe	rformance Rating		
Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvem	ent 🗌 Profici	ent Exemplary	
Rationale, evidence, and fee	edback:			
	Plan Mc	wing Forward		
Self-Directed Growth Plan	Directed Growth Plan	Improvement Plan	Developing Educator Plan	

The educator shall have the opportunity to respond in writing to the summative evaluation as per <u>603CMR</u> <u>35.06(6)</u> on the Educator Response Form.

Signature of Evaluator ______Date Completed:______

Signature of Educator*_____Date Received: _____

* Signature of the educator indicates acknowledgement of this report; it does not necessarily denote agreement with the contents of the report. Educators have the opportunity to respond to this report in writing and may use the Educator Response Form.

Educator Response Form

Educator-Name/Title:

Evaluator-Name/Title: _____

School(s): _____

Response to: (check all that apply)

- Educator Plan, including goals and activities
- Evaluator collection and/or analysis of evidence
- Formative Assessment or Evaluation Report
- Summative Evaluation Report
- Other: _____

Educator Response Attach additional pages as needed	
Signature of Educator	Date
Signature of Evaluator	_Date

Attachment(s) Included

Educator—Name/Title:
EvaluatorName/Title:
School(s):
Year of Plan/ Evaluation Cycle:
Area(s) of Identified Need:
Specific Objectives for Improvement:
Methods of Support / Action Steps for Improvement:

Improvement Plan for Corrective Action Form

Evidence that Objectives for Improvement Have Been Successfully Met:

Plan Timetable (This timetable should include a minimum of an initial meeting, three periodic checkin meetings, and an outcome meeting in addition to the observation visits). Please include the dates of the observation here as well.

Attachment(s) Included

Signature of Educator	Date	

Signature of Evaluator ______Date_____

Educator Comments:

Appendix G: Teacher and Caseload Educator Evaluation System

Appendix G-2: Evaluation Timeline

Annual Cycle: Educators without Professional Teacher Status and Struggling Educators

Activity:	Completed By:
Superintendent, principal or designee meets with evaluators and educators to explain evaluation process	September 15
Evaluator meets with first-year educators to assist in self-assessment and goal setting process.	October 1
Educator submits self-assessment and proposed SMART goals	
Evaluator meets with Educators in teams or individually to establish Educator Plans (Educator Plan may be established at Summative Evaluation Report meeting in prior school year)	October 15
Evaluator completes Educator Plans	November 1
Evaluator should complete first unannounced observation of each Educator	November 15
Educator submits evidence on parent outreach, professional growth, progress on goals (and other standards, if desired).	January 5*
* or four weeks before Formative Assessment Report date established by Evaluator	
Evaluator should complete mid-cycle Formative Assessment Reports for Educators on one-year Educator Plans	February 1
Evaluator holds Formative Assessment Meetings if requested by either Evaluator or Educator	February 15
Educator submits evidence on parent outreach, professional growth, progress on goals (and other standards, if desired)	April 20*
*or 4 weeks prior to Summative Evaluation Report date established by evaluator	
Evaluator completes announced observation	May 1
Evaluator completes Summative Evaluation Report	May 15
Evaluator meets with Educators whose overall Summative Evaluation ratings are Needs Improvement or Unsatisfactory	June 1
Evaluator meets with Educators whose ratings are proficient or exemplary at request of Evaluator or Educator	June 10
Educator signs Summative Evaluation Report and adds response, if any within 5 school days of receipt	June 15

Educators on Plans of Less than One Year: The timeline for educators on Plans of less than one year will be established in the Educator Plan.

Appendix G: Teacher and Caseload Educator Evaluation System

Two Year Cycle: Proficient and Exemplary Educators with Professional Teacher Status

Activity:	Completed By:
Superintendent, principal or designee meets with evaluators and educators to explain evaluation process	September 15
Evaluator meets with Educators in teams or individually to establish Educator Plans (Educator Plan may be established at Summative Evaluation Report meeting in prior school year)	October 15
Evaluator completes Educator Plans	November 1
Evaluator should complete first unannounced observation of each Educator	November 15
Educator submits evidence on parent outreach, professional growth, progress on goals (and other standards, if desired) *or 4 weeks prior to Summative Evaluation Report date established by evaluator	April 20*
Evaluator completes Summative Evaluation Report	May 15
Evaluator completes unannounced observation(s)	Any time during the 2- year evaluation cycle
Evaluator completes Formative Evaluation Report	June 1 of Year 1
Evaluator conducts Formative Evaluation Meeting, if any	June 1 of Year 1
Evaluator completes Summative Evaluation Report	May 15 of Year 2
Evaluator conducts Summative Evaluation Meeting, if any	June 10 of Year 2
Evaluator and Educator sign Summative Evaluation Report	June 15 of Year 2

Appendix G: Teacher and Caseload Educator Evaluation System

Appendix G-3: Rubric

- Teacher Rubric
- Specialized Instructional Support Personnel Rubric

Teacher Rubric Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice

Standard I: *Curriculum, Planning, and Assessment.* The teacher promotes the learning and growth of all students by providing high-quality and coherent instruction, designing and administering authentic and meaningful student assessments, analyzing student performance and growth data, using this data to improve instruction, providing students with constructive feedback on an ongoing basis, and continuously refining learning objectives.

Indicator I-A.	e, y del televier develop la Capita provinsi a del company		s a good grasp of child develop instruction consisting of well-s	그는 가장에 들었다. 이렇게 물건에 있는 것이 같은 것이 같이 있는 것이 같이 있는 것이 같이 많이 있는 것이 같이 많이 많이 있는 것이 같이 있는 것이 같이 없다. 것이 같이 많이 많이 많이 없는 것이 없는 것 않이
I-A. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
I-A-1. Subject Matter Knowledge	Demonstrates limited knowledge of the subject matter and/or its pedagogy; relies heavily on textbooks or resources for development of the factual content. Rarely engages students in learning experiences focused on complex knowledge or skills in the subject.	Demonstrates factual knowledge of subject matter and the pedagogy it requires by sometimes engaging students in learning experiences around complex knowledge and skills in the subject.	Demonstrates sound knowledge and understanding of the subject matter and the pedagogy it requires by consistently engaging students in learning experiences that enable them to acquire complex knowledge and skills in the subject.	Demonstrates expertise in subject matter and the pedagogy it requires by engaging all students in learning experiences that enable them to synthesize complex knowledge and skills in the subject. Is able to model this element.
I-A-2. Child and Adolescent Development	Demonstrates little or no knowledge of developmental levels of students this age or differences in how students learn. Typically develops one learning experience for all students that does not enable most students to meet the intended outcomes.	Demonstrates knowledge of developmental levels of students this age but does not identify developmental levels and ways of learning among the students in the class and/or develops learning experiences that enable some, but not all, students to move toward meeting intended outcomes.	Demonstrates knowledge of the developmental levels of students in the classroom and the different ways these students learn by providing differentiated learning experiences that enable all students to progress toward meeting intended outcomes.	Demonstrates expert knowledge of the developmental levels of the teacher's own students and students in this grade or subject more generally and uses this knowledge to differentiate and expand learning experiences that enable all students to make significant progress toward meeting stated outcomes. Is able to model this element.

I-A. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
I-A-3. Rigorous Standards- Based Unit Design	Plans individual lessons rather than units of instruction, or designs units of instruction that are not aligned with state standards/ local curricula, lack measurable outcomes, and/or include tasks that mostly rely on lower level thinking skills.	Designs units of instruction that address some knowledge and skills defined in state standards/local curricula, but some student outcomes are poorly defined and/or tasks rarely require higher-order thinking skills.	Designs units of instruction with measurable outcomes and challenging tasks requiring higher- order thinking skills that enable students to learn the knowledge and skills defined in state standards/local curricula.	Designs integrated units of instruction with measurable, accessible outcomes and challenging tasks requiring higher-order thinking skills that enable students to learn and apply the knowledge and skills defined in state standards/local curricula. Is able to model this element.
I-A-4. Well- Structured Lessons	Develops lessons with inappropriate student engagement strategies, pacing, sequence, activities, materials, resources, and/or grouping for the intended outcome or for the students in the class.	Develops lessons with only some elements of appropriate student engagement strategies, pacing, sequence, activities, materials, resources, and grouping.	Develops well-structured lessons with challenging, measurable objectives and appropriate student engagement strategies, pacing, sequence, activities, materials, resources, technologies, and grouping.	Develops well-structured and highly engaging lessons with challenging, measurable objectives and appropriate student engagement strategies, pacing, sequence, activities, materials, resources, technologies, and grouping to attend to every student's needs. Is able to model this element.
Indicator I-B.		of informal and formal methods		
	understanding to develop dif	ferentiated and enhanced learni	ng experiences and improve fu	ture instruction.
I-B. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
I-B-1. Variety of Assessment Methods	Administers only the assessments required by the school and/or measures only point-in-time student achievement.	May administer some informal and/or formal assessments to measure student learning but rarely measures student progress toward achieving state/local standards.	Designs and administers a variety of informal and formal methods and assessments, including common interim assessments, to measure each student's learning, growth, and progress toward achieving state/local standards.	Uses an integrated, comprehensive system of informal and formal assessments, including common interim assessments, to measure student learning, growth, and progress toward achieving state/local standards. Is able to model this element.
I-B-2. Adjustment to Practice	Makes few adjustments to practice based on formal and informal assessments.	May organize and analyze some assessment results but only occasionally adjusts practice or modifies future instruction based on the findings.	Organizes and analyzes results from a variety of assessments to determine progress toward intended outcomes and uses these findings to adjust practice and identify and/or implement appropriate differentiated interventions and enhancements for students.	Organizes and analyzes results from a comprehensive system of assessments to determine progress toward intended outcomes and frequently uses these findings to adjust practice and identify and/or implement appropriate differentiated interventions and enhancements for individuals and groups of students and appropriate modifications of lessons and units. Is able to model this element.
Indicator I-C.	Analysis: Analyzes data from a	ssessments, draws conclusions	s, and shares them appropriate	<mark>اير.</mark>
	n en		ann an tha ann an tha Ann ann ann an tharaidh ann an tha ann an tha T	
I-C.	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary

Elements				
I-C-1. Analysis and Conclusions	Does not draw conclusions from student data beyond completing minimal requirements such as grading for report cards.	Draws conclusions from a limited analysis of student data to inform student grading and promotion decisions.	Individually and with colleagues, draws appropriate conclusions from a thorough analysis of a wide range of assessment data to improve student learning.	Individually and with colleagues, draws appropriate, actionable conclusions from a thorough analysis of a wide range of assessment data that improve short- and long-term instructional decisions. Is able to model this element.
I-C-2. Sharing Conclusions With Colleagues	Rarely shares with colleagues conclusions about student progress and/or rarely seeks feedback.	Only occasionally shares with colleagues conclusions about student progress and/or only occasionally seeks feedback from them about practices that will support improved student learning.	Regularly shares with appropriate colleagues (e.g., general education, special education, and English learner staff) conclusions about student progress and seeks feedback from them about instructional or assessment practices that will support improved student learning.	Establishes and implements a schedule and plan for regularly sharing with all appropriate colleagues conclusions and insights about student progress. Seeks and applies feedback from them about practices that will support improved student learning. Is able to model this element.
I-C-3. Sharing Conclusions With Students	Provides little or no feedback on student performance except through grades or report of task completion, or provides inappropriate feedback that does not support students to improve their performance.	Provides some feedback about performance beyond grades but rarely shares strategies for students to improve their performance toward objectives.	Based on assessment results, provides descriptive feedback and engages students and families in constructive conversation that focuses on how students can improve their performance.	Establishes early, constructive feedback loops with students and families that create a dialogue about performance, progress, and improvement. Is able to model this element.

Standard II: *Teaching All Students.* The teacher promotes the learning and growth of all students through instructional practices that establish high expectations, create a safe and effective classroom environment, and demonstrate cultural proficiency.

Indicator II-A.	a dan an tang kanada dipinasi ng Kitiping Propinsi a Masil Aginatik dan		ect high expectations regarding content and quality of effort and work; ommodate diverse learning styles, needs, interests, and levels of		
II-A. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary	
II-A-1. Quality of Effort and Work	Establishes no or low expectations around quality of work and effort and/or offers few supports for students to produce quality work or effort.	May states high expectations for quality and effort, but provides few exemplars and rubrics, limited guided practice, and/or few other supports to help students know what is expected of them; may establish inappropriately low expectations for quality and effort.	Consistently defines high expectations for the quality of student work and the perseverance and effort required to produce it; often provides exemplars, rubrics, and guided practice.	Consistently defines high expectations for quality work and effort and effectively supports students to set high expectations for each other to persevere and produce high-quality work. Is able to model this element.	
II-A-2. Student Engagement	Uses instructional practices that leave most students uninvolved and/or passive participants.	Uses instructional practices that motivate and engage some students but leave others uninvolved and/or passive participants.	Consistently uses instructional practices that are likely to motivate and engage most students during the lesson.	Consistently uses instructional practices that typically motivate and engage most students both during the lesson and during independent work and home work. Is able to model this element.	
II-A-3. Meeting Diverse Needs	Uses limited and/or inappropriate practices to accommodate differences.	May use some appropriate practices to accommodate differences, but fails to address an adequate range of differences.	Uses appropriate practices, including tiered instruction and scaffolds, to accommodate differences in learning styles, needs, interests, and levels of readiness, including those of students with disabilities and English learners.	Uses a varied repertoire of practices to create structured opportunities for each student to meet or exceed state standards/local curriculum and behavioral expectations. Is able to model this element.	

NE 분증 같은 분구	take academic risks, challeng	e themselves, and claim owner	ship of their learning.	
II-B. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
II-B-1. Safe Learning Environment	Maintains a physical environment that is unsafe or does not support student learning. Uses inappropriate or ineffective rituals, routines, and/or responses to reinforce positive behavior or respond to behaviors that interfere with students' learning.	May create and maintain a safe physical environment but inconsistently maintains rituals, routines, and responses needed to prevent and/or stop behaviors that interfere with all students' learning.	Uses rituals, routines, and appropriate responses that create and maintain a safe physical and intellectual environment where students take academic risks and most behaviors that interfere with learning are prevented.	Uses rituals, routines, and proactive responses that create and maintain a safe physical and intellectual environment where students take academic risks and play an active role—individually and collectively—ir preventing behaviors that interfere with learning. Is able to model this element.
II-B-2. Collaborative Learning Environment	Makes little effort to teach interpersonal, group, and communication skills or facilitate student work in groups, or such attempts are ineffective.	Teaches some interpersonal, group, and communication skills and provides some opportunities for students to work in groups.	Develops students' interpersonal, group, and communication skills and provides opportunities for students to learn in groups with diverse peers.	Teaches and reinforces interpersona group, and communication skills so that students seek out their peers as resources. Is able to model this practice.
II-B-3. Student Motivation	Directs all learning experiences, providing few, if any, opportunities for students to take academic risks or challenge themselves to learn.	Creates some learning experiences that guide students to identify needs, ask for support, and challenge themselves to take academic risks.	Consistently creates learning experiences that guide students to identify their strengths, interests, and needs; ask for support when appropriate; take academic risks; and challenge themselves to learn.	Consistently supports students to identify strengths, interests, and needs; ask for support; take risks; challenge themselves; set learning goals; and monitor their own progress. Models these skills for colleagues.

	Cultural Proficiency: Actively strengths, and challenges are			
II-C. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
II-C-1. Respects Differences	Establishes an environment in which students demonstrate limited respect for individual differences.	Establishes an environment in which students generally demonstrate respect for individual differences	Consistently uses strategies and practices that are likely to enable students to demonstrate respect for and affirm their own and others' differences related to background, identity, language, strengths, and challenges.	Establishes an environment in which students respect and affirm their own and others' differences and are supported to share and explore differences and similarities related to background, identity, language, strengths, and challenges. Is able to model this practice.
II-C-2. Maintains Respectful Environment	Minimizes or ignores conflicts and/or responds in inappropriate ways.	Anticipates and responds appropriately to some conflicts or misunderstandings but ignores and/or minimizes others.	Anticipates and responds appropriately to conflicts or misunderstandings arising from differences in backgrounds, languages, and identities.	Anticipates and responds appropriately to conflicts or misunderstandings arising from differences in backgrounds, languages, and identities in ways that lead students to be able to do the same independently. Is able to model this practice.
Indicator II-D.		ements lessons that set clear a	nd high expectations and also r	nake knowledge accessible
	for all students.			
II-D. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
II-D-1. Clear Expectations	Does not make specific academic and behavior expectations clear to students.	May announce and post classroom academic and behavior rules and consequences, but inconsistently or ineffectively enforces them.	Clearly communicates and consistently enforces specific standards for student work, effort, and behavior.	Clearly communicates and consistently enforces specific standards for student work, effort, and behavior so that most students are able to describe them and take ownership of meeting them. Is able to model this element.
II-D-2. High Expectations	Gives up on some students or communicates that some cannot master challenging material.	May tell students that the subject or assignment is challenging and that they need to work hard but does little to counteract student misconceptions about innate ability.	Effectively models and reinforces ways that students can master challenging material through effective effort, rather than having to depend on innate ability.	Effectively models and reinforces ways that students can consistently master challenging material through effective effort. Successfully challenges students' misconceptions about innate ability. Is able to model this element.
II-D-3. Access to Knowledge	Rarely adapts instruction, materials, and assessments to make challenging material accessible to all students.	Occasionally adapts instruction, materials, and assessments to make challenging material accessible to all students.	Consistently adapts instruction, materials, and assessments to make challenging material accessible to all students, including English learners and	Individually and with colleagues, consistently adapts instruction, materials, and assessments to make challenging material accessible to all students, including English learners

Standard III: Family and Community Engagement. The teacher promotes the learning and growth of all students through effective partnerships with families, caregivers, community members, and organizations.

Indicator III-A	Engagement: Welcomes and community.	encourages every family to be	come active participants in the	classroom and school
lii-A. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
III-A-1. Parent/Family Engagement	Does not welcome families to become participants in the classroom and school community or actively discourages their participation.	Makes limited attempts to involve families in school and/or classroom activities, meetings, and planning.	Uses a variety of strategies to support every family to participate actively and appropriately in the classroom and school community.	Successfully engages most families and sustains their active and appropriate participation in the classroom and school community. Is able to model this element.
Indicator III-	 Collaboration: Collaborate and development both at I 		implement strategies for sup	porting student learning
III-B. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
III-B-1. Learning Expectations	Does not inform parents about learning or behavior expectations.	Sends home only a list of classroom rules and the learning outline or syllabus for the year.	Consistently provides parents with clear, user-friendly expectations for student learning and behavior.	Successfully conveys to most parents student learning and behavior expectations. Is able to model this element.
III-B-2. Curriculum Support	Rarely, if ever, communicates with parents on ways to support children at home or at school.	Sends home occasional suggestions on how parents can support children at home or at school.	Regularly updates parents on curriculum throughout the year and suggests strategies for supporting learning at school and home, including appropriate adaptation for students with disabilities or limited English proficiency.	Successfully prompts most families to use one or more of the strategies suggested for supporting learning at school and home and seeks out evidence of their impact. Is able to model this element.
Indicator III-C	Communication: Engages In learning and performance.	regular, two-way, and culturally	proficient communication with	families about student
lil-C. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary

III-C. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
III-C-1. Two-Way Communication	Rarely communicates with families except through report cards; rarely solicits or responds promptly and carefully to communications from families.	Relies primarily on newsletters and other one-way media and usually responds promptly to communications from families.	Regularly uses two-way communication with families about student performance and learning and responds promptly and carefully to communications from families.	Regularly uses a two-way system that supports frequent, proactive, and personalized communication with families about student performance and learning. Is able to model this element.
III-C-2. Culturally Proficient Communication	Makes few attempts to respond to different family cultural norms and/or responds inappropriately or disrespectfully.	May communicate respectfully and make efforts to take into account different families' home language, culture, and values, but does so inconsistently or does not demonstrate understanding and sensitivity to the differences.	Always communicates respectfully with families and demonstrates understanding of and sensitivity to different families' home language, culture, and values.	Always communicates respectfully with families and demonstrates understanding and appreciation of different families' home language, culture, and values. Is able to model this element.

Standard IV: Professional Culture. The teacher promotes the learning and growth of all students through ethical, culturally proficient, skilled, and collaborative practice.

> Note: At the Exemplary level, an educator's level of expertise is such that he or she is able to model this element through training, teaching, coaching, assisting, and/or demonstrating. In this rubric, this level of expertise is denoted by "Is able to model."

Indicator IV-A	well as meetings with teams		rove the educator's own practic rmation, analyze data, examine nd learning.	
IV-A. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
IV-A-1. Reflective Practice	Demonstrates limited reflection on practice and/or use of insights gained to improve practice.	May reflect on the effectiveness of lessons/ units and interactions with students but not with colleagues and/or rarely uses insights to improve practice.	Regularly reflects on the effectiveness of lessons, units, and interactions with students, both individually and with colleagues, and uses insights gained to improve practice and student learning.	Regularly reflects on the effectiveness of lessons, units, and interactions with students, both individually and with colleagues; and uses and shares with colleagues, insights gained to improve practice and student learning. Is able to model this element.
IV-A-2. Goal Setting	Generally, participates passively in the goal-setting process and/or proposes goals that are vague or easy to reach.	Proposes goals that are sometimes vague or easy to achieve and/or bases goals on a limited self- assessment and analysis of student learning data.	Proposes challenging, measurable professional practice, team, and student learning goals that are based on thorough self- assessment and analysis of student learning data.	Individually and with colleagues builds capacity to propose and monitor challenging, measurable goals based on thorough self- assessment and analysis of student learning data. Is able to model this element.
Indicator IV-B			bment and learning opportunitie	
	practice or build the expertis	e and experience to assume di	ferent instructional and leaders	hip roles.
IV-B. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
IV-B-1. Professional Learning and Growth	Participates in few, if any, professional development and learning opportunities to improve practice and/or applies little new learning to practice.	Participates only in required professional development activities and/or inconsistently or inappropriately applies new learning to improve practice.	Consistently seeks out and applies, when appropriate, ideas for improving practice from supervisors, colleagues, professional development activities, and other resources to gain expertise and/or assume different instruction and leadership responsibilities.	Consistently seeks out professional development and learning opportunities that improve practice and build expertise of self and other educators in instruction and leadership. Is able to model this element.

Indicator IV-C. Collaboration: Collaborates effectively with colleagues on a wide range of tasks.

a-theftickardur

IV-C. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
IV-C-1. Professional Collaboration	Rarely and/or ineffectively collaborates with colleagues; conversations often lack focus on improving student learning.	Does not consistently collaborate with colleagues in ways that support productive team effort.	Consistently and effectively collaborates with colleagues in such work as developing standards-based units, examining student work, analyzing student performance, and planning appropriate intervention.	Supports colleagues to collaborate in areas such as developing standards- based units, examining student work, analyzing student performance, and planning appropriate intervention. Is able to model this element.
Indicator IV-D	e de 155 varier de la constitución	nvolved in schoolwide decision	making, and takes an active ro	le in school improvement
	planning.			
IV-D. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
IV-D-1. Decision-Making	Participates in planning and decision making at the school, department, and/or grade level only when asked and rarely contributes relevant ideas or expertise.	May participate in planning and decision making at the school, department, and/or grade level but rarely contributes relevant ideas or expertise.	Consistently contributes relevant ideas and expertise to planning and decision making at the school, department, and/or grade level.	I In planning and decision-making at the school, department, and/or grade level, consistently contributes ideas and expertise that are critical to school improvement efforts. Is able to model this element.
Indicator IV-E	Shared Responsibility: Share	es responsibility for the perform	ance of all students within the	school.
IV-E. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
IV-E-1. Shared Responsibility	Rarely reinforces schoolwide behavior and learning expectations for all students and/or makes a limited contribution to their learning by rarely sharing responsibility for meeting their needs.	Within and beyond the classroom, inconsistently reinforces schoolwide behavior and learning expectations for all students, and/or makes a limited contribution to their learning by inconsistently sharing responsibility for meeting their needs.	Within and beyond the classroom, consistently reinforces schoolwide behavior and learning expectations for all students, and contributes to their learning by sharing responsibility for meeting their needs.	Individually and with colleaguesdevelops strategies and actions that contribute to the learning and productive behavior of all students at the school. Is able to model this element
Indicator IV-F	Professional Responsibilities	s: Is ethical and reliable, and me	ets routine responsibilities cor	isistently.
IV-F. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
IV-F-1. Judgment	Demonstrates poor judgment and/or discloses confidential student information inappropriately.	Sometimes demonstrates questionable judgment and/or inadvertently shares confidential information.	Demonstrates sound judgment reflecting integrity, honesty, fairness, and trustworthiness and protects student confidentiality appropriately.	Demonstrates sound judgment and acts appropriately to protect student confidentiality, rights and safety. Is able to model this element.
IV-F-2. Reliability & Responsibility	Frequently misses or is late to assignments, makes errors in records, and/or misses paperwork deadlines; frequently late or absent.	Occasionally misses or is late to assignments, completes work late, and/or makes errors in records.	Consistently fulfills professional responsibilities; is consistently punctual and reliable with paperwork, duties, and assignments; and is rarely late or absent from school.	Consistently fulfills all professional responsibilities to high standards. Is able to model this element.

Specialized Instructional Support Personnel (Caseload Educators) Standards and Indicators of Effective Teaching Practice

Standard I: Curriculum, Planning, and Assessment. promotes the learning and growth of all students by providing high-quality and coherent instruction, designing and administering authentic and meaningful student assessments, analyzing student performance and growth data, using this data to improve instruction, providing students with constructive feedback on an ongoing basis, and continuously refining learning objectives.

Indicator I-A.	Indicator I-A. Curriculum and Planning: Has strong knowledge specific to subject matter and/or professional responsibility, has a good grasp of child development and how students learn, and designs effective and rigorous plans for support consisting of well-structured lessons with measurable outcomes.					
I-A. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary		
I-A-1. Professional Knowledge	Demonstrates limited professional knowledge; relies heavily on outdated practices as opposed to current practices supported by research. Rarely engages students in academic, behavioral, and social/emotional learning experiences through the use of educational and/or clinical practices.	Demonstrates factual knowledge of the professional content and delivery and sometimes applies it to engage students in academic, behavioral, and social/emotional learning experiences through the use of educational and/or clinical practices.	Demonstrates sound knowledge and understanding of professional content and delivery by consistently engaging students in academic, behavioral, and social/emotional learning experiences through the use of educational and/or clinical practices that enable students to acquire knowledge and skills.	Demonstrates mastery of professional content and its delivery by engaging all students in academic, behavioral, and social/emotional learning experiences, through the use of educational and/or clinical practices, that enable students to synthesize knowledge and skills. Is able to model this element.		
I-A-2. Child and Adolescent Development	Demonstrates little or no knowledge of child and adolescent development; typically develops one learning experience, and/or type of support or assistance for all students that does not adequately address intended outcomes.	Demonstrates general knowledge of child and adolescent development but does not apply this knowledge when providing differentiated learning experiences, support, and/or assistance that would enable all students—as opposed to just some— to move toward meeting intended outcomes.	Demonstrates knowledge of students' developmental levels and the different ways these students learn or behave by providing differentiated learning experiences, support, and/or assistance that enable all students to progress toward meeting intended outcomes.	Demonstrates expert knowledge of the developmental levels of individual students and students in the grade or subject more generally and uses this knowledge to differentiate and expand learning experiences, supports, and/or types of assistance, enabling all students to make significant progress toward meeting stated outcomes. Is able to model this element.		

I-A. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
1-A-3 Plan Development ¹	Develops or contributes to the development of plans that are not timely and/or not tailored to the needs of individual students; or, plans do not include appropriate supports or measurable outcomes that would enable students to meet the goals and objectives of the plan.	Develops or contributes to the timely development of plans that respond to some but not all relevant individual student needs, and/or plans that lack sufficient measurable outcomes or supports that enable students to meet all goals and objectives of the plan.	Develops or contributes to the timely development of well- structured plans with measurable outcomes that respond to all relevant individual student needs, and include supports that enable students to meet the goals or objectives of the plan.	Develops or contributes to the timely development of comprehensive, well- structured plans with measurable outcomes that respond to all relevant individual student needs, are coordinated with other plans relevant to those students, and include supports that enable students to meet all goals or objectives of the plan. Is able to model this element.
I-A-4. Well- Structured Lessons	Develops lessons (which may include individual and group activities or sessions) with inappropriate student engagement strategies, pacing, sequence, activities, materials, resources, and/or grouping.	Develops lessons (which may include individual and group activities or sessions) with only some elements of appropriate student engagement strategies, pacing, sequence, activities, materials, resources, and grouping.	Develops well-structured lessons (which may include individual and group activities or sessions) with challenging, measurable objectives and appropriate student engagement strategies, pacing, sequence, activities, materials, resources, technologies, and grouping.	Develops well-structured and highly engaging lessons (which may include individual and group activities and sessions) with challenging, measurable objectives and appropriate student engagement strategies, pacing, sequence, activities, materials, resources, technologies, and grouping to attend to every student's needs. Is able to model this element.

¹ "Plan" is used throughout this document to refer to a variety of plans, including but not limited to: lesson plans, unit plans, Individualized Education Programs (IEPs), Individualized Health Care Plans (IHCPs), Career Plans, and 504 Plans. The type of plan that an educator is responsible for depends on the educator being evaluated; both the educator and evaluator should understand and agree upon the definition relevant to the educator's role.

I-B. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
I-B-1. Variety of Assessment Methods	Administers assessments and/or collects only the data required by the school and/or measures only point-in- time student achievement or development.	May design and administer assessments and/or collect some data to measure student learning, growth, or development, but uses a limited range of methods.	Designs and administers assessments and/or collects data to measure student learning, growth, and/or development through a variety of methods, including informal and formal assessments and common interim assessments where applicable.	Uses an integrated, comprehensive assessment system, including informal and formal assessment methods and common interim assessments where applicable, to measure student learning, growth, and development. Is able to model this element.
I-B-2: Adjustment to Practice	Makes few adjustments to practice by identifying and/or implementing appropriate differentiated interventions, supports, and programs based on formal and informal assessments.	May organize and analyze some assessment results but only occasionally adjusts practice and identifies and/or implements appropriate differentiated interventions, supports, and programs for students.	Organizes and analyzes results from a variety of assessments to determine progress toward intended outcomes and uses these findings to adjust practice and identify and/or implement appropriate differentiated interventions, supports, and programs for students.	Organizes and analyzes results from a comprehensive system of assessments to determine progress toward intended outcomes and frequently uses these findings to adjust practice and identify and/or implement appropriate differentiated interventions, supports, or programs for individuals and groups of student and appropriate modifications of plans. Is able to model this element.

Indicator I-C.	Analysis: Analyzes data from as	ssessments, draws conclusions	, and shares them appropriatel	y.
I-C. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
I-C-1. Analysis and Conclusions	Does not analyze data and/or draw conclusions from data beyond completing minimal requirements.	Draws conclusions from a limited analysis of data to inform student learning, growth, and development.	Individually and with colleagues, draws appropriate conclusions about programs, plans, and practices from a thorough analysis of a wide range of data to improve student learning, growth, and development.	Individually and with colleagues, draws appropriate, actionable conclusions about programs, plans, and practices from a thorough analysis of a wide range of data that improve short- and long-term planning decisions. Is able to model this element.
I-C-2. Sharing Conclusions With Colleagues	Rarely shares with colleagues conclusions about student progress and/or rarely seeks feedback from them about practices that will support improved student learning and/or development.	Only occasionally shares with colleagues conclusions about student progress and/or seeks feedback from them about practices that will support improved student learning and/or development.	Regularly shares with appropriate colleagues (e.g., classroom teachers, administrators, and professional support personnel) conclusions about student progress and seeks feedback from them about practices that will support improved student learning and/or development.	Establishes and implements a schedule and plan for regularly sharing with all appropriate colleagues (e.g., classroom teachers, administrators, and professional support personnel) conclusions and insights about student progress. Seeks and applies feedback from them about practices that will support improved student learning and/or development. Is able to model this element.
I-C-3. Sharing Conclusions With Students and Families	Provides little or no feedback on student growth or progress except through minimally required reporting or provides inappropriate feedback that does not support students to grow and improve.	Provides some feedback about student growth or progress beyond required reports but rarely shares strategies for students to grow and improve.	Based on assessment results and/or other data, provides descriptive feedback and engages students and families in constructive conversation that focuses on student growth and improvement.	Establishes early, constructive feedback loops with students and families that create a dialogue about student growth, progress, and improvement. Is able to model this element.

Standard II: Teaching All Students. Promotes the learning and growth of all students through instructional practices that establish high expectations, create a safe and effective classroom environment, and demonstrate cultural proficiency.

Indicator II-A.	Indicator II-A. Instruction: Uses instructional and clinical practices that reflect high expectations regarding content and quality of effor and work; engage all students; and are personalized to accommodate diverse learning styles, needs, interests, and leve of readiness.				
II-A. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary	
II-A-1. Quality of Effort and Work	Establishes no or low expectations for student work and behavior and/or offers few supports to help students know what is expected of them.	May state high expectations for student work and behavior, but provides few exemplars and rubrics, or limited guided practice, and/or few other supports to help students know what is expected of them.	Consistently defines high expectations for student work and behavior, and the perseverance and effort required to produce it; often provides exemplars, rubrics, or guided practice, and/or models appropriate behaviors.	Consistently defines high expectations for student work and behavior and effectively supports students to set high expectations for each other to persevere and produce high-quality work. Is able to model this element.	
II-A-2. Student Engagement	Uses instructional and/or clinical practices that leave most students uninvolved and/or passive.	Uses instructional and/or clinical practices that motivate and engage some students but leave others uninvolved and/or passive.	Consistently uses instructional and clinical practices that are likely to motivate and engage most students during the lesson, activity, or session.	Consistently uses instructional and clinical practices that typically motivate and engage most students during the lesson, activity, or session, and during independent work. Is able to model this element.	
II-A-3. Meeting Diverse: Needs	Uses limited and/or inappropriate practices and/or supports to accommodate differences.	May use some appropriate practices and/or supports to accommodate differences, but fails to address an adequate range of differences.	Uses appropriate practices, including tiered instruction, scaffolds, and other supports, to accommodate differences in learning styles, needs, interests, and levels of readiness, including those of students with disabilities and English learners.	Uses a varied repertoire of practices and/or supports to create structured opportunities for each student to meet or exceed expectations for growth and development. Is able to model this element.	

Indicator II-B	Learning Environment: Creates and maintains a safe and collaborative learning environment that motivates students to take academic risks, challenge themselves, and claim ownership of their learning.			
II-B. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
II-B-1. Safe Learning Environment	Maintains a physical environment that is unsafe or does not support student learning. Uses inappropriate or ineffective rituals, routines, and/or responses to reinforce positive behavior or respond to behaviors that interfere with students' learning.	May create and maintain a safe physical environment but inconsistently maintains rituals, routines, and responses needed to prevent and/or stop behaviors that interfere with all students' learning.	Uses rituals, routines, and appropriate responses that create and maintain a safe physical and intellectual environment where students take academic risks and most behaviors that interfere with learning are prevented.	Uses rituals, routines, and proactive responses that create and maintain a safe physical and intellectual environment where students take academic risks and play an active role—individually and collectively—in preventing behaviors that interfere with learning. Is able to model this element.
II-B-2. Collaborative Learning Environment	Makes little effort to teach interpersonal, group, and communication skills or facilitate student work in groups, or such attempts are ineffective.	Teaches some interpersonal, group, and communication skills and provides some opportunities for students to work in groups.	Develops students' interpersonal, group, and communication skills and provides opportunities for students to learn in groups with diverse peers.	Teaches and reinforces interpersonal, group, and communication skills so that students seek out their peers as resources. Is able to model this practice.
II-B-2. Student Motivation	Directs all learning experiences, providing few, if any, opportunities for students to take risks or challenge themselves.	Creates some learning experiences that guide students to identify needs, ask for support, and challenge themselves to take risks.	Consistently creates learning experiences that guide students to identify their strengths, interests, and needs; ask for support when appropriate; take risks; and challenge themselves to succeed.	Consistently supports students to identify their strengths, interests, and needs; ask for support; take risks; challenge themselves; set learning goals; and monitor their own progress. Is able to model this element.

Indicator II-C.	Cultural Proficiency: Actively creates and maintains an environment in which students' diverse backgrounds, identities, strengths, and challenges are respected.			
II-C. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
II-C-1. Respects Differences	Establishes an environment in which students demonstrate limited respect for individual differences.	Establishes an environment in which students generally demonstrate respect for individual differences.	Consistently uses strategies and practices that are likely to enable students to demonstrate respect for and affirm their own and others' differences related to background, identity, language, strengths, and challenges.	Establishes an environment in which students respect and affirm their own and others' differences and are supported to share and explore differences and similarities related to background, identity, language, strengths, and challenges. Is able to model this element.
II-C-2. Maintains Respectful Environment	Minimizes or ignores conflicts and/or responds in inappropriate ways.	Anticipates and responds appropriately to some conflicts or misunderstandings but ignores and/or minimizes others.	Anticipates and responds appropriately to conflicts or misunderstandings arising from differences in backgrounds, languages, and identities.	Anticipates and responds appropriately to conflicts or misunderstandings arising from differences in backgrounds, languages, and identities in ways that lead students to be able to do the same independently. Is able to model this element.

Indicator II-D. Expectations: Plans and implements lessons and/or supports that set clear and high expectations and also make knowledge, information, and/or supports accessible for all students.					
II-D. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary	
II-D-1. Clear Expectations	Does not make specific standards for student work, effort, interactions, and behavior clear to students.	May communicate specific standards for student work, effort, interactions, and behavior, but inconsistently or ineffectively enforces them.	Clearly communicates and consistently enforces specific standards for student work, effort, and behavior.	Clearly communicates and consistently enforces specific standards for student work, effort, interactions, and behavior so that most students are able to describe them and take ownership of meeting them. Is able to model this element.	
II-D-2. High Expectations	Gives up on some students or communicates that some cannot accomplish challenging goals.	May tell students that a goal is challenging and that they need to work hard but does not model ways students can accomplish the goal through effective effort.	Effectively models and reinforces ways that students can set and accomplish challenging goals through effective effort, rather than having to depend on innate ability.	Effectively models and reinforces ways that students can consistently accomplish challenging goals throug effective effort. Successfully challenges students' misconceptions about innate ability. Is able to model this element.	
II-D-3. Access to Knowledge	Rarely adapts instruction, services, plans, communication, and/or assessments to make curriculum/supports accessible to all students for whom the educator has responsibility.	Occasionally adapts instruction, services, plans, communication, and/or assessments to make curriculum/supports accessible to all students for whom the educator has responsibility.	Consistently adapts instruction, services, plans, communication, and/or assessments to make curriculum/ supports accessible to all students for whom the educator has responsibility, including English learners and students with disabilities.	Individually and with colleagues, consistently adapts instruction, services, plans, communication, and/or assessments to make curriculum/supports accessible to all students for whom the educator has responsibility, including English learners and students with disabilities Is able to model this element.	

•

Standard III: Family and Community Engagement. Promotes the learning and growth of all students through effective partnerships with families, caregivers, community members, and organizations.

Indicator III-A. Engagement: Welcomes and encourages every family to become active participants in the classroom and school community.				
III-A. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
III-A-1. Parent/Family Engagement	Does not welcome families to become participants in the classroom and school community or actively discourages their participation.	Makes limited attempts to involve families in school and/or classroom activities, meetings, and planning.	Uses a variety of strategies to support families to participate actively and appropriately in the classroom and school community.	Successfully engages most families and sustains their active and appropriate participation in the classroom and school community. Is able to model this element.

and development both at home and at school.				
III-B. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
III-B-1, Learning Expectations	Does not inform parents about learning, behavior, and/or wellness expectations.	Sends home only a list of rules/expectations and an outline of the student learning, behavior, or wellness plan for the year.	Consistently provides parents with clear, user-friendly expectations for student learning, behavior, and/or wellness.	Successfully conveys to most parents clear, user-friendly student learning, behavior, and wellness expectations. Is able to model this element.
III-B-2. Student Support	Rarely, if ever, communicates with parents on ways to support learning and development at home or at school.	Sends home occasional suggestions on how parents can support learning and development at home or at school.	Regularly communicates with parents to create, share, and/or identify strategies for supporting learning and development at school and home.	Regularly communicates with parents to share and/or identify strategies for supporting learning and development at school and home, successfully encourages most families to use at least one of these strategies, and seeks out evidence of their impact. Is able to model this element.

Indicator III-C. Communication: Engages in regular, two-way, and culturally proficient communication with families about str learning, behavior and wellness.				families about student
III-C. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
III-C-1. Two-Way Communication	Rarely communicates with families except through required reports; rarely solicits or responds promptly to communications from families.	Relies primarily on sharing general information and announcements with families through one-way media and usually responds promptly to communications from families.	Regularly uses two-way communication with families about student learning, behavior, and wellness; responds promptly and carefully to communications from families.	Regularly uses a two-way system that supports frequent, proactive, and personalized communication with families about individual student learning, behavior, and wellness. Is able to model this element.
III-C-2. Culturally Proficient Communication	Makes few attempts to respond to different family cultural norms and/or responds inappropriately or disrespectfully.	May communicate respectfully and make efforts to take into account different families' home language, culture, and values, but does so inconsistently or does not demonstrate understanding and sensitivity to the differences.	Always communicates respectfully with families and demonstrates understanding of and sensitivity to different families' home language, culture, and values.	Always communicates respectfully with families and demonstrates understanding and appreciation of different families' home language, culture, and values. Is able to model this element.

Standard IV: Professional Culture. Promotes the learning and growth of all students through ethical, culturally proficient, skilled, and collaborative practice.

Indicator IV-A	Indicator IV-A. Reflection: Demonstrates the capacity to reflect on and improve the educator's own practice, using informal means as well as meetings with teams and work groups to gather information, analyze data, examine issues, set meaningful goals,					
	and develop new approaches	s in order to improve teaching a	ind learning.			
IV-A. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary		
IV-A-1: Reflective Practice	Demonstrates limited reflection on practice and/or use of insights gained to improve practice.	May reflect on the effectiveness of instruction, supports, and interactions with students but not with colleagues and/or rarely uses insights gained to improve practice.	Regularly reflects on the effectiveness of instruction, supports, and interactions with students, both individually and with colleagues, and uses insights gained to improve practice and student outcomes.	Regularly reflects on the effectiveness of instruction, supports, and interactions with students, both individually and with colleagues; and uses and shares with colleagues insights gained to improve practice and student outcomes. Is able to model this element.		
IV-A-2. Goal Setting	Participates passively in the goal- setting process and/or proposes goals that are vague or easy to reach.	Proposes one goal that is vague or easy to achieve and/or bases goals on a limited self-assessment and analysis of student data.	Proposes challenging, measurable professional practice, team, and student learning goals that are based on thorough self- assessment and analysis of student data.	Individually and with colleagues builds capacity to propose and monitor challenging, measurable goals based on thorough self- assessment and analysis of student data. Is able to model this element.		

Indicator IV-B. Professional Growth: Actively pursues professional development and learning opportunities to improve quality of practice or build the expertise and experience to assume different instructional and leadership roles.				
IV-B. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
IV-B-1. Professional Learning and Growth	Participates in few, if any, professional development and learning opportunities to improve practice and/or applies little new learning to practice.	Participates only in required professional development and learning activities and/or inconsistently or inappropriately applies new learning to improve practice.	Consistently seeks out and applies, when appropriate, ideas for improving practice from supervisors, colleagues, professional development activities, and other resources to gain expertise and/or assume different instruction and leadership responsibilities.	Consistently seeks out professional development and learning opportunities that improve practice and build expertise of self and other educators in instruction, academic support, and leadership. Is able to model this element.

Indicator IV-C. Collaboration: Collaborates effectively with colleagues on a wide range of tasks.				
IV-C. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
IV-C-1: Professional Collaboration	Rarely and/or ineffectively collaborates with colleagues; conversations often lack focus on student performance and/or development.	Does not consistently collaborate with colleagues in ways that support productive team effort.	Consistently and effectively collaborates with colleagues through shared planning and/or informal conversation in such work as: analyzing student performance and development and planning appropriate interventions at the classroom or school level.	Facilitates effective collaboration among colleagues through shared planning and/or informal conversation in such work as analyzing student performance and development and planning appropriate, comprehensive interventions at the classroom and school level. Is able to model this element.
IV-C-2. Consultation	Regularly provides inappropriate advice; does not provide advice and expertise to general education teachers or other colleagues unless prompted to do so; and/or fails to offer advice when appropriate.	Provides advice and expertise to support general education teachers and other colleagues to create appropriate and effective academic, behavioral, and social/emotional learning experiences for only some students for whom responsibility is shared, or sometimes provides advice that is inappropriate or poorly customized.	Regularly provides appropriate advice and expertise that is customized to support general education teachers and other colleagues to create appropriate and effective academic, behavioral, and social/emotional learning experiences for students for whom responsibility is shared.	Utilizes a variety of means to regularly provide advice and expertise that is customized to support general education teachers and other colleagues to successfully create appropriate and effective academic, behavioral, and social/emotional learning experiences for students. Is able to model this element.

Indicator IV-D. Decision-Making: Becomes involved in schoolwide decision making, and takes an active role in school improvement planning.				
IV-D. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
IV-D-1. Decision-Making	Participates in planning and decision making at the school, department, and/or grade level only when asked and rarely contributes relevant ideas or expertise.	May participate in planning and decision making at the school, department, and/or grade level but rarely contributes relevant ideas or expertise.	Consistently contributes relevant ideas and expertise to planning and decision making at the school, department, and/or grade level.	In planning and decision-making at the school, department, and/or grade level, consistently contributes ideas and expertise that are critical to school improvement efforts. Is able to model this element.

IV-E. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
IV-E-1. Shared Responsibility	Rarely reinforces schoolwide behavior and learning expectations for all students and/or makes a limited contribution to their learning by rarely sharing responsibility for meeting their needs.	Within and beyond the classroom, inconsistently reinforces schoolwide behavior and learning expectations for all students, and/or makes a limited contribution to their learning by inconsistently sharing responsibility for meeting their needs.	Within and beyond the classroom, consistently reinforces school- wide behavior and learning expectations for all students, and contributes to their learning by sharing responsibility for meeting their needs.	Individually and with colleagues, develops strategies and actions that contribute to the learning and productive behavior of all students a the school. Is able to model this element.

Indicator IV-F	Professional Responsibilities: Is ethical and reliable, and meets routine responsibilities consistently.			
IV-F. Elements	Unsatisfactory	Needs Improvement	Proficient	Exemplary
IV-F-1. Judgment	Demonstrates poor judgment and/or discloses confidential student information inappropriately.	Sometimes demonstrates questionable judgment and/or inadvertently shares confidential information.	Demonstrates sound judgment reflecting integrity, honesty, fairness, and trustworthiness and protects student confidentiality appropriately.	Demonstrates sound judgment and acts appropriately to protect student confidentiality, rights and safety. Is able to model this element.
IV-F-2. Reliability & Responsibility	Frequently misses or is late to assignments, makes errors in records, and/or misses paperwork deadlines; frequently late or absent.	Occasionally misses or is late to assignments, completes work late, and/or makes errors in records.	Consistently fulfills professional responsibilities; is consistently punctual and reliable with paperwork, duties, and assignments; and is rarely late or absent from school.	Consistently fulfills all professional responsibilities to high standards. Is able to model this element.